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SJM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is a leading owner, 
operator and developer of casinos and integrated entertainment resorts in Macau. The Company’s principal 
subsidiary SJM Resorts, S.A. (in Portuguese) SJM Resorts, Limited (in English) (“SJM”) is one of the six 
concessionaires in Macau, authorised by the Government of the Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”) 
to operate casinos and gaming areas. SJM is also the only casino gaming concessionaire with its roots in Macau.

SJM owns and operates the Grand Lisboa Palace Resort, the Grand Lisboa hotel and casino, as well as other 
casinos located in prime locations in Macau. Its operations cater to a wide spectrum of patrons,  
with casino gaming and a broad range of hospitality and leisure attractions, including hotel accommodation, fine 
and casual dining, shopping, wellness and spa facilities, venues for meetings and events and cultural exhibitions.

The Grand Lisboa Palace Resort, the Group’s integrated resort in Cotai, offers luxury hotel rooms and suites in 
the Grand Lisboa Palace Macau and THE KARL LAGERFELD hotel towers, along with diverse hospitality services. 
Additional features to be inaugurated include the hotel tower Palazzo Versace Macau.

CORPORATE PROFILE
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SJM begins 2023 in one of the most exciting eras for Macau. Travel 
restrictions to Macau and indeed throughout the world have generally been 
lifted, while coincidentally the gaming concessions in Macau expired and 
were awarded for a further ten years. SJM is delighted to be a winner of the 
new concession, extending to 70 years our group’s pivotal presence in the 
tourism and hospitality industry.

We are confident in the recovery of Macau tourism, having observed the 
rebounds that have taken place in other tourist markets following the 
relaxation of their pandemic-related restrictions. While Macau’s transport 
connections with the rest of the world are being gradually reestablished, our 
optimism is borne out by our initial results in 2023, which showed a nice 
hop in revenue as we entered the Year of the Rabbit.

The new concessions from the Macau government require investment in the development and support of 
activities in specific areas of non-gaming tourism — a policy that we fully support. Increasing the proportion of 
revenue derived from a more diverse range of tourism and leisure activities will not only help Macau achieve its 
goal of moderate economic diversification, but is essential for the long-term sustainability of our business.

SJM enters the new concession period with a clear vision. Our properties constitute a destination within a 
destination, presenting all of Macau to visitors from around the world. Prominently located in each of the key 
tourism zones of our city — Cotai, the Inner Harbour area, the Outer Harbour area and, of course, the Lisboa 
District — our operations are able to create authentic Macau experiences for tourists and sustainable growth for 
SJM and for the community.

The coming years will see SJM working intimately with the Macau government in the development of new 
tourist attractions. Our commitment to Community Tourism, for example, will mean particular involvement of 
SJM in the revitalization of the Inner Harbour/San Ma Lou area. Other activities that we are eager to bring on 
stream in the next few years include introduction of more sports events, development of specialized museums 
and galleries, development of venues for meetings, conferences and performances, and opening additional 
dining establishments to extend our leadership in gastronomy. And of course our Grand Lisboa Palace, which 
partially opened during the pandemic, will complete its offerings, adding over 1,000 hotel rooms including Asia’s 
first Palazzo Versace.

Through these new initiatives and our existing properties, SJM continually strives to support our local community, 
including the small and medium enterprises that are so important to Macau, and the local labor force which 
comprises 90% of our employees.

As we enter this new era, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all of our staff members for their 
loyalty and diligent work over the past years, to our Board members for their wise counsel, and to our 
shareholders and business partners for their continuing support.

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Year Ended
 31 December 

2022

Year Ended 
31 December 

2021
(HK$ million) (HK$ million)

Net Gaming Revenue 6,092 9,608
Hotel, Catering, Retail, Leasing and Other Income 623 592
Adjusted EBITDA* (3,095) (1,581)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (7,798) (4,144)
Loss per share

— basic HK(122.6) cents HK(68.2) cents
— diluted HK(122.6) cents HK(68.2) cents

* Adjusted EBITDA is earnings or losses after adjustment for non-controlling interests and before accounting for interest income and 
expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation, donations, loss on disposal/write-off of property and equipment, impairment loss on 
property and equipment, bank charges for bank loans, gain/loss on modification on a bank loan, loss on derecognition of a bank loan, 
gain on early termination of lease contracts, sub-concession fee income and pre-opening expenses.

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

•	 Net	 gaming	 revenue	 earned	 by	 SJM	 Resorts,	 S.A.	 (“SJM”),	 a	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company,	 was	
HK$6,092 million in 2022, as compared with HK$9,608 million for the year 2021.

•	 Adjusted	 EBITDA	 of	 the	 Group	 was	 negative	 HK$3,095	 million,	 as	 compared	 with	 negative	
HK$1,581 million for the year 2021.

•	 Loss	 attributable	 to	 owners	 of	 the	 Company	 was	 HK$7,798	 million,	 as	 compared	 with	 a	 loss	
HK$4,144 million for the year 2021.

•	 SJM	 had	 a	 15.8%	 share	 of	 Macau’s	 gaming	 revenue,	 including	 19.8%	 of	 mass	 market	 table	 gross	
gaming revenue and 4.9% of VIP gross gaming revenue.

•	 The	 Grand	 Lisboa	 Palace,	 the	 Group’s	 integrated	 resort	 on	 Cotai,	 opened	 its	 doors	 to	 the	 public	 on	
30 July 2021. Gross revenue of Grand Lisboa Palace was HK$687 million, including gross gaming 
revenue of HK$346 million and non-gaming revenue of HK$341 million, as compared with gross gaming 
revenue HK$200 million and non-gaming revenue HK$170 million for the year 2021. After adjusting the 
pre-opening expenses of HK$453 million, its Adjusted Property EBITDA was negative HK$969 million, as 
compared with negative HK$423 million for the year 2021.

•	 Grand	Lisboa’s	gross	revenue	was	HK$1,199	million,	including	gross	gaming	revenue	HK$1,067	million	
and non-gaming revenue HK$132 million, as compared with gross gaming revenue HK$2,152 million 
and non-gaming revenue HK$170 million for the year 2021, whilst its Adjusted Property EBITDA was 
negative HK$758 million, as compared with negative HK$522 million for the year 2021.

•	 Grand	Lisboa	Palace	Resort’s	occupancy	rate	decreased	by	16.5%	to	32.2%	for	the	full	year,	whilst	the	
average room rate increased by 0.2% to HK$916.

•	 Hotel	Grand	Lisboa’s	occupancy	rate	decreased	by	12.6%	to	46.2%	for	the	full	year,	whilst	the	average	
room rate decreased by 10.2% to HK$634.

•	 The	Group	had	HK$8,010	million	of	cash,	bank	balances,	short-term	bank	deposits	and	pledged	bank	
deposits and HK$31,777 million of debt as at 31 December 2022.

•	 On	 20	 June	 2022	 the	 Group	 completed	 a	 refinancing	 of	 its	 syndicated	 banking	 facilities,	
consisting of a HK$9 billion term loan and a HK$10 billion revolving credit, which was fully drawn as of 
31 December 2022.

•	 On	16	December	2022	SJM	signed	a	new	gaming	concession	contract	with	the	Macau	Government	for	a	
10-year period commencing on 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2032 (see Prospects and 
Recent Developments — Macau Gaming Concession).
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For the third consecutive year, the results of SJM Resorts, S.A. (“SJM”) in 2022 reflected the challenges of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Disruptions to our industry during the year included the shutdown of Macau casinos for 
almost two weeks in July, as well as the continued requirements for testing and quarantine of visitors from the 
Greater China region and disruption of visitation from everywhere else.

Throughout the year we maintained our support for the community and our staff, and we cooperated fully with 
all local health requirements. Our gaming concession was first extended by the Macau government from 26 June 
to 31 December 2022, and on 16 December we signed the new ten-year concession.

During 2022, visitation to Macau declined to 5.7 million, a reduction of 26.0% from 2021, and only 14.5% of 
the level in 2019. Macau’s gaming revenue fell even farther during the year, to MOP42.2 billion, a reduction of 
51.4% from 2021, and just 14.4% of the pre-pandemic level. Most strikingly, VIP gaming revenue fell to 
MOP10.1 billion for the year, a 64% reduction from 2021, and only 7.5% of the last pre-pandemic year.

Against this backdrop, SJM’s market share of gross gaming revenue increased to 15.8% in 2022 from 12.3% in 
2021. Our market share of mass market table gaming revenue in 2022 was stronger at 19.8%, compared with 
our 4.9% share of the VIP market.

Financially and administratively, 2022 was a busy year for SJM as we took steps to ensure a strong financial position 
and prepare for the new concession tender. Among other transactions, we refinanced our banking facilities for 
HK$19 billion of syndicated facilities maturing in 2028, we signed a loan agreement with our controlling 
shareholder Sociedade de Turismo e Diversões de Macau, S.A. and we concluded a successful rights issue that 
raised approximately HK$3 billion. As required for the new concession, the share capital of SJM was increased to 
MOP5 billion and the gaming areas of our self-promoted casinos were delineated as government assets.

During the year the number of casinos that we operate with service providers was reduced from 14 to 9. Under 
the terms of the new concession, these satellite casinos may continue to operate for up to three years, while we 
consider further restructuring within this group. Under the new concession we are permitted to operate up to 
1,250 gaming tables and 1,700 slot machines, allocations that we believe are adequate for the coming period.

During 2022 we continued to be vigilant about our costs while maintaining commitments to our local staff. At 
the end of the year, our headcount stood at approximately 18,600, a reduction from 20,300 at year end 2021 
and 20,700 at year end 2019.

In view of the effects of the pandemic in 2022, the Board of Directors is not recommending a final dividend for 
the year.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to our staff members for their dedication and hard work, to my fellow 
directors for their support and guidance, and to our business partners, shareholders and other stakeholders for 
their ongoing engagement.

So Shu Fai
Vice-Chairman and Executive Director
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023
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BUSINESS REVIEW

BUSINESS MODEL AND KEY STRATEGIES

Our strategic objective is sustainable long-term growth in shareholder value. As a leading operator, owner and 
developer of casinos and related businesses in Macau, our key strategies for delivering this objective are 
as follows:

•	 We	 will	 continue	 to	 build,	 own	 and	 manage	 or	 invest	 in	 casinos	 and	 related	 businesses	 in	 Macau,	
as permitted by government regulation.

•	 We	will	continue	to	improve	our	existing	businesses	in	a	cost-effective	and	sustainable	way.

•	 We	 will	 remain	 focused	 principally	 on	 Macau,	 while	 selectively	 considering	 opportunities	 for	 future	
expansion in the Asian region.

•	 We	will	maintain	a	strong	financial	position,	with	a	view	to	sustainable	long-term	growth.

GROUP OPERATING RESULTS

The Group’s results, Net Revenue, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin for the year ended  
31 December 2022 and for the earlier year are shown below:

For the year ended  
31 December

2022 2021
Group operating results HK$ million HK$ million (Decrease)

Total net revenue 6,679 10,076 (33.7%)
Net gaming revenue 6,092 9,608 (36.6%)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (7,798) (4,144) (88.2%)
Adjusted EBITDA1 (3,095) (1,581) (95.8%)
Adjusted EBITDA Margin2 (46.3%) (15.7%) (30.6 pts)

1 Adjusted EBITDA is earnings or losses after adjustment for non-controlling interests and before accounting for interest income and 

expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation, donations, loss on disposal/write-off of property and equipment, impairment loss on 

property and equipment, bank charges for bank loans, gain/loss on modification on a bank loan, loss on derecognition of a bank loan, 

gain on early termination of lease contracts, sub-concession fee income and pre-opening expenses.

2 Adjusted EBITDA Margin is Adjusted EBITDA divided by total net revenue.

Total net revenue was HK$6,679 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, a decrease of 33.7%, compared 
to HK$10,076 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was driven by VIP gaming revenue 
and mass market table gaming revenue.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The following tables summarise the results of Self-promoted and Satellite Casinos’ activity:

For the year ended  
31 December

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million (Decrease)

VIP Gross Gaming Revenue 486 1,359 (64.2%)
Mass Market Gross Gaming Revenue 5,553 8,472 (34.5%)
Slot Machine Gross Gaming Revenue 416 537 (22.5%)

Gross Gaming Revenue 6,455 10,368 (37.7%)
Commissions and incentives (363) (760) (52.2%)

Net Gaming Revenue 6,092 9,608 (36.6%)

For the year ended 
31 December

2022 2021 Variance
Casino Grand Lisboa Palace Statistics HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million %

Revenues:
 Mass Market 309 170 139 81.8%
 Slot 37 30 7 23.3%

Gross Gaming Revenues 346 200 146 73.0%

Mass Table Drop 2,017 1,054 963 91.4%
 Mass Table Win 309 170 139 81.8%
 Non-Rolling Chip Win % 15.3% 16.2% — (0.9 pts)

Slot Handle 1,122 514 608 118.3%
 Slot Win 37 30 7 23.3%
 Slot Win % 3.3% 5.8% — (2.5 pts)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 
31 December

2022 2021 Variance
Casino Grand Lisboa Statistics HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million %

Revenues:
 VIP 252 693 (441) (63.6%)
 Mass Market 700 1,271 (571) (44.9%)
 Slot 115 188 (73) (38.8%)

Gross Gaming Revenues 1,067 2,152 (1,085) (50.4%)

VIP Chip Sales Volume 7,227 22,649 (15,422) (68.1%)
 Win 252 693 (441) (63.6%)
 Hold % 3.5% 3.1% — 0.4 pts

Mass Table Drop 3,256 6,273 (3,017) (48.1%)
 Mass Table Win 700 1,271 (571) (44.9%)
 Non-Rolling Chip Win % 21.5% 20.3% — 1.2 pts

Slot Handle 2,503 3,676 (1,173) (31.9%)
 Slot Win 115 188 (73) (38.8%)
 Slot Win % 4.6% 5.1% — (0.5 pts)

For the year ended 
31 December

2022 2021 Variance
Other Self-promoted Casino Statistics HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million %

Revenues:
 VIP — 10 (10) (100.0%)
 Mass Market 1,116 1,334 (218) (16.3%)
 Slot 138 147 (9) (6.1%)

Gross Gaming Revenues 1,254 1,491 (237) (15.9%)

VIP Chip Sales Volume — 226 (226) (100.0%)
 Win — 10 (10) (100.0%)
 Hold % — 4.6% — (4.6 pts)

Mass Table Drop 8,219 9,821 (1,602) (16.3%)
 Mass Table Win 1,116 1,334 (218) (16.3%)
 Non-Rolling Chip Win % 13.6% 13.6% — (0.004 pts)

Slot Handle 2,865 2,813 52 1.8%
 Slot Win 138 147 (9) (6.1%)
 Slot Win % 4.8% 5.2% — (0.4 pts)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 
31 December

2022 2021 Variance
Satellite Casino Statistics HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million %

Revenues:
 VIP 234 656 (422) (64.3%)
 Mass Market 3,428 5,697 (2,269) (39.8%)
 Slot 126 172 (46) (26.7%)

Gross Gaming Revenues 3,788 6,525 (2,737) (41.9%)

As at 31 December 2022, SJM operated 9 satellite (third party-promoted) casinos, as follows: Casino Casa Real, 
Casino Landmark, Casino Emperor Palace, Casino Fortuna, Casino Grandview, Casino Kam Pek Paradise, Casino 
L’Arc Macau, Casino Legend Palace and Casino Ponte 16. Casino Babylon, Casino Diamond, Casino Golden 
Dragon, Casino Million Dragon and Casino Royal Dragon were closed on 27 December 2022. As at 31 December 
2021, SJM operated 14 satellite casinos.

The following table summarises the key results for the Group:

For the year ended 
31 December

Adjusted Property EBITDA1 2022 2021 Variance
for Group HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million %

Grand Lisboa Palace (969) (423) (546) (129.1%)
Grand Lisboa (758) (522) (236) (45.2%)
Other Self-promoted2 (474) (491) 17 3.5%
Satellite3 (635) 106 (741) (699.1%)

Total (2,836) (1,330) (1,506) (113.2%)

1 Adjusted Property EBITDA is earnings or losses after adjustment for non-controlling interests and before accounting for interest income 

and expense, tax, depreciation and amortisation, donations, loss on disposal/write-off of property and equipment, impairment loss on 

property and equipment, bank charges for bank loans, gain/loss on modification on a bank loan, loss on derecognition of a bank loan, 

gain on early termination of lease contracts, sub-concession fee income, pre-opening expenses and corporate costs, and before 

elimination of inter-company consumption.

2 Casino Lisboa, Casino Oceanus at Jai-Alai (including the gaming area in the Jai-Alai Building), and Jai-Alai Hotel and other non-gaming 

area. (Casino Eastern and Casino Taipa were closed on 27 December 2022.)

3 Nine satellite casinos as at 31 December 2022. (Five satellite casinos were closed on 27 December 2022.)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The following table summarises the results of hotel room activity:

For the year ended 
31 December

2022 2021 Variance
Hotel Statistics HK$ HK$ HK$ %

Occupancy %
 Grand Lisboa Palace Resort1 32.2% 48.7% — (16.5 pts)
 Grand Lisboa Hotel 46.2% 58.8% — (12.6 pts)
 Jai-Alai Hotel 72.4% 62.2% — 10.2 pts
 Sofitel at Ponte 16 48.4% 52.2% — (3.8 pts)

Average Daily Rate (ADR)
 Grand Lisboa Palace Resort1 916 914 2 0.2%
 Grand Lisboa Hotel 634 706 (72) (10.2%)
 Jai-Alai Hotel 178 212 (34) (16.0%)
 Sofitel at Ponte 16 495 496 (1) (0.2%)

Revenue per Available Room (RevPAR)
 Grand Lisboa Palace Resort1 295 445 (150) (33.7%)
 Grand Lisboa Hotel 293 415 (122) (29.4%)
 Jai-Alai Hotel 129 132 (3) (2.3%)
 Sofitel at Ponte 16 240 259 (19) (7.3%)

1 Grand Lisboa Palace Resort included two hotel towers — the Grand Lisboa Palace and THE KARL LAGERFELD which opened in the 

second half of 2021.
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MACAU GAMING CONCESSION

On 23 June 2022 the Macau Government and SJM entered into a Concession Amendment Contract pursuant to 
which the gaming concession of SJM, which was due to expire on 26 June 2022, was extended for a further 
period up to 31 December 2022. Under the terms of the Concession Amendment Contract, SJM was required to 
pay the Macau Government MOP47 million (equivalent to approximately HK$45.63 million) as a premium for 
such extension.

On 16 December 2022, the Macau Government confirmed that it had awarded SJM a new gaming concession 
as approved and authorised by the Macau Government for a 10-year period commencing on 1 January 2023 and 
ending on 31 December 2032.

Under the terms of the New Concession Contract, SJM shall pay the Macau Government a fixed premium and 
variable premium. The premium is payable monthly and annually during the life of the New Concession Period. 
In addition, SJM shall also pay a special gaming tax, Tourism Contribution and Cultural Contribution, which are 
equivalent to 35%, 3% and 2% of the gross gaming revenue, respectively.

Since the casino premises, which were owned and operated by the Group, revert to the Macau Government at 
the end of the earlier concession, SJM will pay an annual utilization fee for use of casino space owned by the 
Macau Government. On 30 December 2022, the Macau Government has established in the deed of reversion 
regarding, among other things, the annual utilisation fee for the casino spaces at Casino Grand Lisboa, Casino 
Grand Lisboa Palace, Casino Lisboa and Casino Oceanus at Jai-Alai, which will be reverted to the Macau 
Government. SJM will pay an annual utilisation fee of approximately MOP69.0 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$67.0 million), subject to inflation adjustment as set out below, to the Macau Government 
from 2023 (i.e., the first year) to 2025 (i.e., the third year). From 2026 (i.e., the fourth year) onward, 
the annual utilisation fee will be adjusted to approximately MOP229.3 million (equivalent to approximately 
HK$222.6 million), subject to inflation adjustment.

The utilisation fee for the first year corresponds to the area of the casinos multiplied by MOP750/sq.m. (equivalent 
to approximately HK$728/sq.m.), with those for the second and third years being updated based on the value of 
the previous year and in accordance with the average price index in Macau; and the utilisation fee for the fourth 
year corresponds to the area of the casinos multiplied by MOP2,500/sq.m. (equivalent to approximately 
HK$2,427/sq.m.), with those for the subsequent years being updated based on the value of the previous year 
and in accordance with the average price index in Macau.

SJM committed to invest an aggregate of MOP14,033 million (equivalent to approximately HK$13,624 million) 
during the life of the New Concession Period. SJM is obliged to further increase the total amount of the non-
gaming investment obligations when the overall gross gaming revenue in Macau exceeds MOP180 billion 
(equivalent to approximately HK$174.8 billion) before 2027.

Under the New Concession Contract, SJM is required to provide a bank guarantee in the amount of 
MOP1,000 million (equivalent to approximately HK$971 million) to guarantee (i) the performance of  
the statutory and contractual obligations under the New Concession Contract; (ii) payment of the premium on time;  
(iii) payment of the potential fines or other monetary penalties; (iv) payment of all or part of the non-fulfilment  
of the obligations; and (v) fulfilment of the labour liabilities, for the New Concession Period and for  
180 days thereafter.

On 17 December 2022, SJM was notified by the Macau Government that it was authorised to operate 
1,250 gaming tables and 1,700 gaming machines under the New Concession Contract.
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PROSPECTS AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

COVID-19 PANDEMIC UPDATE

Around the end of 2022, Macau and Mainland travel restrictions were materially relaxed. Current regulations 
permit visitors from the Mainland, Hong Kong and Taiwan to visit Macau without proof of COVID-19 testing. 
Visitors from other areas are currently permitted with proof of negative nucleic acid test or rapid antigen test 
within 48 hours. All quarantine requirements have been suspended.

Notwithstanding, throughout most of 2022 Macau’s tourism business was severely impacted by pandemic. 
COVID-19 outbreaks in Hong Kong and Guangdong were experienced in the early part of the year and in Macau 
in June. In response to the latter, the Macau Government ordered all casinos closed from 11 July until 22 July. 
After a consolidation period, domestic measures in Macau including those regarding casino access such as 
temperature checks and social distancing rules have been progressively relaxed.

Visitation to Macau was severely disrupted during the year, with total visitation of 5.7 million a reduction of 
26.0% from the number of visitors in 2021, and only 14.5% of the number of visitor arrivals in 2019 — the last 
pre-pandemic year. Around the end of 2022, though, significant measures were taken that have already shown 
results in the first quarter of 2023. In recent months Macau has experienced the gradual resumption of ferry 
services, tour group arrivals and flight traffic. Thus, January 2023 visitation increased by 101.3% from the 
previous year to 1.4 million, of which 70.9% was from the Mainland and 25.5% from Hong Kong.

At the present time, given the evolving conditions of and in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, it is still not 
possible to determine when visitation to Macau will fully recover or whether travel restrictions could be 
reintroduced if there are adverse developments in the pandemic situation.

RATIONALISATION PROGRAM OF CASINO PROPERTIES

During the previous year, SJM took a number of actions to rationalise its portfolio of casino properties in 
preparation for the new concession and the post-pandemic economy.

On 27 December 2022, 5 satellite casinos (Casino Babylon, Casino Diamond, Casino Golden Dragon, Casino 
Million Dragon and Casino Royal Dragon) were closed. Also on 27 December 2022, 2 self-promoted casinos (Casino 
Eastern and Casino Taipa) were closed.

Earlier in the year, as announced by the Company on 26 May 2022, SJM acquired the non-gaming area of the 
Oceanus Building. Subsequently, the Company agreed to sublease the Jai-Alai Building for one year up to 
31 December 2023.

As a result of the foregoing, impairment charges relating to the rationalisation program were recognised for the  
year ended 31 December 2022, comprising impairment losses on property and equipment relating to Jai-Alai  
Building of HK$1,210.3 million and the closure of 5 satellite casinos and 2 self-promoted casinos of  
HK$4.6 million. Further details of the impairment loss on property and equipment relating to Jai-Alai Building is  
set out in note 13 to the Financial Statements.

HARBOUR DREDGING CONTRACT

SJM announced on 29 December 2022 that SJM’s wholly owned subsidiary Macau Dredging Services Limited has 
been awarded the concession for the provision of dredging and maintenance services of Macau’s public 
waterways and harbour basins. The Macau Government had launched a public tender for the harbor dredging 
services in August 2022. According to the agreement signed with the Macau Government, Macau Dredging 
Services Limited will provide services in designated areas to meet annual dredging volume requirements. The 
agreement is effective from 1 January 2023 until 31 December 2027.
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LIqUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group had bank balances and cash amounting to HK$6,856 million (not including pledged bank deposits of 
HK$1,154 million) as at 31 December 2022. This represented an increase of 114.1% as compared with the 
position as at 31 December 2021 of HK$3,201 million.

Total outstanding balances of bank loans drawn by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to  
HK$18,975 million (as at 31 December 2021: HK$13,186 million). Total senior notes and convertible bond 
issued by the Group as at 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$10,795 million (as at 31 December 2021: 
HK$9,388 million). Loan from ultimate holding company as at 31 December 2022 amounted to  
HK$2,007 million. The maturity of the Group’s borrowings as at 31 December 2022 is as follows:

Maturity Profile
Within 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years over 5 years Total

2% 3% 36% 59% 100%

GEARING RATIO

The Group’s gearing ratio (defined as the ratio of total outstanding bank loans, convertible bond, senior notes 
and loan from ultimate holding company less pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits, bank balances 
and cash to total assets (excluding pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits, bank balances and cash)) 
was 53.2% at the end of the Reporting Period (as at 31 December 2021: 41.3%).

CAPITAL ExPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure commitments by the Group amounted to HK$311 million as at 31 December 2022 (as at  
31 December 2021: HK$479 million), of which HK$210 million were for the Grand Lisboa Palace project. As at  
31 December 2022, the Group was in construction of the Grand Lisboa Palace, with an estimated total project 
cost of approximately HK$39 billion, including capital expenditure commitments to date.

The Grand Lisboa Palace project and future projects will be funded by a combination of internal resources and 
debt financing. The exact investment plans for the Group’s projects are subject to change based upon execution 
of the business plans, progress of the projects, market conditions and management’s view of future  
business conditions.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s property and equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying 
values of HK$35,560 million and HK$1,756 million, respectively (as at 31 December 2021: HK$37,989 million 
and HK$1,801 million, respectively), were pledged to banks for loan facilities. In addition, the Group had pledged 
bank deposits of HK$1,154 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$147 million).
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CONVERTIBLE BOND ISSUANCE

On 22 June 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Champion Power Global Limited, issued a 2% 
Convertible Bond with principal amount of HK$1,906 million and final maturity date of 22 June 2027. The 
Convertible Bond is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at an initial conversion price of HK$4.07 per 
conversion share (adjusted to HK$3.78 following the rights issue described below).

The Convertible Bond was issued to Sociedade de Turismo e Diversões de Macau, S.A. (“STDM”), the controlling 
shareholder of the Company, for acquisition of a portion of the property Casino Oceanus (“Oceanus Building”) 
by Harbour Tide Limited (the “Purchaser”) (a subsidiary of the Company) from Jai-Alai Shopping Centre 
Company Limited (the “Seller”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STDM) and the disposal by the Seller of 
the remaining portion of Oceanus Building and the transactions contemplated thereunder in accordance with 
the transfer agreement dated 26 May 2022 entered into among the Purchaser, the Company, Champion Power 
Global Limited, the Seller and STDM.

SYNDICATED LOAN FACILITIES

SJM entered into a facility agreement on 20 June 2022 with a banking syndicate led by Industrial and 
Commercial Bank of China (Macau) Limited for syndicated loan facilities of up to HK$19 billion representing a 
HK$9 billion Term Loan Facility and a HK$10 billion Revolving Loan Facility. The new loan facilities have a new 
maturity date of 20 June 2028 and an effective interest rate at HIBOR or MAIBOR plus 1.25% – 2.25%.

Approximately HK$13 billion of the new loan facilities was used to repay existing syndicated loan facilities 
entered into by SJM in September 2016. Therefore, after this refinancing, SJM’s liquidity increased by 
approximately HK$6 billion.

TERM LOAN WITH STDM

On 3 August 2022, the Company announced that STDM had agreed to extend an unsecured term loan of  
HK$2 billion. The loan is for a fixed period of 6 years from the date of drawdown and bears interest at 4%  
per annum.

STDM provided the loan to the Company to enable the Company to invest in its principal subsidiary SJM as part 
of the increase in share capital which SJM was required to have to pre-qualify for the tender process for the new 
gaming concession.

RIGHTS ISSUE

At the same time, the Company launched a rights issue by which 1,420,361,073 new shares were issued and 
net proceeds of approximately HK$2,936 million were raised, on the basis of one rights share for every four 
existing shares. The Company applied approximately HK$2,700 million to fund the increase in SJM’s share capital 
and the balance for the general working capital of the Group.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2022, the total amount of guarantees of the Group given to banks of HK$67 million  
(2021: HK$87 million), which were guarantees in respect of credit facilities granted to an associate. The Group  
had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

FINANCIAL RISK

The Group follows a conservative policy in financial management with minimal exposure to the risks of currency 
and interest rate. The Group does not currently hedge its interest rate exposure, although it may consider doing 
so in the future. The Group’s principal operations are primarily conducted and recorded in Hong Kong dollars 
resulting in minimal exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. All of the Group’s bank deposits are 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars or Macau patacas. It is the Group’s policy to avoid 
speculative trading activity.

MATERIAL ACqUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group made no material acquisitions or material disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during 
the year ended 31 December 2022.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 18,600 full-time employees. The Group’s employee 
turnover rate was minimal in 2022.

Staff remuneration of the Group is determined by reference to their working performance, professional 
qualification, relevant working experience and market trends, and includes salary, allowances, medical insurance 
and provident fund.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the remuneration policy and evaluates staff performance. Staff 
are encouraged to attend training classes that are related to the Group’s business. The Group provides training 
for career enhancement in the form of internal courses and workshops for staff, subsidies for education of staff 
at Macau Millennium College, and awards scholarships to children of staff to study at institutions of their choice. 
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CHAIRMAN AND ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy, aged 58, was elected as an Executive Director of the Company in June 2017. She 
was appointed to succeed as Chairman of the Company in June 2018, and was appointed as the Chairman of 
the Executive Committee of the Board in July 2018, and a member of the Nomination Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee of the Board in February 2019. Ms. Ho was re-designated from a member to the 
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Board in June 2019. She was appointed as a member of the 
Cotai Project Committee of the Board in May 2021. Ms. Ho was elected as a director of SJM in March 2019, and 
was appointed as the managing director of SJM in September 2022. She was the chairman of the board of 
directors of SJM from 2019 to September 2022. Ms. Ho is also a director of a number of principal subsidiaries, 
an associate and a joint venture of the Company.

Ms. Ho was an appointed representative of Shun Tak Holdings Limited (“Shun Tak”), which is a corporate 
director of Sociedade de Turismo e Diversões de Macau, S.A. (“STDM”) (the controlling shareholder of the 
Company), up till 31 March 2010, and has thereafter become an appointed representative of Lanceford 
Company Limited, which is also a corporate director of STDM, since 1 April 2010. She was appointed an 
executive director of Shun Tak, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (“HKSE Main Board”), in 1994, and has been the deputy managing director and chief financial officer of 
Shun Tak since 1999. Ms. Ho is also a member of the executive committee, remuneration committee and 
nomination committee of Shun Tak and a director of a number of its subsidiaries.

Ms. Ho has been appointed as a member of the Standing Committee on Judicial Salaries and Conditions of 
Service by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong SAR”) Government in January 2022.

Ms. Ho is Vice President and Executive Committee Member of The Real Estate Developers Association of Hong 
Kong, Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators, Vice President of Macao Association of 
Building Contractors and Developers, Member of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce and of its Ladies 
Committee, Director of Macao Chamber of Commerce, Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, Governor 
of The Canadian Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong, Chairman (2020 – 2021) and Advisor (2021 – 2022) of 
Po Leung Kuk, Chairman of Hong Kong Ballet, Chairman cum Director of University of Toronto (Hong Kong) 
Foundation Limited and Chairman of its Scholarship Selection Committee, Chair of International Dean’s Advisory 
Board of Joseph L. Rotman School of Management – University of Toronto, World Fellow of The Duke of 
Edinburgh’s Award World Fellowship, Honorary Vice President of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association and 
Honorary President of Hong Kong Federation of Women.

Ms. Ho was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR Government in July 2021.

Ms. Ho holds a Master of business administration degree in finance from the University of Toronto, Canada and 
a Bachelor’s degree in marketing from the University of Southern California, U.S.A.
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CO-CHAIRMEN AND ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy, aged 77, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in 2010, and 
was appointed as a member of the Cotai Project Committee of the Board of the Company in 2015. He was 
appointed as a Co-Chairman of the Company in June 2018, and was appointed as a member of the Executive 
Committee of the Board in July 2018, and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Board in June 2022. 
Mr. Fok has been a director of SJM since 2014. He was appointed as the chairman of the board of directors of 
SJM in September 2022.

Mr. Fok is the chairman of Fok Ying Tung Group, the chairman of Fok Ying Tung Foundation and a member of 
the Trust Committee of Henry Fok Foundation, a charitable foundation established in Macau which is a 
shareholder of STDM. He is an honorary member of the International Olympic Committee, a vice-president –  
East Asia of the Olympic Council of Asia, the president of the Sports Federation and Olympic Committee of Hong 
Kong, China and the president of the Hong Kong Football Association. Mr. Fok was a member of the 8th, 9th, 
10th, 11th and 12th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) and a 
vice-chairman of the Committee of Education, Science, Culture, Health and Sports of CPPCC. He was elected as 
a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong, representing the Sports, Performing Arts, Culture and 
Publication functional constituency from 1998 to 2012.

Mr. Fok was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong SAR Government in 1998, and was awarded 
the Gold Bauhinia Star Medal and the Silver Bauhinia Star Medal by the Hong Kong SAR Government in 2004 
and 1999 respectively. He was awarded the Olympic Order in Silver by International Olympic Committee in 
October 2018.

Mr. Fok was educated at the University of Southern California, U.S.A. He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong 
Institute of Directors.
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CO-CHAIRMEN AND ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, aged 61, has been an Executive Director of the Company since 2007. She 
was appointed as a Co-Chairman of the Company in June 2018. Deputada Leong has been a member of the 
Remuneration Committee of the Board since 2008, a member of the Executive Committee of the Board since 
2009, and a member of Cotai Project Committee of the Board since 2015. She was a member of the Nomination 
Committee of the Board from 2008 to June 2022. Deputada Leong has been the chairman of the staff welfare 
consultative committee of SJM since 2005 and a director of SJM since 2007. She was the managing director of 
SJM from 2010 to September 2022. Deputada Leong is also a director of a number of principal subsidiaries of 
the Company. She has been a director of STDM since 2005 and a shareholder of STDM.

Deputada Leong is actively involved in public and community services in China, Hong Kong and Macau. She is a 
vice-chairman of Jiangxi Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, Honorary Citizen of Jinggangshan, Jiangxi 
Province and of Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, Honorary President of Jinggangshan Cadre Training 
Academy, Jiangxi Province and Honorary Principal of Jinggangshan Experimental Primary School, Jiangxi Province. 
In 2005, 2009, 2013, 2017 and 2021, respectively, Deputada Leong was elected a member of the 3rd, 4th, 5th, 
6th and 7th Legislative Assemblies of the Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau SAR”) and the chairman 
of the 6th and 7th Administrative Council of the Legislative Assemblies of Macau SAR. She is a member of the 
2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th Elective Committee of Chief Executive of Macau SAR. Deputada Leong is an elective 
committee member of the 10th, 11th, 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress of Macau SAR, China. 
She is a member of Tourism Development Committee of Macau SAR since 2018.

Deputada Leong is currently a consultant of Macao Basic Law Promotion Association, a member of the Board of 
Trustees of Macao Foundation, a vice-president of the board of Supervisors of The Macao Chamber of 
Commerce, an honorary consultant of The Women’s General Association of Macau, the president of Macau 
Social Services Centre, a vice-chairman of Federation of Macau China Sport General Associations, the president 
of Macau Dance Sport Federation, a director of Stanley Ho Astronautics Training Foundation, Honorary President 
of Macau Chinese Painting Graduate Research Institute, Honorary President of Macau General Association of 
Real Estate, a director of Guangdong Women Overseas Friendship Association, the president of the Hong Kong 
Island Social Services Charitable Foundation and a member of Advisory Board of Po Leung Kuk (2022 – 2024). 
She was a Standing Committee member of Jiangxi Provincial Committee of CPPCC until January 2023 and 
Zhuhai Municipal Committee of CPPCC until December 2016, a member of the Cultural Industries Committee of 
Macau SAR from 2010 to 2016 and a director (2005 – 2015), a vice-chairman (2011 – 2014), the chairman 
(2014 – 2015), and a member of Advisory Board of Po Leung Kuk (2015 – 2016).

Deputada Leong was awarded the Medal of Merit – Industry and Commerce by the Macau SAR Government in 
2009. She was awarded the Business Awards of Macau – Award of Female Entrepreneur in 2013 and the Bronze 
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR Government in 2015.

Deputada Leong is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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VICE-CHAIRMAN, ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF ExECUTIVE OFFICER

Dr. So Shu Fai, aged 71, was appointed as a director of the Company in 2006. He is currently the Chief 
Executive Officer and an Executive Director of the Company, and was appointed as the Vice-Chairman of the 
Company in June 2018. Dr. So is responsible for execution of the Company’s strategy and the overall 
management of the Company’s business. He was the Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Board from 
2009 to July 2018 and thereafter a member of the said committee. Dr. So was the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Board from 2008 to 2012 and thereafter a 
member of the said committees. He was appointed as a member of the Cotai Project Committee of the Board in 
2015. Dr. So has been a director of SJM and a member of the senior management of SJM since 2002. He was 
the chairman of the board of directors of SJM from 2013 to March 2019. Dr. So is a director of a number of 
principal subsidiaries, an associate and a joint venture of the Company. He joined STDM in 1976 and has over 
40 years of experience in the casino business.

Dr. So is an executive director of China Merchants Land Limited, a company listed on HKSE Main Board. He was 
appointed as the chairman of the board of directors cum executive director of Domaine Power Holdings Limited 
(formerly known as “Hifood Group Holdings Co., Limited”), a company listed on HKSE Main Board, in December 
2021. Dr. So is a director of MACAUPORT – Sociedade de Administração de Portos, S.A. (“MACAUPORT”) and 
was appointed as the chairman of the Executive Committee of MACAUPORT in March 2022. He was a director 
of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A., which is listed on Euronext Lisbon, until 30 June 2021.

Dr. So is presently the Honorary Consul of the Republic of Portugal in Hong Kong SAR and a consultant of the 
Economic Development Council of the Macau SAR Government. He is the president of Clube Militar de Macau 
and a member of the board of directors of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational Development 
and Research. Dr. So was a member of the 9th, 10th, 11th and 12th National Committee of CPPCC and a 
member of the Committee of Foreign Affairs of the National Committee of the CPPCC and a committee member 
of the 8th, 9th and 10th National Committee of the China Federation of Literary and Art Circles.

Dr. So was awarded the Honorary University Fellowship by The University of Hong Kong in 2005, the Medal of 
Merit – Culture by the Macau SAR Government in 2009 and the Doctor of Social Sciences honoris causa by the 
University of Macau in 2012. He was conferred as Comendador da Ordem do Mérito by the Portuguese 
Government in 2014. Dr. So was awarded the Honorary Fellowship by HKU SPACE in 2019.

Dr. So graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from The University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a 
doctoral degree in Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross University, Australia in 2001. He is a 
Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance Professional and a fellow member of The Hong Kong 
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Dr. So is a 
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chan Un Chan, aged 69, was elected as an Executive Director of the Company in June 2018. She has been 
a director of SJM since 2009. Dr. Chan is a director and a shareholder of STDM. She is the chairman of UNIR (HK) 
Management Limited, the executive director of Tagus Properties Limited, a director of UNIR HOTELS PTY LTD and 
Wei Hang Shipyard (Zhong Shan) Co., Limited.

Dr. Chan actively involves in the charitable and community services in China, Hong Kong and Macau. She is the 
Vice-Chairman of Beijing Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, Honorary Director of Beijing Xiaoxing Ballet 
Art Development Foundation, Honorary Director of Guangdong Women and Children’s Foundation, Permanent 
Director of Hong Kong Art Craft Merchants Association Limited, Life Patron of Hong Kong Ballet Group and 
Vice-Presidente da Assembleia Geral of Obra Das Mães, Macau. Dr. Chan was a director (2006 – 2008), a  
vice-chairman (2008 – 2013), and the chairman of Tung Wah Group of Hospitals (2013 – 2014), a member of 
Fundraising Committee 2003 of End Child Sexual Abuse Foundation, and a sponsor of Mobile Classroom of End 
Child Sexual Abuse Foundation. She was a member of the 11th Guangdong Provincial Committee of CPPCC.

Dr. Chan was awarded the China Children Philanthropists by China Children and Teenagers’ Fund in 2008, the 
World Outstanding Chinese Award by United World Chinese Association in 2008, the Star of Charity by 
Guangdong Women and Children’s Foundation in 2012 and the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong SAR 
Government in 2014.

Dr. Chan was conferred with Honorary Doctor of Commerce from The University of West Alabama, U.S.A. in 
2008, Honorary Doctorate in Management from Lincoln University, U.S.A. in 2009 and Honorary Fellowship 
Award from Canadian Chartered Institute of Business Administration in 2009.

Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David, aged 68, has been an Executive Director of the Company since 2007. He has 
been a member of the Executive Committee and the Cotai Project Committee of the Board since 2009 and 2015 
respectively. Mr. Shum was a member of the Nomination Committee of the Board from 2008 to February 2019. 
He is also a director of a number of principal subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Shum has been a director of SJM 
since 2007 and of Sociedade de Turismo e Desenvolvimento Insular S.A.R.L. since 1998. He is an executive 
director and a member of the executive committee of the board of directors of Shun Tak (listed on the HKSE 
Main Board). Mr. Shum is also a director of a number of subsidiaries in the Shun Tak group. He is a director and 
a shareholder of STDM.

Mr. Shum holds a Bachelor’s degree from the University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, U.S.A. and a Master’s 
degree in Business Administration from the University of California, Berkeley, U.S.A. He is a fellow member of 
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, aged 51, was elected as a Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2019. He 
has been a supervisory committee member of SJM and certain of its subsidiaries since March 2019. He is the 
chief executive officer and a director of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. Mr. Tsang currently holds 
directorships in other four companies listed on the HKSE Main Board, namely, executive director of i-CABLE 
Communications Limited, UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited and Melbourne Enterprises Limited and non-
executive director of Giordano International Limited. He was a managing director and Head of Asia Fixed Income 
Capital Markets at Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch before joining Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. 
Mr. Tsang has extensive finance and investment expertise acquired over a 20-year career in investment banking.

Mr. Tsang is an appointed representative of Many Town Company Limited, a corporate director of STDM, a 
director of Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, a governor of Chow Tai Fook Charity Foundation Limited, a founder 
and a director of CTFE Social Solutions Limited, a member of the Election Committee, a General Committee 
member of the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong and a member of the 14th Beijing Municipal Committee of 
CPPCC. He was a non-executive director of Greenheart Group Limited until May 2022 and a non-executive 
director of Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited until August 2022, both of which are listed on 
the HKSE Main Board.

Mr. Tsang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Columbia College of Columbia University.

INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Hau Yin, aged 75, has been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 2007,  
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee of the Board since 2008. He was appointed as a member of the Cotai Project Committee 
of the Board in 2015. Mr. Tse is the chairman of the supervisory committee of SJM and a number of its 
subsidiary companies.

Mr. Tse is an independent non-executive director of CNOOC Limited, Sinofert Holdings Limited and  
China Huarong Asset Management Company, Limited (“China Huarong”), all of which are listed on the HKSE 
Main Board. Mr. Tse resigned as an independent non-executive director from China Huarong in March 2021, 
and resignation shall take effect after the commencement of terms of office of the new independent  
non-executive director.

From 2004 to 2010, Mr. Tse was an independent non-executive director of China Construction Bank 
Corporation, which is listed on the HKSE Main Board, and he also was an independent non-executive director of 
CCB International (Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation. From 
2005 to 2016, he was also an independent non-executive director of Daohe Global Group Limited (formerly 
known as Linmark Group Limited), which is listed on the HKSE Main Board. From November 2004 to June 2021, 
Mr. Tse was an independent non-executive director of OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited (formerly known as Wing 
Hang Bank Limited whose shares were delisted from The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 
16 October 2014). Mr. Tse was an independent non-executive director from September 2005 to January 2023 of 
China Telecom Corporation Limited, which is listed on the HKSE Main Board.
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INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Tse is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). He is a past president and a former member of the Audit Committee 
of HKICPA. Mr. Tse joined KPMG in 1976, became a partner in 1984 and retired in 2003. Between 1997 and 
2000, he served as the non-executive chairman of KPMG’s operations in China and was a member of the KPMG 
China Advisory Board. He is currently a member of the International Advisory Council of The People’s Municipal 
Government of Wuhan. Mr. Tse is also a certified public accountant in Macau. He is a fellow member of The 
Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina, aged 74, was elected as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company 
in June 2019. She has been a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee of the Board since June 2019. Ms. Wong was re-designated from a member to the 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Board in June 2022.

Ms. Wong is an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, Kerry 
Logistics Network Limited, Kerry Properties Limited and Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited, all of which 
are listed on the HKSE Main Board.

Ms. Wong joined PricewaterhouseCoopers in 1968 and was responsible for the development of the firm’s 
business in Mainland China since 1980. After her retirement as a partner from PricewaterhouseCoopers in July 
2004, she joined Tricor Services Limited as a director from September 2004 to February 2006.

Ms. Wong is a member of a number of Government advisory and other bodies in Hong Kong and was the 
Chairman of The Applied Research Council up to February 2017. She is the Chartered President of Hong Kong 
Women Professionals & Entrepreneurs Association and Vice-Chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of Women. 
Ms. Wong was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 2004.

An accountant by training, Ms. Wong is a fellow of the HKICPA and a fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants. She was conferred Honorary Fellow of City University of Hong Kong in 2008.

Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard, aged 66, was elected as an Independent Non-executive Director of the 
Company in May 2021. He has been a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee of the Board since May 2021.

Mr. Yeung has extensive experience in the businesses of property development, hotel operation and jewelry. He 
is an independent non-executive director of Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited, a company listed 
on the HKSE Main Board. Mr. Yeung was an independent non-executive director of New World Development 
Company Limited, which is listed on the HKSE Main Board, until December 2022.

Mr. Yeung graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration – Travel Industry Management from 
the University of Hawaii, U.S.A. in 1980.
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INDEPENDENT NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman, aged 67, was elected as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company 
in June 2022. He has been a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee of the Board since June 2022.

Mr. Ho has extensive skills, knowledge and professional experience in accounting and finance, mergers and 
acquisitions, risk management, strategic planning and various business sectors, including property development 
and investment, hotel management and transportation services. He is an executive director of Honorway 
Investments Limited and Tak Hung (Holding) Company, Limited and has over 30 years of experience in 
management and property development.

Mr. Ho is currently an executive director of Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited and Vision Values 
Holdings Limited, as well as an independent non-executive director of Shun Tak Holdings Limited and Hong 
Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, all of which are listed on the HKSE Main Board. He was an independent 
non-executive director of Lee Hing Development Limited until October 2022, which was listed on the HKSE Main 
Board until October 2022.

Mr. Ho graduated from the University of Exeter in the United Kingdom with a Bachelors of Arts degree in 1976. 
He has also obtained professional qualification in accounting. Mr. Ho is currently a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member of the HKICPA.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS UPDATE

The Directors’ biographical details update, which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 
Listing Rules, since 1 July 2022 and up to 31 December 2022 has been reflected in the above section.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The executive directors of the Company are regarded as senior management of the Group in view of the fact 
that they are directly responsible for overseeing the implementation of the Company’s strategic objectives and 
the business operations of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors of the Company have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, whilst its operating subsidiary, SJM conducts casino 
gaming operations and gaming-related activities in Macau. The Company’s other subsidiaries are principally 
engaged in hotel, catering, retail, leasing and related services in Macau.

An analysis of the revenues and the results of the Group by operating segment during the financial year is set 
out in note 5 to the Financial Statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

A list of principal subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation/establishment and operations  
and particulars of their issued share capital/quota capital and principal activity, is set out in note 46 to the 
Financial Statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business 
development, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided in the sections headed 
“Business Review” and “Prospects and Recent Developments” on pages 6 to 10 and pages 11 and 12 of this 
Annual Report, respectively.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in the section headed “Financial 
Review” on pages 13 to 15 and note 40 to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, and the Statement of Financial Position of the 
Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the Financial Statements on pages 100 to 202.

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2022 was declared during the year (six months ended 
30 June 2021: nil).

The Board does not recommend any payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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2023 AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 15 June 2023 (the 
“2023 AGM”). The register of members of the Company will be closed as set out below for ascertaining 
Shareholders entitled to attend the 2023 AGM:

Book close dates for 2023 AGM : 9 June 2023 to 15 June 2023 
(both days inclusive)

Last share registration date for 2023 AGM : 8 June 2023

Latest time to lodge transfer documents 
with the Company’s share registrar

: 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8 June 2023

Name and address of the Company’s  
share registrar

: Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, 
Shops 1712 – 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,  
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Date and time of 2023 AGM : 2:30 p.m. on Thursday, 15 June 2023

Deadline and address for submission of 
proxy form for 2023 AGM

: 2:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 13 June 2023 
18th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 
Nos. 168 – 200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong 
or via email at comsec@sjmholdings.com

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the year and reserves available for distribution to Shareholders 
are set out in note 34 to the Financial Statements. Movements in the reserves of the Group are reflected in the 
Financial Statements on the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 December 2022 amounted to 
HK$7,307.3 million (31 December 2021: HK$7,449.7 million).

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$3.2 million (31 December 2021: HK$3.3 million).

FIxED ASSETS

Details of movements in the property and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group during the year are 
set out in notes 13 and 14, respectively, to the Financial Statements.
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MAJOR PROPERTIES

Details of major properties of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Property Location Use
Site area 

(sq.m.)

Gross floor 
area/

saleable 
area 

(sq.m.)
Group 

interest

Grand Lisboa Palace A plot of land and its 
buildings located in the 
Cotai area of Macau, 
adjacent to Avenida do 
Aeroporto and Rua de 
Ténis

A complex containing 
hotel with gaming 
area

70,468 521,435 94%
(Note 1)

Grand Lisboa Hotel Unit Avenida do Infante D. 
Henrique, N° S/N, Macau

Hotel 11,626 122,524 88.27%
(Note 2)

Oceanus Building Travessa do Reservatório 
Nos. 33 – 95, Macau

Gaming operation, 
food and beverage 
outlets and back of 
house facilities

6,952 39,242 58.4%
(Note 3)

Ponte 16 Rua das Lorchas, N° S/N;  
Rua do Visconde Paço de 
Arcos, N° S/N, Macau

Gaming operation, 
hotel operation 
and commercial 
use

23,066 126,500 51%

Centro Internacional de 
Macau

Rua do Terminal Marítimo,  
N°s 93 – 103,  
Edifício I-Bloco V, Macau

Staff quarters — 5,582.72 100%

China Merchants Tower Whole of 18th floor,  
China Merchants Tower, 
Shun Tak Centre,  
Nos. 168 – 200 Connaught 
Road Central, Hong Kong

Self-use office — 2,248.25 100%

Notes:

1. Pursuant to the reversion and handover deeds executed between SJM and the Macau Government on 30 December 2022, upon 
termination of the former gaming concession on 31 December 2022, 6% of Grand Lisboa Palace was reverted to the Macau 
Government, and SJM was granted the right of enjoyment, fruition and use of such areas during the term of the new gaming 
concession from 1 January 2023 for 10 years.

2. Pursuant to the reversion and handover deeds executed between SJM and the Macau Government on 30 December 2022, upon 
termination of the former gaming concession on 31 December 2022, 11.73% of the Hotel Unit of Grand Lisboa was reverted to the 
Macau Government, and SJM was granted the right of enjoyment, fruition and use of such areas during the term of the new gaming 
concession from 1 January 2023 for 10 years.

3. Pursuant to the reversion and handover deeds executed between SJM and the Macau Government on 30 December 2022, upon 
termination of the former gaming concession on 31 December 2022, 41.6% of Oceanus Building was reverted to the Macau 
Government, and SJM was granted the right of enjoyment, fruition and use of such areas during the term of the new gaming 
concession from 1 January 2023 for 10 years. Further, the Group has acquired the right of acquisition of the remaining areas under an 
agreement in relation to the transfer of Casino Oceanus dated 26 May 2022. The percentage indicated herein corresponds to the 
interest transferred to the Group.
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BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 25 to the  
Financial Statements.

CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS

No borrowing costs capitalised by the Group during the year (2021: HK$321.6 million).

SHARE CAPITAL

On 3 August 2022, the Company announced the proposed Rights Issue at the subscription price of HK$2.08 per 
Rights Share on the basis of one Rights Share for every four existing Shares held on the record date (29 August 
2022). The closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange was HK$2.943 per Share on 3 August 2022, being 
the date on which the terms of the Rights Issue were fixed. The Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022 
and a total of 1,420,361,073 Rights Shares were allotted at the consideration of approximately  
HK$2,954 million. With regards to the net proceeds from the Rights Issue, the Company applied approximately 
HK$2,700 million for investment in SJM as part of the increase in share capital which SJM is required to have to 
pre-qualify for the tender process by which the Macau Government granted SJM a 10-year gaming concession 
commencing on 1 January 2023, and the balance for the general working capital of the Group. Further details of 
the Rights Issue were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 3 August 2022 and 21 September 
2022, and the listing documents of the Company dated 30 August 2022.

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 32 to the 
Financial Statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2009, the Shareholders approved the adoption 
of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) under which the Directors may grant Options to any participants of 
the Scheme to subscribe for Shares, subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated therein. The Scheme lapsed 
on 13 May 2019 and no further Options can be granted thereunder. However, the outstanding Options granted 
under the Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable up to the end of the relevant exercise periods.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Principal terms of the Scheme

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised below:

Purpose : To provide incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/or to 
enable the Group to retain and recruit high-calibre employees and/or attract 
human resources that are valuable to the Group.

Participants : Any employee, officer, agent, consultant or representative of the Company 
or any subsidiary, including any executive or non-executive director of the 
Company or any subsidiary, who is regarded as a valuable human resources 
of the Group based on his work experience, knowledge of the industry and 
other relevant factors.

Total number of Shares 
available for issue

: The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all 
Options must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the nominal amount of the 
issued share capital of the Company as at 13 May 2009 (that is, 
500,000,000 Shares). Since the Scheme lapsed on 13 May 2019, no further 
Options can be granted thereunder.

Maximum entitlement of 
each participant

: In any 12-month period (including the proposed grant date):

(a) For participants excluding substantial Shareholders, Independent 
Non-executive Directors or their respective associates:

 1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the proposed grant date (including 
the total number of Shares already issued and those which may fall to 
be issued upon exercise of Options granted and to be granted to him 
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the 
Company and/or any subsidiary).

(b) For substantial Shareholders, Independent Non-executive Directors or 
their respective associates:

(i) 0.1% of the number of Shares in issue as at the proposed grant 
date (including the total number of Shares already issued and 
those which may fall to be issued upon exercise of Options 
granted and to be granted to him under the Scheme and any 
other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/or any 
subsidiary); or

(ii) not exceeding HK$5 million in aggregate value based on the 
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheets on each relevant date on which the grant of 
Options is made.

Period within which the 
Shares must be taken up 
under an Option

: The Board may in its absolute discretion determine, save that such period 
shall expire on the last day of nine years commencing on the date falling six 
months after the date of grant.

Minimum period for which 
an Option must be held 
before it can be exercised

: Such minimum period under the Scheme is six months from the date of 
grant. At the time of grant of Options, the Board may specify longer 
minimum period(s) for which Options must be held before they can 
be exercised.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Principal terms of the Scheme (Continued)

Amount payable on 
acceptance of the Option

: HK$1

Period within which 
payments or calls must 
or may be made or loans 
for such purposes must 
be repaid

: Payable within 28 days from the date of the letter containing the grant, 
provided that no such grant shall be open for acceptance after the expiry or 
termination of the Scheme.

Basis of determining the 
exercise price

: The exercise price shall be determined by the Board at the time the grant of 
the Options is made and shall not be less than the higher of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s 
daily quotations sheets on the grant date, which must be a business 
day; and

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days 
immediately preceding the grant date.

Remaining life of the 
Scheme

: The Scheme was in force for a period of 10 years commencing on the 
adoption date and lapsed on 13 May 2019.

Number of Shares issued or to be issued and consideration received or to be received 
under the Scheme

During the year, no Options were exercised under the Scheme and no Shares were issued accordingly.

Immediately prior to completion of Rights Issue on 21 September 2022, 477,085,000 Options were granted 
under the Scheme with 299,765,000 Options exercised, and a total of HK$2,023,951,490 was received by the 
Company as the proceeds for the allotment and issue of 299,765,000 Shares. Excluding 29,587,000 Options 
lapsed, there were 147,733,000 Options outstanding as at 21 September 2022.

As a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022, the total outstanding Options granted under 
the Scheme has been adjusted from 147,733,000 to 158,074,310 with effect from 22 September 2022.

Excluding 1,899,250 Options lapsed during 22 September 2022 to 31 December 2022, there were 
156,175,060 Options outstanding as at 31 December 2022. If all those outstanding Options were exercised, 
a total of HK$1,832,870,924 would be received by the Company as the proceeds for the allotment and issue of 
156,175,060 Shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Movement of Options granted

Details of the movement in Options granted under the Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022 were 
as follows:

Number of Options

Name or category  
of participants Date of grant Exercise period

Exercise 
price per 

Share

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 
2022

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Cancelled 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during  

the year

Adjusted on 
22 September 

2022 after 
completion 

of the  
Rights Issue

Balance 
as at  

31 December 
2022

(HK$)

Directors:

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 22 June 2017  
(Note 3)

22 December 2018 to 
21 December 2026

$7.79 
(Note 3)

500,000 — — — — 35,000 
(Note 3)

535,000

22 June 2017 
(Note 3)

22 December 2019 to 
21 December 2026

$7.79 
(Note 3)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 3)

1,070,000

Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 2)

1,070,000

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 2)

1,070,000

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 2)

1,070,000

Leong On Kei, Angela 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

10,000,000 — — — — 700,000 
(Note 2)

10,700,000

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

10,000,000 — — — — 700,000 
(Note 2)

10,700,000

15 June 2015 
 (Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

10,000,000 — — — — 700,000 
(Note 2)

10,700,000

So Shu Fai 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

11,667,000 — — — — 816,690 
(Note 2)

12,483,690

15 June 2015 
 (Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

11,667,000 — — — — 816,690 
(Note 2)

12,483,690

15 June 2015 
 (Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

11,666,000 — — — — 816,620 
(Note 2)

12,482,620

Tse Hau Yin 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

167,000 — — — — 11,690 
(Note 2)

178,690

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

167,000 — — — — 11,690 
(Note 2)

178,690

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

166,000 — — — — 11,620 
(Note 2)

177,620

Chan Un Chan 21 June 2018 
(Note 4)

21 December 2018 to 
20 December 2027

$9.59 
(Note 4)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 4)

1,070,000

21 June 2018 
(Note 4)

21 December 2019 to 
20 December 2027

$9.59 
(Note 4)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 4)

1,070,000

21 June 2018 
(Note 4)

21 December 2020 to 
20 December 2027

$9.59 
(Note 4)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 4)

1,070,000

Shum Hong Kuen,  
David

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 2)

1,070,000

15 June 2015 
(Note 2) 

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 2)

1,070,000

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,000,000 — — — — 70,000 
(Note 2)

1,070,000

Sub-total (Directors): 76,000,000 — — — — 5,320,000 81,320,000
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Number of Options

Name or category  
of participants Date of grant Exercise period

Exercise 
price per 

Share

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 
2022

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Cancelled 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during  

the year

Adjusted on 
22 September 

2022 after 
completion 

of the  
Rights Issue

Balance 
as at  

31 December 
2022

(HK$)

Associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Directors (who are also Employee/former Employee):

The late Ho Hung Sun, 
Stanley

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,667,000 — — — — 116,690 
(Note 2)

1,783,690

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,667,000 — — — — 116,690 
(Note 2)

1,783,690

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,666,000 — — — — 116,620 
(Note 2)

1,782,620

Huen Wai Kei 8 October 2013 
(Note 1)

8 April 2014 to  
7 April 2023

$20.56 
(Note 1)

67,000 — — — — 4,690 
(Note 1)

71,690

8 October 2013 
(Note 1)

8 April 2015 to  
7 April 2023

$20.56 
(Note 1)

67,000 — — — — 4,690 
(Note 1)

71,690

8 October 2013 
(Note 1)

8 April 2016 to  
7 April 2023

$20.56 
(Note 1)

66,000 — — — — 4,620 
(Note 1)

70,620

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

20,000 — — — — 1,400 
(Note 2)

21,400

15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

20,000 — — — — 1,400 
(Note 2)

21,400

15 June 2015  
(Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

20,000 — — — — 1,400 
(Note 2)

21,400

Sub-total (Associates of Directors (who are also Employee/former Employee)): 5,260,000 — — — — 368,200 5,628,200

Employees* 8 October 2013 
(Note 1)

8 April 2014 to  
7 April 2023

$20.56 
(Note 1)

11,707,000 — — — (826,660) 794,430 
(Note 1)

11,674,770

Employees* 8 October 2013 
(Note 1)

8 April 2015 to 
7 April 2023

$20.56 
(Note 1)

11,666,000 — — — (818,240) 791,700 
(Note 1)

11,639,460

Employees* 8 October 2013 
(Note 1)

8 April 2016 to 
7 April 2023

$20.56 
(Note 1)

11,655,000 — — — (816,100) 790,930 
(Note 1)

11,629,830

Employees* 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

3,266,000 — — — (240,060) 223,650 
(Note 2)

3,249,590

Employees* 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

3,270,000 — — — (240,060) 223,930 
(Note 2)

3,253,870

Employees* 15 June 2015 
(Note 2)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

3,189,000 — — — (238,130) 218,470 
(Note 2)

3,169,340

Sub-total (Employees): 44,753,000 — — — (3,179,250) 3,043,110 44,616,860

Other participants 15 June 2015 
(Notes 2, 5, 6 & 7)

15 December 2015 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

1,001,000 — — — — 70,070 
(Note 2)

1,071,070

Other participants 15 June 2015 
(Notes 2, 5, 6 & 7)

15 December 2016 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

11,001,000 — — — — 770,070 
(Note 2)

11,771,070

Other participants 15 June 2015 
(Notes 2, 5, 6 & 7)

15 December 2017 to 
14 December 2024

$9.18 
(Note 2)

10,998,000 — — — — 769,860 
(Note 2)

11,767,860

Sub-total (Other participants): 23,000,000 — — — — 1,610,000 24,610,000

Total: 149,013,000 — — — (3,179,250) 10,341,310 156,175,060

* excluding associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) of Directors who are also Employee/former Employee

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Movement of Options granted (Continued)
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Movement of Options granted (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period for 47,460,000 Options granted on 8 October 2013 is approximately 34% vesting on six months from the date of 

grant, then approximately 33% vesting on each of the first and second anniversaries of such vesting date. The vesting period for 

3,000,000 Options granted on 8 October 2013 is approximately 34% vesting on one year from the date of grant, then approximately 

16.5% vesting on two, three, four and five years from the date of grant respectively. The closing price of the Shares immediately 

before the date of grant was HK$21.95. The estimated fair value of each Option granted on that date based on an independent 

valuation is as follows:

50,460,000 Options granted on 8 October 2013 Exercise period Option unit value

15,863,000 8 April 2014 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.4299

1,000,000 8 October 2014 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.5172

15,808,000 8 April 2015 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.6397

500,000 8 October 2015 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.7396

15,789,000 8 April 2016 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.8327

500,000 8 October 2016 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.8954

500,000 8 October 2017 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.9801

500,000 8 October 2018 to 7 April 2023 HK$8.9928

As a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022, the exercise price of the outstanding Options granted on 8 October 

2013 has been adjusted from HK$22 per Share to HK$20.56 per Share and the number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the 

outstanding Options granted on 8 October 2013 under the Scheme has been adjusted from 34,158,000 to 36,549,060 (i.e. increase 

of 2,391,060) with effect from 22 September 2022.

2. The vesting period for 126,725,000 Options granted on 15 June 2015 is approximately 33.37% vesting on six months from the date 

of grant, then approximately 33.37% vesting on one year and six months from the date of grant, and the remaining 33.26% vesting 

on two years and six months from the date of grant. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant was 

HK$9.96. The estimated fair value of each Option granted on that date based on an independent valuation is as follows:

Category of Participants Number of Options Exercise period Option unit value

Directors 38,669,000 15 December 2015 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.4670

Directors 38,669,000 15 December 2016 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.4584

Directors 38,662,000 15 December 2017 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.4210

Employees 3,342,000 15 December 2015 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.3966

Employees 3,342,000 15 December 2016 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.4052

Employees 3,211,000 15 December 2017 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.3865

Other participants 277,000 15 December 2015 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.3966

Other participants 277,000 15 December 2016 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.4052

Other participants 276,000 15 December 2017 to 14 December 2024 HK$3.3865

As a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022, the exercise price of the outstanding Options granted on 15 June 

2015 has been adjusted from HK$9.826 per Share to HK$9.18 per Share and the number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the 

outstanding Options granted on 15 June 2015 under the Scheme has been adjusted from 109,075,000 to 116,710,250 (i.e. increase 

of 7,635,250) with effect from 22 September 2022.
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Movement of Options granted (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. The vesting period for 3,000,000 Options granted on 22 June 2017 is approximately 33.34% vesting on six months from the date of 

grant, then approximately 33.33% vesting on one year and six months from the date of grant, and the remaining 33.33% vesting on 

two years and six months from the date of grant. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant was HK$8.45. 

The estimated fair value of each Option granted on that date based on an independent valuation is as follows:

3,000,000 Options granted on 22 June 2017 Exercise period Option unit value

1,000,000 22 December 2017 to 21 December 2026 HK$3.1571

1,000,000 22 December 2018 to 21 December 2026 HK$3.1584

1,000,000 22 December 2019 to 21 December 2026 HK$3.1552

As a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022, the exercise price of the outstanding Options granted on 22 June 

2017 has been adjusted from HK$8.33 per Share to HK$7.79 per Share and the number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the 

outstanding Options granted on 22 June 2017 under the Scheme has been adjusted from 1,500,000 to 1,605,000 (i.e. increase of 

105,000) with effect from 22 September 2022.

4. The vesting period for 3,000,000 Options granted on 21 June 2018 is approximately 33.34% vesting on six months from the date of 

grant, then approximately 33.33% vesting on one year and six months from the date of grant, and the remaining 33.33% vesting on 

two years and six months from the date of grant. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date of grant was HK$10.32. 

The estimated fair value of each Option granted on that date based on an independent valuation is as follows:

3,000,000 Options granted on 21 June 2018 Exercise period Option unit value

1,000,000 21 December 2018 to 20 December 2027 HK$4.0413

1,000,000 21 December 2019 to 20 December 2027 HK$4.0443

1,000,000 21 December 2020 to 20 December 2027 HK$4.0523

As a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022, the exercise price of the outstanding Options granted on 21 June 

2018 has been adjusted from HK$10.26 per Share to HK$9.59 per Share and the number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the 

outstanding Options granted on 21 June 2018 under the Scheme has been adjusted from 3,000,000 to 3,210,000 (i.e. increase of 

210,000) with effect from 22 September 2022.

5. On 28 May 2021, Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham retired as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company and was appointed 

as an Advisor of the Company on that date. He has been appointed as the Honorary Chairman of Cotai Project Committee of the 

Company with effect from 28 May 2022. He is re-classified as an other participant and the classification of outstanding number of his 

Options is re-classified to confirm with current period’s presentation.

6. On 15 June 2022, Mr. Chau Tak Hay retired as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company and was appointed as an 

Advisor of the Company on that date. He is re-classified as an other participant and the classification of outstanding number of his 

Options is re-classified to confirm with current period’s presentation.

7. On 15 June 2022, Mr. Ng Chi Sing retired as a Non-executive Director of the Company. He has been appointed as an Advisor of SJM 

with effect from 10 June 2020. He is re-classified as an other participant and the classification of outstanding number of his Options is 

re-classified to confirm with current period’s presentation.

8. The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the Options were exercised is not applicable 

since no Options were exercised during the Reporting Period.
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US$500,000,000 4.50% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2026 AND US$500,000,000 4.85% SENIOR 
NOTES DUE 2028 ISSUED BY CHAMPION PATH HOLDINGS LIMITED

In January 2021, Champion Path Holdings Limited (“Champion Path”), a subsidiary of the Company, issued the 
following Senior Notes which are listed on the HKSE Main Board:

Principal Terms of the US$ Senior Notes due 2026 (“2026 US$ Senior Notes”)

Issuer : Champion Path

Guarantor : The Company

Aggregate principal 
amount

: US$500,000,000

Offering price : 100.00% of the principal amount of the Notes

Issue date : 27 January 2021

Interest rate : 4.50% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on 27 January and 27 July of 
each year. Interest accrues from 27 January 2021.

Maturity date : 27 January 2026, unless earlier redeemed in accordance with terms thereof

Principal Terms of the US$ Senior Notes due 2028 (“2028 US$ Senior Notes”)

Issuer : Champion Path

Guarantor : The Company

Aggregate principal 
amount

: US$500,000,000

Offering price : 100.00% of the principal amount of the Notes

Issue date : 27 January 2021

Interest rate : 4.85% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on 27 January and 27 July of 
each year. Interest accrues from 27 January 2021.

Maturity date : 27 January 2028, unless earlier redeemed in accordance with terms thereof

The Company used approximately 90% of the net proceeds from the offering for refinancing a syndicated credit 
facilities and the balance for general corporate purposes.

Further details of the above Notes were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 21 and 27 January 
2021 and the announcements of Champion Path dated 27 and 28 January 2021.
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HK$1,250,000,000 3.9% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2026 AND MOP300,000,000 3.9% SENIOR 
NOTES DUE 2026 ISSUED BY CHAMPION MOMENTS LIMITED

In May 2021, Champion Moments Limited (“Champion Moments”), a subsidiary of the Company, issued the 
following Senior Notes which are listed on Chongwa (Macao) Financial Asset Exchange Co., Ltd.:

Principal Terms of the HK$ Senior Notes due 2026 (“2026 HK$ Senior Notes”)

Issuer : Champion Moments

Guarantor : The Company

Aggregate principal 
amount

: HK$1,250,000,000

Offering price : 100.00% of the principal amount of the Notes

Issue date : 12 May 2021

Interest rate : 3.90% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on 12 May and 12 November 
of each year. Interest accrues from 12 May 2021.

Maturity date : 12 May 2026, unless earlier redeemed in accordance with terms thereof

Principal Terms of the MOP Senior Notes due 2026 (“2026 MOP Senior Notes”)

Issuer : Champion Moments

Guarantor : The Company

Aggregate principal 
amount

: MOP300,000,000

Offering price : 100.00% of the principal amount of the Notes

Issue date : 12 May 2021

Interest rate : 3.90% per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on 12 May and 12 November 
of each year. Interest accrues from 12 May 2021.

Maturity date : 12 May 2026, unless earlier redeemed in accordance with terms thereof

The Company used approximately 90% of the net proceeds from the offering for refinancing a syndicated credit 
facilities and the balance for general corporate purposes.

Further details of the above Notes were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 6 and 
12 May 2021.
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SPECIAL PUT OPTION OF SENIOR NOTES

In each Notes issued by Champion Path and Champion Moments, there is a special put option in favour of the 
bondholders wherein. Upon the occurrence of:

(i) any event after which none of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company has such licenses, 
concessions, subconcessions or other permits or authorizations as are necessary for the Company and its 
subsidiaries to own or manage casino or gaming areas or operate casino games of fortune and chance in 
Macau in substantially the same manner and scope as the Company and its subsidiaries are entitled to on 
the date on which the Notes are issued, for a period of twenty consecutive days or more, and such event 
has a material adverse effect on the financial condition, business, properties, or results of operations of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole; or

(ii) the termination, rescission, revocation or modification of any licenses, concessions, subconcessions or other 
permits or authorisations relating to casino or gaming operations which has had a material adverse effect 
on the financial condition, business, properties, or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
taken as a whole, each holder of the Notes will have the right to require the Company to repurchase all or 
any part of such holder’s Notes at a purchase price in cash equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, 
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to but excluding the date of repurchase.

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULES 13.18 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

The indentures in relation to the 2026 US$ Senior Notes, 2028 US$ Senior Notes, 2026 HK$ Senior Notes and 
2026 MOP Senior Notes (collectively, the “Notes”) contain a change of control provision that would, if triggered, 
give rise to a right in favor of the holders of the Notes to require the Company and Champion Path/Champion 
Moments to repurchase the Notes at 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest,  
if any, up to but excluding the date of repurchase. The circumstances that will constitute a change of  
control include:

(i) the merger, amalgamation or consolidation of the Company with or into another person (other than STDM) 
or the merger or amalgamation of another person (other than STDM) with or into the Company, or the sale 
of all or substantially all the assets of the Company to another person (other than STDM)

(ii) STDM is the “beneficial owners” (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act) of less than 51% 
of the total voting power of the voting stock of the Company

(iii) the adoption of a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of the Company

(iv) the first day on which the Company ceases to own, directly or indirectly, 100% of the voting stock of the 
Champion Path/Champion Moments or SJM
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CONVERTIBLE BOND ISSUED UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE

On 22 June 2022, Champion Power Global Limited (“Champion Power”) (a subsidiary of the Company) issued  
convertible bond (the “Convertible Bond”) in the principal amount of HK$1,906 million at 2% coupon rate at a 
par value of HK$100,000 each with 5-year maturity to STDM for acquisition of a portion of the property Casino 
Oceanus (“Oceanus Building”) by Harbour Tide Limited (the “Purchaser”) (a subsidiary of the Company) from 
Jai-Alai Shopping Centre Company Limited (the “Seller”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STDM) and the 
disposal by the Seller of the remaining portion of Oceanus Building and the transactions contemplated 
thereunder in accordance with the transfer agreement dated 26 May 2022 entered into among the Purchaser, 
the Company, Champion Power, the Seller and STDM.

The Convertible Bond is denominated in Hong Kong dollar, unsecured and is guaranteed by the Company. It 
entitles STDM to convert into ordinary Shares at any time between the issue date of the Convertible Bond and 
the date falling seven days prior to the fifth anniversary of the issue date (the “Maturity Date”) at initial 
conversion price of HK$4.07 per conversion Share (subject to adjustment). Unless previously redeemed, 
converted or purchased and cancelled, Champion Power will redeem the Convertible Bond at 100% of its 
principal amount together with any accrued but unpaid interest on the Maturity Date. Interest accruing at the 
rate of 2% per annum on the Convertible Bond will be paid annually until the Maturity Date. The Convertible 
Bond is not listed on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange. It is not transferable without the prior 
consent of Champion Power save for any transfer by a bondholder to its wholly-owned subsidiaries or any 
holding company that owns 100% of the share capital of that bondholder.

The conversion Shares to be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond will 
be fully paid and rank pari passu in all respects with the Shares then in issue on the date on which the name of 
the exercising bondholder is registered as holder of the relevant conversion Shares in the register of members of 
the Company.

As a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022, the conversion price has been adjusted from 
HK$4.07 per conversion Share to HK$3.78 per conversion Share and the number of conversion Shares to be 
converted has been adjusted from 468,304,668 to 504,232,804 (i.e. increase of 35,928,136) with effect from 
22 September 2022. Assuming full exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bond 
at the adjusted conversion price of HK$3.78 per conversion Share by STDM, the Convertible Bond will be 
converted into 504,232,804 Shares, representing approximately 7.10% of the issued Shares of 7,101,805,366 Shares  
as at 31 December 2022; and approximately 6.63% of the issued Shares of 7,606,038,170 Shares as enlarged 
by the issuance of such conversion Shares on the basis that there is no other change in the issued Shares. In such 
event, the number of Shares being held by the substantial Shareholders will be changed as follows: (i) the 
number of Shares being held by STDM will increase from approximately 54.81% to approximately 57.81% of 
the total issued Shares; while (ii) the number of Shares being held by Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela will 
decrease from approximately 8.09% to approximately 7.55% of the total issued Shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company recorded loss per Share and therefore the assumed 
exercise of the Convertible Bond would result in a decrease in loss per Share. Based on the bank balances and 
cash at 31 December 2022, the Company has the ability to meet it redemption obligations under the  
Convertible Bond.
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CONVERTIBLE BOND ISSUED UNDER SPECIFIC MANDATE (Continued)

It would be the equally advantageous for STDM as the bondholder to convert or redeem the Convertible Bond 
based on implied the internal rate of return of the outstanding Convertible Bond, when the Company’s share 
price approximates to the adjusted conversion price of HK$3.78 per Share.

Further details of the Convertible Bond are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 26 May and 
21 September 2022, and the circular of the Company dated 6 June 2022.

During the year, there were no conversion, redemption or cancellation of the Convertible Bond by the Company 
or Champion Power.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Dr. So Shu Fai
Dr. Chan Un Chan
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick
Mr. Ng Chi Sing (retired on 15 June 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tse Hau Yin
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman (elected on 15 June 2022)
Mr. Chau Tak Hay (retired on 15 June 2022)

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 16 to 23 of this Annual Report. Details of their 
remuneration are set out in note 9 to the Financial Statements.

In accordance with Article 95 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, 
Daisy, Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy, Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and Dr. So Shu Fai, each an Executive 
Director, will retire from the Board by rotation at the 2023 AGM. Except for Dr. So Shu Fai who does not  
offer himself for re-election, other retiring Directors Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy, Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy  
and Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, all being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the  
2023 AGM.

All Independent Non-executive Directors have met all of the guidelines for assessing independence set out in 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of them an annual written confirmation of 
his/her independence and considers each of them to be independent.



SJM Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2022 3939

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Save for certain Directors mentioned above, the following persons were directors of subsidiaries of the Company 
during the year and up to the date of this report:

Mr. Fok Chun Wan, Ian
Mr. Fok Kai Shan, Eric
Ms. Ho Chiu Ha, Maisy
Mr. Ho Yau Heng, Arnaldo (Note 1)

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong
Mr. Ma Ho Man, Hoffman
Mr. McBain, Robert Earle
Mr. Ng Chi Sing (Note 2)

Mr. Pyne, Jonathan Charles
Dr. Rui José da Cunha
Mr. Yeung Hoi Sing, Sonny
Dr. Yip Cheuk Yuen, Bernard (Note 1)

Notes:

1. Resigned/retired during the year ended 31 December 2022

2. Resigned during the period from 1 January 2023 and up to the date of this report

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has a service contract with  
the Company that is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation (other than  
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below, no contract of significance (i) to which the Company, its holding company or any of 
their subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at any time during the year or at the end of the year, nor (ii) between the Company, or one of its 
subsidiaries, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

Agreements with STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates

Nature and extent of the connected person’s interest in the transaction:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy has beneficial interests in STDM via Lanceford Company Limited, a corporate director of 
STDM, and she is the representative of Lanceford Company Limited to act as a director of STDM. Deputada 
Leong On Kei, Angela, Dr. Chan Un Chan and Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David have beneficial interests in STDM 
and are directors of STDM. Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick’s relative has beneficial interests in STDM via Many Town 
Company Limited, a corporate director of STDM, and Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick is the representative of Many 
Town Company Limited to act as a director of STDM.

Connected relationship:
STDM is the controlling Shareholder and therefore STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates (as defined in the 
Listing Rules) are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Agreements with STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates (Continued)

Premises Leasing Master Agreement

Parties to the agreement:
STDM and the Company

Details of the transaction:

Date of  
agreement Term

Description of the transaction 
and its purpose

Annual caps and 
aggregate amount 
of transactions 
in 2022

23 December 2019 1 April 2020 to 31 December 
2022 (the Company may 
terminate the agreement by 
giving at least three months’ 
prior written notice)

•	 For	 the	 leasing	 of	 premises	 by	 STDM	Group	
to the Group for use as casinos, offices, or for 
other business purposes.

•	 Payments	 for	 the	premises	 comprised	 rental,	
utility charges, air conditioning service 
charges and building management fees 
where the relevant rental must be fair and 
reasonable, and may not be higher than the 
rental for the same or comparable type of 
premises provided by independent third 
parties in the ordinary course of business; the 
utility charges payable are based on actual 
utility consumption; and the air conditioning 
expenses and building management fees are 
determined in accordance with and not 
exceeding the relevant market prices.

•	 The	 terms	 and	 conditions	 on	 which	 such	
premises are to be provided should be no less 
favourable to the Company than those 
offered by independent third parties.

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 43 of 
this Annual Report

2 March 2023  
(renewal of  
the Premises  
Leasing Master 
Agreement dated  
23 December 2019)

1 January 2023 to 31 December 
2025 (the Company may 
terminate the agreement by 
giving at least three months’ 
prior written notice)

•	 Same	 as	 the	 Premises	 Leasing	 Master	
Agreement dated 23 December 2019 
(excluding the leasing of casinos).

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 43 of 
this Annual Report

Further details of the above transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company dated  
23 December 2019 and 2 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Agreements with STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates (Continued)

Products and Services Master Agreement

Parties to the agreement:
STDM and the Company

Details of the transaction:

Date of  
agreement Term

Description of the transaction 
and its purpose

Annual caps and 
aggregate amount 
of transactions 
in 2022

23 December 2019 1 January 2020 to 
31 December 2022

•	 For	the	provision	of	the	following	categories	of	products	
and services by the STDM Group to the Group:

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 43 of 
this Annual Report

(i) hotel accommodation
(ii) entertainment
(iii) transportation (including jetfoil tickets supplied by 

Far East Hydrofoil Company, Limited through STDM)
(iv) hotel management and operation
(v) maintenance services

•	 The	provision	of	each	relevant	product	or	service	by	the	
STDM Group shall be on normal commercial terms and 
made with reference to the prevailing market price after 
arm’s length negotiation between the relevant parties 
or, where there is no relevant market price, on terms 
negotiated between the relevant parties at arm’s length.

•	 The	price	of	the	products	and	services	to	be	provided	by	
the STDM Group including the basis of the calculation of 
the payments to be made shall be set out in the relevant 
implementation agreements and must be fair  
and reasonable.

2 March 2023 
(renewal of the 
Products and  
Services Master 
Agreement dated  
23 December 2019)

1 January 2023 to 
31 December 2025

•	 Same	 as	 the	 Products	 and	 Services	 Master	 Agreement	
dated 23 December 2019 except two additional 
categories of products and services (i.e. laundry services 
and promotional and advertising services) and excluding 
jetfoil tickets for transportation services provided by the 
STDM Group to the Group.

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 43 of 
this Annual Report

Further details of the above transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 
23 December 2019 and 2 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Agreements with STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates (Continued)

Chips Agreement

Parties to the agreement:
STDM and SJM

Details of the transaction:

Date of 

agreement Term Description of the transaction and its purpose 

Annual caps and 
aggregate amount 
of transactions 
in 2022

18 June 2008 No fixed term (may 

be terminated by 

mutual agreement  

or upon termination 

of SJM’s gaming 

concession contract, 

whichever is earlier)

•	 For	regulating	the	honouring,	borrowing	and	use	of	the	

casino chips of STDM for the purposes of its gaming 

operations.

•	 Since	 1	 April	 2002,	 SJM	 had	 been	 borrowing	 casino	

chips from STDM for the purpose of its business 

operation. STDM agreed to reimburse SJM for the 

aggregate face value of the chips honoured by SJM 

which were not sold by SJM. The arrangements are now 

being phased out as explained below.

See “Annual Caps and 

Aggregate Amount 

Table” on page 43 of 

this Annual Report

Further details of the above transactions were set out in the section “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus 
of the Company dated 26 June 2008 and the announcements of the Company dated 30 December 2010, 
6 January 2014, 26 January 2017, 23 December 2019 and 2 March 2023.

Since SJM has secured its own supply of chips and is no longer borrowing any STDM chips starting from 2011, 
the overall value of STDM chips redeemed in 2022 has declined substantially from the historical levels seen in 
earlier years. Furthermore, all casino chips of STDM have been withdrawn from circulation and procedures were 
put in place for those holding such chips to redeem them for cash or for casino chips of SJM.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Agreements with STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates (Continued)

Annual Caps and Aggregate Amount Table:

Aggregate 
amount for 

the year 
ended 

31 December 
2022

Annual cap 
for the year 

ended 
31 December 

2022

Annual cap 
for the year 

ending 
31 December 

2023

Annual cap 
for the year 

ending 
31 December 

2024

Annual cap 
for the year 

ending 
31 December 

2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(audited)

•	 Premises	Leasing	Master	
Agreement (Note 1) 2.2 29.3 18.8 3.2 3.2

•	 Products	and	Services	Master	
Agreement (Note 2)

(i) Hotel accommodation 3.0 N/A 14.4 18.5 22.6

(ii) Entertainment 5.6 N/A 11.9 15.3 18.7

(iii) Transportation 1.6 238 10.5 13.5 16.4

(iv) Maintenance services 10.3 N/A 12.4 13.6 15.0

(v) Hotel management and 
operation 6.8 N/A 19.4 23.3 28.0

(vi) Laundry services 15.4 N/A 52.8 58.1 63.9

(vii) Promotional and advertising 5.6 N/A 15.0 19.4 25.3

•	 Chips	Agreement	(Note 3) 0.1 77.0 76.0 76.0 76.0
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Agreements with STDM and/or its subsidiaries/associates (Continued)

Annual Caps and Aggregate Amount Table: (Continued)

Notes:

1. In December 2019, STDM and the Company renewed the Premises Leasing Master Agreement and the Board approved the annual 

caps for this category of continuing connected transactions for the three financial years of 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 at 

HK$790.2 million, HK$119.5 million and HK$29.3 million respectively. These annual caps were determined by reference to (i) the 

existing leases entered into between the Group and the STDM Group under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 18 June 

2008; (ii) the expected renewals of certain existing leases during period from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2022; (iii) the estimated 

rental adjustments to be made to the renewed leases; (iv) the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” for renewed leases; and (v) a buffer for 

additional and unexpected demand of the Group for the premises owned by the STDM Group for the Group’s business operations up 

to 31 December 2022.

 In March 2023, STDM and the Company further renewed the Premises Leasing Master Agreement and the Board approved the annual 

caps for this category of continuing connected transactions for the three financial years of 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 at 

HK$18.8 million, HK$3.2 million and HK$3.2 million respectively. These annual caps were determined by reference to (i) the existing 

leases entered into between the Group and the STDM Group under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 23 December 

2019; (ii) the expected renewals of certain existing leases during period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025; (iii) the estimated 

rental adjustments to be made to the renewed leases; (iv) the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Lease” for renewed leases; and (v) a buffer of 

20% for additional and unexpected demand of the Group for the premises owned by the STDM Group for the Group’s business 

operations up to 31 December 2025.

2. In December 2019, STDM and the Company renewed the Products and Services Master Agreement and the Board approved the 

annual caps for a category of continuing connected transactions (i.e., transportation) for the three financial years of 31 December 

2020, 2021 and 2022. These annual caps were determined by reference to a number of factors including (i) the historical consumption 

of the transportation service by the Group; (ii) the projected number of gaming patrons in casinos operated by the Group and, in 

particular, the expected opening of the Grand Lisboa Palace Resort in 2020; (iii) the business, marketing and promotion plans of the 

Group; and (iv) the inflation rate in Macau. The other four categories of continuing connected transactions (i.e., hotel accommodation, 

entertainment, maintenance services, and hotel management and operation) under the Products and Services Master Agreement are 

de minimis transactions under the Listing Rules and no annual cap has been set.

 In March 2023, STDM and the Company further renewed the Products and Services Master Agreement and the Board approved the 

annual caps for all categories of continuing connected transactions under the Products and Services Master Agreement for the three 

financial years of 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025. These annual caps were determined by reference to a number of factors 

including but not limited to (i) the historical consumption of the services by the Group; (ii) the expected recovery of visitor arrivals and 

gaming revenue in Macau in the coming few years; (iii) the opening of Grand Lisboa Palace Resort in 2021; (iv) the projected number 

of staff hired by the Group; (v) the business, marketing and promotion plans of the Group; and (vi) a buffer ranging from 10% to 30% 

for inflation, business growth and unanticipated demand for the services.

3. In December 2019, the Board set the annual caps for this category of continuing connected transactions for the three financial years 

of 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 at HK$77.0 million each year. These annual caps for the STDM chips to be redeemed were 

determined by reference to the outstanding amount of STDM chips in circulation.

 In March 2023, the Board set the annual caps for this category of continuing connected transactions for the three financial years of 

31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 at HK$76.0 million each year. These annual caps for the STDM chips to be redeemed were 

determined by reference to the outstanding amount of STDM chips in circulation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Right to use a Shop Agreement for the Operation of New Yaohan Department Store at 
the Grand Lisboa Palace

Parties to the agreement:
Owner: SJM
User: NYH Gestão de Vendas a Retalho Limitada (“NYH”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STDM

Details of the transaction:

Annual caps 
Date of agreement Description of the transaction and its purpose HK$ million

21 January 2020 •	 SJM	granted	the	rights	to	use	the	shop	to	NYH	for	the	purpose	of	operating	a	
department store under the brand name or style of “New Yaohan” or any 
other name as approved by SJM at a shop located on the second floor of the 
shopping mall, amounting to approximately 166,490 sq.ft, in the Grand 
Lisboa Palace (the “Premises”).

•	 The	 Right	 to	 Use	 a	 Shop	 Agreement	 (“NYH	 Agreement”)	 has	 a	 term	 of	
12 years and 6 months (the “Term”), which shall begin on the 
commencement date, which is 27 July 2021 (the “Commencement Date”).

•	 Neither	SJM	nor	NYH	is	entitled	to	terminate	the	NYH	Agreement	within	the	
first 6 years (after the initial 6-month fee-free period) of the Term. Within the 
remaining 6-year period of the Term, unilateral termination will be applied 
upon fulfillment of certain terms.

•	 The	NYH	Agreement	will	be	automatically	renewed	for	a	period	of	18	months	
upon the expiry of the Term, if neither SJM nor NYH serves a termination 
notice to the other party 18 months prior to the end of the Term.

•	 Grand	opening	date	would	be	the	 later	date	on	which:	 (i)	 the	overall	 fit-out	
works related to the shopping mall having been finished, ready for business 
and open to the public completed to NYH’s satisfaction; (ii) no less than 60% 
of the total gross area of the shopping mall (excluding the area of the 
Premises) has been opened to the public for business; (iii) the casino on the 
ground floor in the Grand Lisboa Palace is in operation; (iv) the majority of the 
hotels and/or rooms in the Grand Lisboa Palace has been opened to the public 
for business; and (v) all the entrances and escalators in the shopping mall 
connecting to the Premises are open to public. SJM would confirm the grand 
opening date of the shopping mall, which shall be at least 6 months after the 
Commencement Date, with NYH at least 1 month in advance by writing.

2022:  91.2
2023:  99.2
2024: 105.5
2025: 109.8
2026: 118.3
2027: 130.2
2028: 134.9
2029: 144.7
2030: 157.4
2031: 161.6
2032: 125.4
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Annual caps 
Date of agreement Description of the transaction and its purpose (Continued) HK$ million

21 January 2020 •	 Starting	from	the	Commencement	Date,	the	monthly	base	fee	for	the	rights	
of use of the Premises (the “Base Fee”) payable by NYH shall be as set 
out below:

Fee-free period
Commencing from the Commencement Date, SJM shall give NYH a fee-free 
period of 6 months.

Years 1 – 3
The base fee for each month will be the turnover fee which will be an amount 
equivalent to 4% of the monthly sales turnover.

Years 4 – 6
The base fee for each month will be an amount equivalent to 4% of the 
monthly sales turnover, subject to the minimum base fee of the average 
turnover fee of years 2 – 3 plus 10% increment.

Years 7 – 9
The base fee for each month will be an amount equivalent to 4.5% of the 
monthly sales turnover, subject to minimum base fee of the average turnover 
fee of years 4 – 6 plus 10% increment.

Years 10 – 12 (or until the end of the Term, if the NYH Agreement is 
automatically renewed)
The base fee for each month will be an amount equivalent to 5% of the 
monthly sales turnover, subject to minimum base fee of the average turnover 
fee of years 7 – 9 plus 10% increment.

Note: Years 1 – 12 above commence after the end of the 6-month fee-free period.

•	 A	fixed	monthly	management	fee	of	approximately	HK$2.1	million	(equivalent	
to HK$12.66 per sq.ft.) per month for the first 3 years of the Term shall be 
payable by NYH and it shall be increased by an amount equivalent to 7.5% at 
the end of each 3-year period.

•	 A	fixed	monthly	promotion	levy	of	approximately	HK$333,000	(equivalent	to	
HK$2.00 per sq.ft.) per month for the first 3 years of the Term shall be 
payable by NYH and it shall be increased by an amount equivalent to 7.5% at 
the end of every 3-year period.

Further details of the above transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 
21 January 2020.

The aggregate amount of transactions under NYH Agreement in 2022 is HK$72.1 million (2021: HK$21.0 million).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Right to use a Shop Agreement for the Operation of New Yaohan Department Store at 
the Grand Lisboa Palace (Continued)

Details of the transaction: (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Premises Leasing Master Agreement with Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and/or  
her associates

Nature and extent of the connected person’s interest in the transaction:
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and/or her associates lease certain premises to members of the Group at rental 
fixed between the parties.

Connected relationship:
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, a Director, and/or her associates which leases certain premises to the members 
of the Group are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Parties to the agreement:
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and the Company

Details of the transaction:

Date of  
agreement Term Description of the transaction and its purpose

Annual caps and 
aggregate amount 
of transactions  
in 2022

23 December 2019 1 January 2020 to  
31 December 2022 (the 
“Relevant Period”) (the 
Company shall have 
the right in its sole 
discretion to renew 
the agreement for 
further three years)

•	 Deputada	 Leong	On	 Kei,	 Angela	 agrees	 to	 lease	 and	
procure her associates to lease certain premises to 
members of the Group subject to the terms and 
conditions of the Premises Leasing Master Agreement 
and the relevant lease implementation agreements.

•	 The	relevant	rental	of	each	premises	shall	not	be	higher	
than the rental for the same or comparable type of 
premises provided by independent third parties in the 
ordinary course of business. The terms and conditions 
on which such premises are to be provided should be 
no less favourable to the Group than those offered by 
independent third parties.

•	 The	 costs	 of	maintenance	 and	 repair	 of	 the	 premises	
shall be borne, as set out in the lease implementation 
agreements, by the relevant member of the Group as 
tenant/lessee in the case of regular maintenance and 
repair of usage deterioration and by Deputada Leong 
On Kei, Angela and/or her relevant associate as 
landlord/lessor in the case of structural repair required 
to maintain the integrity of the premises.

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 48 of 
this Annual Report

3 March 2023 
(renewal of  
the Premises  
Leasing Master 
Agreement dated  
23 December 2019)

1 January 2023 to  
31 December 2025  
(the Company shall 
have the right in its 
sole discretion to 
renew the agreement 
for further three 
years)

•	 Same	as	the	Premises	Leasing	Master	Agreement	dated	 
23 December 2019.

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 48 of 
this Annual Report

Further details of the said transaction were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 23 December 
2019 and 3 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Premises Leasing Master Agreement with Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and/or her 
associates (Continued)

Annual Caps and Aggregate Amount Table:

Aggregate 
amount for 

the year 
ended 

31 December 
2022

Annual cap 
for the year 

ended 
31 December 

2022

Annual cap 
for the year 

ending 
31 December 

2023

Annual cap 
for the year 

ending 
31 December 

2024

Annual cap 
for the year 

ending
 31 December 

2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(audited)

Annual rentals (Notes) 6.0 9.0 37.4 3.0 3.0

Notes:

1. The annual caps for 2020 to 2022 were determined by reference to (i) the leases entered into between the Group and Deputada 

Leong On Kei, Angela and/or her associates under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 14 December 2016; (ii) the expected 

renewals of certain existing leases under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 14 December 2016 during the Relevant 

Period; (iii) the estimated rental adjustments to be made to the renewed leases; (iv) the adoption of HKFRS 16 “Lease” for renewed 

leases; (v) the estimated premises related fees and charges payable to Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and/or her associates; and 

(vi) a buffer for any unanticipated fluctuations of market rental (including property management fee, if applicable) and any unexpected 

fees and charges incidental to the transactions contemplated under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement as well as any additional 

leases to be entered pursuant to the Premises Leasing Master Agreement during the Relevant Period.

2. The annual caps for 2023 to 2025 were determined by reference to (i) the existing leases entered into between the Group and 

Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela and/or her associates under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 23 December 2019; 

(ii) the expected renewals of certain existing leases under the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 23 December 2019 during 

the year ending 31 December 2023; (iii) the estimated rental adjustments to be made to the renewed leases; (iv) the application of 

HKFRS 16 “Lease” for renewed leases; (v) the estimated premises related fees and charges payable to Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 

and/or her associates; and (vi) a buffer of HK$3.0 million for any unanticipated fluctuations of market rental (including property 

management fee, if applicable) and any unexpected fees and charges incidental to the transactions contemplated under the Premises 

Leasing Master Agreement as well as any additional leases to be entered pursuant to the Premises Leasing Master Agreement dated 

3 March 2023 during 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

L’Arc Services Agreement for the Provision of Services and Licensing for Occupation and 
Use of Spaces in L’Arc Hotel for the Operation of a Casino

Nature and extent of the connected person’s interest in the transaction:
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela indirectly wholly owns L’Arc Entertainment Group Company Limited (“L’Arc 
Entertainment”) which is one of the Group’s service providers for its casino operations in Macau. L’Arc 
Entertainment provides support services in relation to marketing, promotion, customer development and 
introduction, etc. to SJM as well as to authorise SJM to occupy and use the designated area of the L’Arc Hotel 
for the operation of a casino in return of a monthly fee pursuant to a prescribed formula agreed between  
the parties.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

L’Arc Services Agreement for the Provision of Services and Licensing for Occupation and 
Use of Spaces in L’Arc Hotel for the Operation of a Casino (Continued)

Connected relationship:
After completion of acquisition of the remaining shareholding in holding companies of L’Arc Entertainment by 
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, a Director, on 17 May 2021, L’Arc Entertainment becomes indirectly wholly 
owned by Deputada Leong and is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Parties to the agreement:
SJM and L’Arc Entertainment

Details of the transaction:

Date of agreement Term Description of the transaction and its purpose

Annual caps and 
aggregate amount 
of transactions  
in 2022

21 September 2009  
(as supplemented  
by addendums  
dated  
27 January 2010,  
22 October 2010,  
4 February 2016,  
4 January 2017,  
18 December 2017,  
6 May 2020 and  
17 June 2022)

Until  
31 December 2022

•	 L’Arc	Entertainment	agreed	to	provide	support	services	
to SJM in relation to marketing, promotion, customer 
development and introduction, etc. (the “Services”), as 
well as to authorise SJM to occupy and use the 
designated area of the L’Arc Hotel for the operation  
of a casino, including mass market, VIP room and  
slot machines.

•	 L’Arc	 Entertainment	 is	 entitled	 to	 a	 monthly	 fee	
pursuant to a prescribed formula set forth in the L’Arc 
Services Agreement, which is determined based on a 
fixed percentage of the gross gaming revenue of the 
relevant gaming sectors in the casino and after 
deducting all relevant costs and expenses for provision 
of the Services.

•	 Given	 the	 extra	 costs	 incurred	 by	 SJM	 to	 maintain	 
its concession contract until June 2022, L’Arc 
Entertainment agreed to pay to SJM a fee of 
approximately MOP17.5 million (equivalent to 
approximately HK$17.0 million) upon the execution of 
the addendum to the L’Arc Services Agreement dated 
6 May 2020.

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 50 of 
this Annual Report

30 December 2022 
(renewal of the  
L’Arc Services 
Agreement dated  
21 September 2009 
and its addendums)

1 January 2023  
to  
31 December 2025

•	 Same	 as	 the	 L’Arc	 Services	 Agreement	 dated	 
21 September 2009 and its addendums except no 
extra costs to be paid by L’Arc Entertainment for new 
gaming concession of SJM.

See “Annual Caps and 
Aggregate Amount 
Table” on page 50 of 
this Annual Report

Further details of the above transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 17 May 
2021 and 28 February 2023. 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

L’Arc Services Agreement for the Provision of Services and Licensing for Occupation and 
Use of Spaces in L’Arc Hotel for the Operation of a Casino (Continued)

Annual Caps and Aggregate Amount Table:

Aggregate
amount for

the year
ended

31 December
2022

Annual cap
for the year

ending
31 December

2023

Annual cap
for the year

ending
31 December

2024

Annual cap
for the year

ending
31 December

2025
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(audited)

Service fees paid/payable to or (reimbursed by)  
L’Arc Entertainment (124.1) 253.1 351.7 450.1

Note: The Annual Caps were determined by reference to a number of factors including but not limited to: (i) the historical gross gaming 

revenue of the mass market in the Casino L’Arc Macau in 2019, which was before the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic; (ii) the 

expected recovery of visitor arrivals and gaming revenue in Macau in the coming few years; (iii) the number of gaming tables in the 

Casino L’Arc Macau in the past and during the three years ending 31 December 2025; (iv) the percentage of gross gaming revenue of 

the mass market of the Casino L’Arc Macau as stipulated in the Renewed L’Arc Services Agreement; (v) the actual costs and expenses 

for provision of the Services for January 2023; and (vi) a buffer of 15% for inflation and unanticipated growth in the gross gaming 

revenue of the Casino L’Arc Macau.

REVIEW BY AUDITOR

Under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the above transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of 
the Group and require disclosure in the annual report of the Company.

The Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (the “Auditor”), was engaged to report on the Group’s 
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 
(Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with 
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised), Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the 
Listing Rules issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Auditor has issued an unqualified 
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by 
the Group on pages 39 to 50 of this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy 
of the Auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Auditor has confirmed that for the year 2022:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

(ii) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their 
attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance 
with the pricing policies of the Company;
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REVIEW BY AUDITOR (Continued)

(iii) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered 
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected transactions set out above, 
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 
transactions have exceeded the maximum aggregate annual value disclosed in the previous announcements 
dated 23 December 2019 and 21 January 2021 made by the Company in respect of each of the disclosed 
continuing connected transactions.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed these transactions and the report of the Auditor and 
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or, on terms no less favourable to the Company than the terms 
available to and from (as appropriate) independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

At a meeting of the Audit Committee held on 8 March 2023, all the Independent Non-executive Directors 
reviewed and confirmed compliance with an agreement between SJM and STDM dated 18 June 2008 regarding 
the honouring and borrowing of STDM chips for the purpose of SJM’s casino gaming operations. During the 
year ended 31 December 2022, the net amount received and receivable on reimbursement of STDM chips in 
circulation amounted to HK$0.1 million.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 42 
to the Financial Statements prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The related 
party transactions referred in notes 42(b) to 42(h) and 42(m) constitute continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and all such related party transactions 
comply with the requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

The Group recognises revenue from customers by conducting the following principal businesses:

(i) gaming operations
(ii) hotel, catering and retail operations
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the following Directors of the Company had interests in the following 
businesses (apart from the businesses of the Group) conducted through the companies named below, their 
subsidiaries, associated companies or other investment forms which are considered to compete or be likely to 
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal businesses of the Group conducted during the year 
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules:

Name of Directors

Name of Company/ 
Partnership/ 
Sole Proprietorship

Interest in the 
Competing Business

Nature of 
Competing Business

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy Sociedade de Turismo e 
Diversões de Macau, S.A. 
(“STDM”)

•	 Appointed	representative	of	
Lanceford Company Limited,  
a corporate director of STDM

Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Shun Tak Holdings Limited •	 Executive	director	and	deputy	
managing director

Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Leong On Kei, Angela STDM •	 Director Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Macau Horse Racing Company 
Limited

•	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Catering business in Macau

Arc of Triumph Development 
Company Limited

•	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Hospitality and catering 
business in Macau

L’Arc Entertainment Group 
Company Limited

•	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Provision of gaming services

Macau Hotel Company Limited 
(Trade name “Regency Art 
Hotel”)

•	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Hospitality and catering 
business in Macau

Macau Theme Park and Resort 
Limited

•	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Sociedade Hoteleira e de 
Turismo S.Tiago, Limitada

•	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Hospitality and catering 
business in Macau

New Mario Bakery Limited •	 Director Catering business in Macau

So Shu Fai Macau Horse Racing Company 
Limited

•	 Director Catering business in Macau

Chan Un Chan STDM •	 Director
•	 Substantial	shareholder

Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Macau Legend Development 
Limited

•	 Substantial	shareholder •	 Provision	of	gaming	services
•	 Hospitality,	catering	and	

retail business in Macau

Shum Hong Kuen, David STDM •	 Director Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Shun Tak Holdings Limited •	 Executive	director Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Tsang On Yip, Patrick STDM •	 Appointed	representative	of	 
Many Town Company Limited,  
a corporate director of STDM

Hospitality, catering and retail 
business in Macau

Chow Tai Fook Enterprises 
Limited

•	 Director	and	chief	executive	officer Hospitality and catering 
business in Macau

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors is interested in any businesses apart from the businesses of the 
Company or its subsidiaries, which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal 
businesses of the Company or its subsidiaries during the year which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the 
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF ExECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, interests and short positions of each Director and the chief executives of the Company 
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or 
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the 
Listing Rules, are as follows:

Interests in Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company

Name of Directors Capacity
Long/short 
position

No. of 
Shares held

No. of 
underlying 

Shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
issued Shares 

(Note 2)

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy Beneficial owner Long position 22,299,120 — 0.31%
Beneficial owner Long position — 1,605,000 

(Note 1)

0.03%

22,299,120 1,605,000 0.34%

Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy Beneficial owner Long position 3,750,000 — 0.05%
Beneficial owner Long position — 3,210,000 

(Note 1)

0.05%

3,750,000 3,210,000 0.10%

Leong On Kei, Angela Beneficial owner Long position 574,269,099 — 8.09%
Beneficial owner Long position — 32,100,000 

(Note 1)

0.45%

574,269,099 32,100,000 8.54%

So Shu Fai Beneficial owner Long position 155,211,165 — 2.19%
Beneficial owner Long position — 37,450,000 

(Note 1)

0.52%

155,211,165 37,450,000 2.71%

Tse Hau Yin Beneficial owner Long position 638,140 — 0.01%
Beneficial owner Long position — 535,000 

(Note 1)

0.01%

638,140 535,000 0.02%

Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner Long position 2,542,500 — 0.03%
Beneficial owner Long position — 3,210,000 

(Note 1)

0.05%

2,542,500 3,210,000 0.08%
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Name of Directors Capacity
Long/short 
position

No. of 
Shares held

No. of 
underlying 

Shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
issued Shares 

(Note 2)

Shum Hong Kuen, David Beneficial owner Long position 7,500,000 — 0.11%
Beneficial owner Long position — 3,210,000 

(Note 1)

0.04%

7,500,000 3,210,000 0.15%

Notes:

1. These represent the interests in underlying Shares in respect of Options granted by the Company, the details of which are stated in 

section “Share Option Scheme” above.

2. The percentage has been calculated based on 7,101,805,366 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of associated corporations

Sociedade de Turismo e Diversões de Macau, S.A.

Name of Directors Capacity
Long/short 
position

No. of shares held

Approximate
percentage

of issued
share capitalOrdinary Privileged Total

Leong On Kei, Angela Beneficial owner Long position 637 5,215 5,852 6.86%

Chan Un Chan Beneficial owner Long position 5,204 8,271 13,475 15.806%

Shum Hong Kuen, David Beneficial owner Long position 1,004 — 1,004 1.18%

SJM Resorts, S.A.

Name of Director Capacity
Long/short  
position

No. of 
shares held 

(Type B shares)

Approximate 
percentage  

of issued  
share capital

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy Beneficial owner Long position 7,500,000 15.00%

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF ExECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Interests in Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company (Continued)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF ExECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures of associated corporations 
(Continued)

Champion Path Holdings Limited (“Champion Path”)

Name of Directors Debentures Capacity
Amount of 

debentures held

Approximate 
percentage 

to the 
total amount 

of debentures 
in issue

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 2026 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 1)

Beneficial owner US$5,000,000 1.0%

2028 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 2)

Beneficial owner US$5,000,000 1.0%

Leong On Kei, Angela 2026 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 1)

Beneficial owner US$10,000,000 2.0%

2028 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 2)

Beneficial owner US$5,000,000 1.0%

Founder of a  
discretionary  
trust (Note 3)

US$21,000,000 4.2%

US$26,000,000 5.2%

So Shu Fai 2026 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 1)

Beneficial owner US$10,000,000 2.0%

2028 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 2)

Beneficial owner US$5,000,000 1.0%

Chan Un Chan 2028 US$ Senior Notes 
(Note 2)

Beneficial owner US$12,500,000 2.5%

Notes:

1. These debentures (US$500,000,000 4.50% Senior Notes Due 2026) issued by Champion Path (“2026 US$ Senior Notes”) are listed on 

the Stock Exchange and are freely transferable but not convertible into shares of Champion Path or any other corporation. The 

minimum denomination of the 2026 US$ Senior Notes is US$200,000 of principal amount and integral multiplies of US$1,000 in 

excess thereof. The 2026 US$ Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations in registered form.

2. These debentures (US$500,000,000 4.85% Senior Notes Due 2028) issued by Champion Path (“2028 US$ Senior Notes”) are listed on 

the Stock Exchange and are freely transferable but not convertible into shares of Champion Path or any other corporation. The 

minimum denomination of the 2028 US$ Senior Notes is US$200,000 of principal amount and integral multiplies of US$1,000 in 

excess thereof. The 2028 US$ Senior Notes are senior unsecured obligations in registered form.

3. These 2028 US$ Senior Notes are beneficially owned by Dr. Stanley Ho Foundation, a founder of which is Deputada  

Leong On Kei, Angela.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACqUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to any Director, as of 31 December 2022 , none of the Directors or 
the chief executives of the Company had, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, nor were they 
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, any interest or short position in any shares or 
underlying shares or interests in debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, or 
any interest which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into the register referred to 
therein, or any interests which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company contain a permitted indemnity provision which is in force for the 
benefit of all Directors and directors of associated companies (as defined in the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)) 
of the Company.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, details of substantial Shareholders’ and other persons’ (who are required to disclose 
their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares 
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

Name of substantial 
Shareholders Capacity

Long/short 
position

No. of 
Shares held

No. of 
underlying 

Shares held

Approximate 
percentage of 
issued Shares

(Note 3)

Sociedade de Turismo e 
Diversões de Macau, S.A. 
(“STDM”)

Beneficial owner and  
its controlled 
corporation (Note 1)

Long position 3,892,610,855 504,232,804 
(Note 2)

61.91%

Leong On Kei, Angela Beneficial owner Long position 574,269,099 32,100,000 
(Note 4)

8.54%

Notes:

1. 68,841,250 Shares are directly held by Konrad Investments Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STDM through Bounty Rich 
Holdings Limited.

2. These represent the interests in underlying Shares in respect of Convertible Bond in the principal amount of HK$1,906 million at 
2% coupon rate with 5-year maturity issued by Champion Power, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The details of which are 
stated in the section “Convertible Bond issued under Specific Mandate” above.

3. The percentage has been calculated based on 7,101,805,366 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

4. These represent the interests in underlying Shares in respect of the Options granted by the Company, the details of which are stated in 
the section “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had not been notified by any persons (other 
than a Director or the chief executives of the Company) of any interest or short position in Shares and underlying 
Shares which were required to be recorded in the register kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS BY STDM

Pursuant to the deed of Non-Competition Undertaking dated 18 June 2008, STDM has undertaken with the 
Company that (i) for the period in which the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and STDM remains the 
controlling Shareholder, STDM will not compete with the operation of casino gaming businesses of SJM in 
Macau and (ii) it will not increase its interest in Melco. Furthermore, STDM has also undertaken with SJM that if 
it becomes aware of any venue in Macau that is suitable for casino or slot machine operations, it will notify the 
Company of such opportunity.

At a meeting of the Audit Committee held on 8 March 2023, all the Independent Non-executive Directors 
reviewed the confirmation from STDM in respect of the Non-Competition Undertaking, and confirmed 
compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking provided by STDM.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the 1,420,361,073 Rights Shares issued by the Company as part of the Rights Issue, neither the 
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities during the year 
ended 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as 
at the date of this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the  
Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” 
on pages 61 to 94 of this Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company was entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

Major Suppliers

Under SJM’s business arrangements with gaming promoters, SJM regularly provides allowances for 
transportation, hotel accommodation and food and beverage for their customers. Accordingly, some of the 
major suppliers of the Group provide SJM with products and services such as hotel rooms and catering services 
as well as construction, repair and maintenance.

During the year, 33.86% of the Group’s purchases was attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers 
combined as below:

(i) Companhia de Electricidade de Macau – CEM, S.A., which provides SJM with electricity, accounted for 
15.24% of the Group’s total purchases;

(ii) Detection Security Systems (Macau) Co. Ltd., which provides SJM with technology and maintenance 
services, accounted for 6.31% of the Group’s total purchases;

(iii) MMC ShunTak Insurance Brokers Limited, which provides SJM with insurance, accounted for 5.35% of the 
Group’s total purchases;

(iv) Angel Playing Cards Co., Ltd., which supplies SJM with playing cards, accounted for 5.35% of the Group’s 
total purchases; and

(v) HKBN JOS (Macau) Limited, which provides SJM with technology and maintenance services, accounted for 1.6% 
of the Group’s total purchases.

Major Customers

During the year, the Group’s turnover or sales attributable to the five largest customers was below 30%.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS OF THE GROUP

The Group’s success is dependent on its relationships with employees and customers, and to a lesser extent with 
principal suppliers. The Group strives to maintain harmonious and ethical relationships with each category, as 
reflected in the Company’s Code of Conduct.

During the Reporting Period, there was no significant change in or adverse impact on key relationships with 
employees, customers and suppliers of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company believes that sound environmental policies and performance are critically important to the 
sustainable development of our business and to our community.

The Board is responsible for our environmental policy, as part of the Group’s overall strategy and reporting of 
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) activities. The Group is committed to minimising any adverse 
impact that its operations may have on the environment. The Group has implemented environment-friendly 
measures such as installation of LED lighting and adoption of electronic processes to reduce the use of paper. 
We prioritise the use of recycled materials, from both internal and external sources, to produce corporate 
stationery for internal use and documents published for external consumption, as well as items from non-paper 
sources, where feasible. The Group also replaces the use of diesel-fuelled shuttle buses with those fuelled by 
natural gas and electricity.

For the hotel portions of the Grand Lisboa Palace, we achieved U.S. Green Building Council Leadership in Energy 
and Environmental Design (LEED) Silver Certification. Hotel room control units at Grand Lisboa Palace will be 
enabled for automatic control of lighting, room air conditioning and window curtains for energy saving.

We have deployed various energy-saving and clean-air initiatives to help reduce our carbon footprint. For several 
years, the Company has supported the Carbon Footprint Repository for Hong Kong-listed companies initiated by 
the Environment Protection Department of the Hong Kong Government (the “EPD”). We submitted a carbon 
emissions report for our offices in Hong Kong for such purpose in 2021, which is available on the EPD’s website 
(http://www.carbon-footprint.hk).

To enhance the policies and performance in environmental aspects of the Group, an external consultant was 
engaged in 2020 to review and make recommendations on the sustainability governance structure, strategy and 
policies of the Group. A Sustainability Steering Committee chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, consisting of 
senior executives of the Group as a majority of members, considers sustainability issues. The Sustainability 
Steering Committee is also responsible for compliance with the environmental protection policies required by the 
Environmental Protection Bureau of the Macau Government.

Further disclosures relating to ESG issues identified for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 are included 
in the Company’s ESG Report dated 8 March 2023 pursuant to the requirements of Appendix 27 of the  
Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS HAVING A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON 
THE GROUP

Numerous laws and regulations can have significant impact on the Group, including laws and regulations in 
Macau related to Anti-Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing, Control of Cross Border Transportation of 
Cash, Access to Casinos and Gaming Areas, Cybersecurity, Personal Data, Foreign Exchange, Smoking and other 
areas. In addition to corporate legal teams in Macau and Hong Kong, the Group has a Compliance Department 
in Macau headed by a Chief Compliance Officer, to ensure that the Group is up-to-date and in compliance with 
laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any cases of non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that had a material impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years 
ended 31 December 2022 is set out on page 203 of this Annual Report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been 
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company until the conclusion 
of the next annual general meeting is to be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

By order of the Board of Directors
SJM Holdings Limited

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance practices and its management 
team has strived to uphold the highest standards of corporate governance and transparency.

The Company has adopted its own code of corporate governance based on the principles of good corporate 
governance and code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Part 2 of 
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has complied with all the code provisions of the CG 
Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

LINKAGE BETWEEN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE

The Board has been focusing on creating long-term sustainable growth for Shareholders and delivering long-
term values to all stakeholders. In addition to corporate governance structure, the Board has developed a 
framework for the Company to identify and consider what environmental risks and social risks which may be 
material to it. It has set up a Sustainability Steering Committee chaired by the Chief Executive Officer and consists 
of senior executives of the Group as a majority of members. The primary purpose and responsibility of the 
Sustainability Steering Committee is to advise the Board, through Executive Committee of the Board or, when 
requested, directly to ensure the Group’s business strategy takes sustainability into consideration and assist the 
Board in fulfilling the oversight responsibility in relation to sustainability matters of the Group. The Sustainability 
Steering Committee is also responsible for compliance with the environmental protection policies required by the 
Environmental Protection Bureau of the Macau Government.

Further disclosures relating to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues identified for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2022 are included in the Company’s ESG Report dated 8 March 2023 pursuant to the 
requirements of Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Directors
of the Company

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 
of Listed Issuers as set out in the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all Directors have 
complied with the required standards as stated in the Model Code for the year 
ended 31 December 2022.

Relevant employees
of the Company

The Board has formalised in writing guidelines on no less exacting terms than the 
Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings in the securities of 
the Company.

Relevant employees include any employee of the Company or a director or employee 
of a subsidiary or holding company of the Company and, because of such office  
or employment, possesses inside information in relation to the Company or  
its securities.
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CORPORATE PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGIES AND CULTURE

The Board takes a leading role in setting the tones and defining the Company’s purpose, values and strategies, 
and developing the desire culture to support the Company’s pursuit of success. It should continuously monitor 
and evaluate the Company’s culture to ensure that it aligns with the Company’s purpose, values and strategies 
and keeps up with the changing business landscape.

As a leading owner, operator and developer of casinos and integrated entertainment resorts in Macau, the 
Group always strives to achieve sustainable long-term growth in shareholder value by delivering top-tier casino 
gaming, leisure entertainment and hospitality services to customers. With this purpose in mind, the Board has 
established five core values which guide every actions and decisions of the Group and our employees. These 
values are embedded into the Company’s culture as well.

Our Values

Excellence: We strive to deliver excellence in service to our customers.

Long-Term View: We look beyond the present to deliver future value.

Passion: We are passionate about our business.

Integrity: We act in good faith with all of our stakeholders.

Caring: We care about people and society.

Our Culture

We apply the highest standards of excellence to casino gaming, leisure 
entertainment and hospitality services to customers.

We recognise that profitability is essential to our future success.

We strive for customer satisfaction all of the time.

We provide a supportive work environment and treat each other with 
respect and dignity.

We recognise and appreciate the hard work and contribution by 
employees.

We contribute positively to our communities and the environment.

Our Strategies

We will continue to build, own and manage or invest in casinos and related 
businesses in Macau, as permitted by government regulation.

We will continue to improve our existing businesses in a cost-effective and 
sustainable way.

We will remain focused principally on Macau, while selectively considering 
opportunities for future expansion in the Asian region.

We will maintain a strong financial position, with a view to sustainable 
long-term growth.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is governed by the Board which is responsible for directing and supervising its affairs and 
overseeing the business, strategic decision and performance of the Group. Execution of the Board’s decisions 
and daily operations are delegated to the management. The functions reserved to the Board and those delegated 
to management have been formalised in writing. The Board will review those arrangements on a periodic basis 
to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity appropriate for the requirements of the business of 
the Group. During the year and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as follows:

The Board
(including corporate governance functions)

(Total no. of Directors: 11 (Note 1))

Executive Directors
(also being the senior 
management of the Company) Non-executive Director

Independent Non-executive 
Directors

Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 
(Chairman)

Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 
(Co-Chairman)

Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 
(Co-Chairman)

Dr. So Shu Fai (Note 5) 
(Vice-Chairman and  
Chief Executive Officer)

Dr. Chan Un Chan
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick
Mr. Ng Chi Sing 

(retired on 15 June 2022)

Mr. Tse Hau Yin (Note 3)

Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman 

(elected on 15 June 2022)
Mr. Chau Tak Hay 

(retired on 15 June 2022)

Existing number: 6 Existing number: 1 Existing number: 4 (Note 2)

% to total Directors: 54.5% % to total Directors: 9.1% % to total Directors: 36.4% (Note 4)

Notes:

1. Maximum number of Directors: 12 (Article 80 of the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”))

2. Minimum number of Independent Non-executive Directors: 3 (Listing Rule 3.10(1))

3. One Independent Non-executive Director having accounting expertise (Listing Rule 3.10(2))

4. Independent Non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board (Listing Rule 3.10A)

5. Dr. So Shu Fai will retire as a Director of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 15 June 2023  

(“2023 AGM”) and does not offer himself for re-election. Upon retirement as a Director of the Company at the conclusion of the 

2023 AGM, Dr. So Shu Fai will cease to be Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and Non-executive Directors (including Independent 
Non-executive Directors) and more than one-third of the Directors are Independent Non-executive Directors so 
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.
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BOARD INDEPENDENT VIEWS MECHANISMS

The Company has established the following mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to 
the Board:

 
Board Independent Views Mechanisms

The Directors shall apply fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and diligence to the Company. To fulfill the 
responsibilities as a Director, he/she shall proactively express his/her independent views and input to the Board, 
either verbally or in writing, which are in the interests of the Company.

The Chairman should promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of 
Directors. He/She should ensure that Directors feel at ease to express their views and input to the Board.

At any time any Director may, and the Company Secretary on requisition of any Director shall, summon a 
meeting of the Board. The Chairman should ensure that all Directors are given an opportunity to include matters 
in the agenda for Board meetings.

The Chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the 
presence of other Directors. When necessary, Independent Non-executive Directors can request for additional 
meeting(s) with the Chairman individually or jointly with other Independent Non-executive Directors to express 
their views and input.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has determined 
to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution. 
Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the 
transaction should be present at that Board meeting to express their views and input on the matter.

For a Director who has conflict of interest in a matter with the Company and/or its subsidiaries, he/she shall be 
absent from the Board meeting so that the other Directors can express their views and input at the Board 
meeting freely.

Directors, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist them in the performance of their duties to the Company.

Any director who raises his/her serious concern about any suspected fraud, malpractice, misconduct or 
irregularity of the Company and/or its subsidiaries shall have the matter investigated according to the 
Whistleblowing Policy adopted by the Board.

The Board should review the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanisms on an annual basis.

On 8 March 2023, the Board reviewed and was of the view that the implementation and effectiveness of the 
above mechanisms were conducted satisfactorily during the year.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy for the Company in 2013 which stipulates that for identifying 
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, the Nomination Committee should consider the benefits of all 
aspects of diversity including, but not limited to, a number of factors, such as gender, age, race, cultural and 
educational background, professional experience and industry and business-related experience, in order to 
maintain an appropriate range of balance of skills, experience and background on the Board. All appointments 
of Directors should have taken into account the aforesaid factors as a whole for the benefit of the Company. The 
Nomination Committee will regularly discuss and, if appropriate, agree on any measurable objective for achieving 
diversity on the Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY (Continued)

The Board diversity mix as at 31 December 2022 is shown below while their biographical details are set out on 
pages 16 to 23 of this Annual Report.
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Board Diversity Mix
Number of Directors

Designation Age Gender Board tenure
(Number of years)

Directorship 
with other 

public companies 
(Number of 
companies)

Remarks: 
ED: Executive Director
NED: Non-executive Director
INED: Independent Non-executive Director

INED

Male

Female

NED

ED

Above 70

Below 60

Between
60 and 70

3 – 5

0 – 2

Above 10

Below 5

The Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity 
Policy on 8 March 2023. They were of the view that the Board achieved a satisfactory degree of diversity  
and therefore no measurable objective for Board diversity would be set and the Board Diversity Policy would 
remain unchanged.

As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised 4 female Directors and 7 male Directors. The Board considers 
that the gender diversity in respect of the Board is satisfactory. To support the raise of awareness of gender 
mainstreaming in the community, the Company joined the Gender Focal Point Network for listed companies set 
up by the Labour and Welfare Bureau and the Women’s Commission in Hong Kong in 2016.

The Group embraces gender diversity in building the workforce. In the recruitment process, the Group ensures 
every candidate is treated fairly regardless of the gender. We hire the best for openings and consider candidates’ 
qualifications, background and experience, job knowledge as assessed in the selection process, without prejudice 
on gender. We pay employees equally regardless of gender, and all employees are given with the same 
promotional opportunities. In SJM’s workforce, we have a relatively balanced level of the gender (including 
senior management), of which male is approximately 46% and female is approximately 54%.

We believe male and female have different strengths, viewpoints, ideas, and business insights, thus gender 
diversity in management level enables better problem solving and strategy formulation in the Company. 
Compare with non-operational departments of SJM, female management (approximately 37%) is significantly 
less than male management (approximately 63%) in operation departments. Development of women leadership 
is becoming essential in operational departments. Female leaders generally can demonstrate strong emotional 
intelligence, including a positive work ethic, effective communications with empathy, critical thinking and 
ultimately leads to better performance counseling for employee and better service delivery to our customers. The 
Group strives to develop female leaders through management development program as part of our succession 
planning, particularly in operational departments.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF ExECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated and not performed by the same 
individual. Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy is the Chairman of the Board and Dr. So Shu Fai is the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company. The Chairman is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s overall business 
development policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the overall management of the Group’s 
business. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer has been clearly 
established and set out in writing.

1 2 3 4 5

6 7 8 9 10

Chairman

Ensures that 
Directors receive, 

in a timely 
manner, 
adequate 

information 
which must be 
accurate, clear, 
complete and 

reliable

Ensures that the 
Board works 

effectively and 
performs its 

responsibilities, 
and that all key 
and appropriate 

issues are 
discussed by it in 
a timely manner

Encourages all 
Directors to 

make a full and 
active 

contribution to 
the Board’s 

affairs and takes 
the lead to 

ensure that it 
acts in the best 
interests of the 

Company

Encourages 
Directors with 
different views 
to voice their 

concerns, allows 
suf�cient time 

for discussion of 
issues and 

ensures that 
Board decisions 

fairly re�ect 
Board consensus

Primarily 
responsible for 
drawing up and 
approving the 

agenda for each 
Board meeting 

taking into 
account, where 
appropriate, any 

matters 
proposed by the 
other Directors 
for inclusion in 

the agenda

Ensures that all 
Directors are 

properly briefed 
on issues raised 

at Board 
meetings

Takes primary 
responsibility for 

ensuring that 
good corporate 

governance 
practices and 

procedures are 
established

Takes 
appropriate 

steps to provide 
effective 

communication 
with 

Shareholders 
and ensures that 
their views are 
communicated 
to the Board as 

a whole

At least annually 
holds meetings 

with the 
Independent 

Non-executive 
Directors 

without the 
presence of 

other Directors

Promotes a culture 
of openness and 

debate by 
facilitating the 

effective 
contribution of 
Non-executive 

Directors in 
particular and 

ensuring 
constructive 

relations between 
Executive and 
Non-executive 

Directors 

Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy is responsible for the roles of the Chairman mentioned in items 1 to 10 above. Dr. So 
Shu Fai is one of the principal contact persons for the Company’s investor relations functions.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

According to the Articles, the Board has the power to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a causal 
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. The power to appoint any person as a Director is subject to election by 
Shareholders at the first annual general meeting after his/her appointment. No person (other than a retiring 
Director) shall be appointed or re-appointed at any general meeting unless:

(i) he/she is recommended by the Board; or

(ii) not earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and not later than seven 
days prior to the date appointed for the general meeting there has been left at the Company’s registered 
office for the time being a letter, signed by at least two Shareholders (other than the person to be 
proposed) entitled to vote at the general meeting together holding not less than ten per cent. of the entire 
issued Shares, notice of his intention to propose a resolution for the appointment or re-appointment of that 
person and a notice executed by that person of his willingness to be appointed or re-appointed.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for considering the suitability of individuals to act as a Director and to 
make recommendations to the Board on appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Articles specify that at each annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors shall retire 
but shall be eligible for re-election. In determining which Directors shall retire, the Board will make sure that 
every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to rotation at least once every 
three years. At the 2023 AGM, the following Directors will retire from the Board by rotation pursuant to 
Article 95:

Executive Directors : Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Dr. So Shu Fai

Except for Dr. So Shu Fai who does not offer himself for re-election, other retiring Directors Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, 
Daisy, Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy and Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, all being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election at the 2023 AGM.

The biographical details of the retiring Directors who offered themselves for re-election and the recommendation 
of the Board for their re-election will be set out in a circular to be dated on or around 28 April 2023 for  
despatch to Shareholders.
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NON-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with no fixed term but 
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles as amended from time to time and the 
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for 
a term of three years which shall either:

(i) end in any event on (a) the date of the third annual general meeting after the first election as an 
Independent Non-executive Director by Shareholders in the annual general meeting; or (b) the date on 
which an Independent Non-executive Director shall retire by rotation, whichever is the earlier; or

(ii) subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles as amended from time to time and the 
requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) are highly skilled professionals with 
expertise and experience in the field of financial management, business development or strategies related to the 
Group’s business. They bring independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy and performance, 
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conduct, and enable the Board to maintain high 
standards of compliance with financial and other mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate 
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors and other Non-executive Directors have given a positive contribution to the 
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent, constructive and informed 
comments. They have given the Board and any Board committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills, 
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular attendance and active participation. Save 
for Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard, all other Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive 
Directors) attended the annual general meeting of the Company held on 15 June 2022 (the “2022 AGM”).

Other roles of Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) include:

(i) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise;

(ii) serving on the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and other Board committees; and

(iii) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring 
reporting of performance.

All Independent Non-executive Directors have met all of the guidelines for assessing independence set out in 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of them an annual written confirmation of 
his/her independence and considers each of them to be independent.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have been expressly identified as such in all corporate communications 
that disclose the names of Directors. The Company has been maintaining the number of Independent Non-
executive Directors at least one-third of the number of the Board members and has ensured that the Board 
contains an Independent Non-executive Director with appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or 
related financial management expertise.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

Management of 
the Company

updates the Directors on 
their duties and 

responsibilities as well as 
the conduct, business 

activities and development 
of the Group

supplies the 
Directors and Board 

committees with 
adequate, complete and 
reliable information in a 
timely manner to enable 
them to make informed 

decisions

provides suf�cient 
explanation and 

information to the Board 
to enable it to make an 
informed assessment of 

�nancial and other 
information put 

before it for 
approval

supplies additional 
information that is 

volunteered by it upon 
any request and 
enquiry by the 

Directors

provides 
timely updates on 

changes in laws and 
compliance issues 

relevant to the Group 
and appropriate 

information on the 
Group’s business and 

activities to our 
Directors

The Board and each Director have separate and independent access to the senior management, Chief Legal 
Counsel and Company Secretary, whenever necessary, for any information relevant to the Group they may 
require in discharging their duties.

Given the essential unitary nature of the Board, the Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and 
skill and fiduciary duties as the Executive Directors. Every Director is aware that he/she should devote sufficient 
time and attention to the affairs of the Company, and make contributions to the Company that are 
commensurate with his/her role and Board responsibilities. The Directors have disclosed the identity of the public 
companies or organisations and an indication of the time involved to the Board and the Board has confirmed 
that the Directors have spent sufficient time performing their duties in the Company. The Board has established 
a written procedure to enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Company has formal letters of appointment for Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their 
appointment. The Company has arranged Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of any legal action 
against Directors.
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PRACTICE AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS

The Company is responsible to ensure that Directors can participate in Board proceedings in a meaningful and 
effective manner. Notices of Board meetings are usually served to all Directors before the meeting in accordance 
with the Articles. Notice of at least 14 days is given for regular Board meetings to give all Directors an 
opportunity to attend. Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. Board meeting agenda and 
papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors in a timely 
manner and at least three days or such other agreed period before the intended date of a Board or Board 
committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the 
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials, prepared in such form and quality 
sufficient to enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed before it. Where any Director 
requires more information that is volunteered by management, that Director can make further enquires where 
necessary. Queries raised by the Directors will be responded promptly and fully, if possible. All Directors have 
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and 
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all Board meetings and Board committee meetings 
which record in sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by 
Directors or dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft minutes are circulated to Directors for comment within a 
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection and/or is sent to them 
for records, if necessary.

According to current Board practice, any material transaction that involves a conflict of interests for a substantial 
Shareholder or a Director will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution at which 
the Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction 
should be present at that Board meeting. The interested Director is required to abstain from voting and will not 
be counted in the quorum, except as permitted under the Articles. In addition, he/she shall be physically absent 
from the venue of the meeting during the time the relevant contract, arrangement or matter is being discussed 
and voted on by the other Directors.
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The following sections explain the responsibilities and the work that each Board committee undertook in 2022. 
The terms of reference and membership of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee are disclosed in full on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. In addition, the Board 
has set up two other Board committees, namely Executive Committee and Cotai Project Committee, with clear 
terms of reference.

Audit  CommitteeNomination

Co
mmitte

e
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ar
d
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m

m
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e(

s)
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er

Committ
ee

Cotai ProjectCommittee

Executive

C
o

m
m

ittee
R

em
u

n
eration

Chairman: 
Mr. Tse Hau Yin

Members:  
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina

Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman

Chairman: 
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy

Members:  
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy

Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David

Dr. So Shu Fai (Note)

To be established when 
necessary, normally for 

ad hoc purposes

Chairman: 
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina

Members:  
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy

Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Dr. So Shu Fai (Note)

Mr. Tse Hau Yin
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard

Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman

Honorary Chairman: 
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham

Advisor/Non-director

Members:  
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy

Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela

Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David
Dr. So Shu Fai (Note)

Mr. Tse Hau Yin

Board

Chairman:  
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy

Members:  
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 

Dr. So Shu Fai (Note)
Mr. Tse Hau Yin

Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard

Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman

Note: Upon retirement as a Director of the Company at the conclusion of the 2023 AGM, Dr. So Shu Fai will cease to be a member of Cotai 

Project Committee, Executive Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board.

The Board schedules regular Board meetings in advance, at least four times a year at approximately quarterly 
intervals, to give Directors the opportunity to participate actively, either in person or through electronic means of 
communication. Directors are consulted for their views regarding inclusion of specific matters in the agenda for 
regular Board meetings and the draft agenda is circulated to Directors for their comments. Special Board 
meetings are convened as and when needed. Together with the Audit Committee, Executive Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee meetings as aforesaid, there is an effective framework for 
the Board and Board committees to perform their work and discharge their duties. In view of the size and 
complexity of the Group’s project in Cotai, Macau, an ad hoc Board committee, Cotai Project Committee, was 
formed in 2015 to specifically monitor the progress and the costs for the development of the said project.
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, twelve Board meetings were held. Details of individual Directors’ 
attendance at the Board meetings, the Board committee meetings, the 2022 AGM and the extraordinary general 
meetings held in the year are set out in the following table:

Name of  
Directors

Board 
Meetings 
(including 
corporate 

governance 
functions)

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings

Executive 
Committee 

Meetings

Cotai Project 
Committee 

Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee 

Meetings

Nomination 
Committee 

Meetings
2022 
AGM

Extraordinary 
General 

Meetings
(Note 5)

Executive Directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 12/12 

(Note 1)
N/A 4/4 5/5 3/3 3/3 1/1 2/2

Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 12/12 N/A 4/4 5/5 N/A 0/0 
(Note 4)

1/1 2/2

Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 12/12 
(Note 1)

N/A 4/4 3/5 2/3 2/3 
(Note 4)

1/1 1/2

Dr. So Shu Fai 12/12 N/A 4/4 5/5 3/3 3/3 1/1 2/2

Dr. Chan Un Chan 11/12 
(Note 1)

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/2

Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David 12/12 
(Note 1)

N/A 4/4 5/5 N/A N/A 1/1 2/2

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Ng Chi Sing 

(retired on 15 June 2022)
5/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 0/1 N/A

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick 11/12 
(Note 1)

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1 2/2

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chau Tak Hay 

(retired on 15 June 2022)
6/6 2/2 

(Note 2)
N/A N/A 2/3 

(Note 2)
2/3 

(Note 2)
1/1 N/A

Mr. Tse Hau Yin 12/12 4/4 N/A 5/5 3/3 3/3 1/1 2/2

Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina 12/12 4/4 N/A N/A 3/3 
(Note 3)

3/3 1/1 2/2

Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard 9/12 2/4 N/A N/A 3/3 3/3 0/1 1/2

Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman 
(elected on 15 June 2022)

6/6 2/2 
(Note 2)

N/A N/A 0/0 
(Note 2)

0/0 
(Note 2)

N/A 1/2
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BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS (Continued)

Notes:

1. According to Article 94(L), a Director who has a material interest in respect of certain types of contractual arrangements cannot vote 

or be counted in the quorum at the meeting and, he/she shall also be physically absent from the venue of the meeting during the time 

the relevant contract, arrangement or matter is being discussed and voted on by the other Directors.

 Dr. Chan Un Chan, Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David and Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, had to physically absent themselves from voting on 

the related Board resolutions at four of the Board meetings. Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy had to physically absent herself from voting on 

the related Board resolutions at five of the Board meetings and Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela had to physically absent herself from 

voting on the related Board resolutions at six of the Board meetings.

2. Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration 

Committee with effect from 15 June 2022. Mr. Chau Tak Hay ceased to act as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and 

a member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee upon his retirement as an Independent Non-executive Director on 

15 June 2022.

3. Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina was re-designated from a member to the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 

15 June 2022.

4. Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee in place of Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 

with effect from 15 June 2022.

5. The number of Cotai Project Committee meetings disclosed above is for its regular meetings for the purposes of receiving progress and 

budget update for the Cotai Project. In addition to those regular meetings, during the year, there were five informal Cotai Project 

Committee discussion meetings held to consider ad hoc items for the Cotai Project. In view that the Cotai Project is substantially 

completed, no regular Cotai Project Committee meeting has been held since June 2022 whilst Cotai Project Committee discussion 

meetings continue to be held to consider the final accounts, claims and other ad hoc items for the Cotai Project when necessary.

The Honorary Chairman was present at every Cotai Project Committee regular meeting (5/5) and all discussion meetings held 

during 2022.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD – BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has proper delegation of its powers and has established three standing Board committees, namely 
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee in accordance with the requirements 
under the Listing Rules, with specific written terms of reference that deal clearly with their authority and duties, 
to oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. The Board may establish other Board committee(s) when 
necessary in accordance with the Articles. The Board has established an additional standing Board committee, 
namely the Executive Committee, whose primary purpose is to oversee the implementation of the Company’s 
strategic objectives and the business operations of the Group as well as an ad hoc Board committee, namely 
Cotai Project Committee, whose primary purpose is to monitor the progress and the costs for the development 
of the Group’s project in Cotai, Macau. When necessary, the Board will establish ad hoc Board committees with 
specific terms of reference for the purpose of dealing with transactions or projects of the Company.

The terms of references of all Board committees have required them to report back to the Board on their 
decisions or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on their ability to do so. Sufficient 
resources, including the advice of the external auditors and other independent professional advisers, are provided 
to the Board committees to enable them to discharge their duties.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Audit Committee
(established in June 2008)

Committee members   
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tse Hau Yin (Committee Chairman)
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman 

(appointed on 15 June 2022)
Mr. Chau Tak Hay 

(ceased to act on 15 June 2022)

Committee secretary

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong 
(the Company Secretary who is 
responsible for keeping the minutes of 
the Audit Committee)

Existing number of members: 4
% of total Independent Non-executive Directors: 100%

Minimum number of meetings per year: 2

In attendance: representatives from Auditor, Chairman, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance and 
Accounts, Administrative Manager – Internal Audit, Anti-Money Laundering Compliance 
Officer, Chief Legal Counsel and Company Secretary and/or other external professionals

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and its primary role and function is to assist the Board to 
monitor the Company’s financial reporting process, to recommend the appointment of Auditor, to consider the 
nature and scope of audit reviews, to ensure that effective internal control and risk management systems are in 
place and to review the Group’s interim and annual financial statements. The Audit Committee has access to, 
and maintains an independent communication with, the external auditor and the management, including the 
Group’s internal audit department, to ensure effective information exchange on all relevant financial and 
accounting matters.

Under the terms of reference of the Audit Committee, it is specified that any former partner of the Company’s 
existing auditing firm is prohibited from acting as a member of the Audit Committee for a period of two years 
commencing on the date of his ceasing:

(i) to be a partner of the firm; or

(ii) to have any financial interest in the firm,

whichever is the later.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee reports to the Board the major items covered by the committee at each meeting, draws 
the Board’s attention to important issues that the Board should be aware of, identifies any matters in respect of 
which it considers that action or improvement is needed and makes appropriate recommendations.

In 2022, the Audit Committee held four meetings and its principal work performed is set out in the table below. 
In general, it has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed 
auditing, risk management and internal controls, and financial reporting matters, including the review of the 
interim and annual results of the Company. Details of attendance of each Audit Committee member, on a 
named basis, at each Audit Committee meeting held during the year are set out in the table on pages 72 and 73.

Principal work performed by the Audit Committee during 2022

Review of annual audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, interim 
unaudited financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022, and quarterly unaudited 
key performance indicators of the Group for the three months ended 31 March 2022 and 30 September 2022 
respectively, with recommendations to the Board for approval

Review and approval of the engagement letter of the Auditor, the nature and scope of the audit, its reporting 
obligations and work plan

Review of the Auditor’s performance and recommendation to the Board for re-appointment of the Auditor

Appointment of the Auditor to perform a physical count of chips and review the relevant report

Appointment of the Auditor to perform a test count of the gaming assets of SJM as at 30 September 2022 and 
review the relevant report

Review of risk management and internal control systems of the Group and assessment of their effectiveness

Review of internal audit reports, the major findings and recommendations from internal audit

Review and approval of internal audit work plan for 2023

Review and report on connected transactions (including continuing connected transactions) carried out during 
the year

Review of the template for monthly update (including financial information and business operations) of the 
Group, with recommendations to the Board for approval

Review of the arrangements for the Company’s employees to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters, with recommendations to the Board  
for approval

Review of the Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee, with recommendation to the Board for approval

Review of the proposed work plan for the Audit Committee in 2023

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee, which conform to the code provision requirements of the CG 
Code, are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Remuneration Committee
(established in June 2008)

Committee members

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina (Committee Chairman) 

(re-designated from a member to the Committee 
Chairman on 15 June 2022)

Mr. Tse Hau Yin
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman 

(appointed on 15 June 2022)
Mr. Chau Tak Hay 

(ceased to act on 15 June 2022)
Executive Directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Dr. So Shu Fai 

(will cease to act on 15 June 2023)

Committee secretary

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong 
(the Company Secretary who is 
responsible for keeping the minutes of 
the Remuneration Committee)

Existing number of members: 7
% of total Independent Non-executive Directors: 57%

Minimum number of meetings per year: 1

In attendance: Chief Legal Counsel and Company Secretary

The principal role and function of the Remuneration Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on 
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management, to review their 
specific remuneration packages and terms of service contracts, to review and approve performance-based 
remuneration, and to assess the performance of the Executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee reports to the Board the major items covered by the committee at each meeting, 
reviews the policy for the remuneration of Directors based on the performance of Executive Directors, adopts the 
model set out in Code Provision E.1.2(c)(i) of the CG Code to approve the remuneration packages and service 
contracts of Executive Directors and senior management, makes recommendations on the remuneration 
packages and service contracts of Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) and 
Board committee members (including Audit Committee, Cotai Project Committee, Executive Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee) and other remuneration-related matters to the Board. 
The Remuneration Committee has the duty to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in 
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which conform to the code provision requirements of 
the CG Code, are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

In 2022, the Remuneration Committee held three meetings and its principal work performed is set out in the 
table below:

Principal work performed by the Remuneration Committee during 2022

Review of the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior management for 2022 and the special fees for 
2021 based on their performances and the Company’s policy and approval in relation to the same

Review of the remuneration of Non-executive Directors including Independent Non-executive Directors for 2022 
and the special fees for 2021, with recommendations to the Board for approval

Review of the remuneration of Board committees for 2022 and the special fees for 2021, with recommendations 
to the Board for approval

Consideration of the remuneration package of Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman who was recommended for election 
as an Independent Non-executive Director at the 2022 AGM and appointment as a member of Audit Committee, 
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee upon his election, with recommendation to the Board  
for approval

Consideration of the remuneration package of Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy as a member of Remuneration 
Committee with effect from the 2022 AGM, with recommendation to the Board for approval

Consideration of the remuneration of Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina as the Chairman of Remuneration Committee 
with effect from the 2022 AGM, with recommendation to the Board for approval

Consideration of the remuneration of Mr. Chau Tak Hay as an Advisor of the Company, with recommendation 
to the Board for approval

Recommendation to the Board on the nominal fee for Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham as the Honorary Chairman of 
Cotai Project Committee and Cotai Project Monitoring Committee of SJM

Review of the existing benefits to Directors, with recommendation of proposed changes (if any) to the Board

Review of the letters of appointment to be entered into with Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, Non-executive Director, 
and Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina, Independent Non-executive Director, upon their re-election at the 2022 AGM, 
and Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman upon his election as an Independent Non-executive Director at the 2022 AGM, 
with recommendation to the Board for approval

Review of 2021 remuneration packages and discretionary bonus/living subsidies for senior executives of the 
Group and their biographies

Review of the Options granted and exercise position

Review of the Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee, with recommendation to the Board  
for approval

Review the proposed work plan for the Remuneration Committee in 2022/2023

The Remuneration Committee consults the Chairman and/or Chief Executive Officer about proposals relating to 
remuneration of Directors and may access professional advice if considered necessary. The Chairman’s direct 
participation in the Remuneration Committee can facilitate the setting of the Company’s policy and structure for 
all Directors and senior management remunerations, the remuneration packages of Directors and senior 
management, and if applicable, the share option proposals to Directors more effectively.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Details of attendance of each Remuneration Committee member, on a named basis, at each Remuneration 
Committee meeting held during the year are set out in the table on pages 72 and 73.

The Company has established a formal and transparent policy on Directors’ remuneration and other 
remuneration related matters. No individual Director has taken part in setting his or her own remuneration. The 
emoluments of Directors, including base fee and special fee, are based on each Director’s individual skill, work 
performed and involvement in the Group’s affairs, the Company’s performance and profitability, remuneration 
benchmarking in the industry and prevailing market conditions. At the 2022 AGM, a resolution was passed to 
authorise the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration. A resolution will be proposed at the 2023 AGM to obtain 
Shareholders’ authorisation for the Board to fix Directors’ remuneration.

The Executive Directors are also the senior management of the Company and their remuneration is disclosed in 
note 9 to the Financial Statements. Retirement benefits schemes of the Group are set out in note 38 to the 
Financial Statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Nomination Committee
(established in June 2008)

Committee members

Executive Directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 

(appointed on 15 June 2022)
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 

(ceased to act on 15 June 2022)
Dr. So Shu Fai 

(will cease to act on 15 June 2023)
Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tse Hau Yin
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman 

(appointed on 15 June 2022)
Mr. Chau Tak Hay 

(ceased to act on 15 June 2022)

Committee secretary

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong 
(the Company Secretary who is 
responsible for keeping the minutes of 
the Nomination Committee)

Existing number of members: 7
% of total Independent Non-executive Directors: 57%

Minimum number of meetings per year: 1

In attendance: Chief Legal Counsel and Company Secretary
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Nomination Committee is accountable to the Board and its primary role and function is to review the 
structure, size and composition of the Board, to make recommendations to the Board on appointment or 
re-appointment of Directors and to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors on an 
annual basis. It is a mandatory requirement to nominate candidates to fill casual vacancies of the Board. During 
the nomination process, the Nomination Committee makes reference to a number of selection criteria set out in 
the Nomination Policy (for details, please refer to the “Nomination Policy” section below).

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, which conform to the code provision requirements of the 
CG Code, are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

In 2022, the Nomination Committee held three meetings and its principal work performed is set out in the 
table below:

Principal work performed by the Nomination Committee during 2022

Review of the structure, size and composition of the Board and various Board committees, with 
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes

Assessment of the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors (two of them have served on the 
Board for more than nine years)

Review of the status of diversity of the Board and the Board Diversity Policy of the Company, the Nomination 
Policy for the Board and the Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee, with recommendations to 
the Board

Review of the qualifications and suitability of retiring Directors who would offer themselves for re-election at the 
2022 AGM, with recommendations to the Board for approval

Consideration of the re-designation of Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina from a member to the Chairman of 
Remuneration Committee in place of Mr. Chau Tak Hay with effect from the conclusion of the 2022 AGM, with 
recommendation to the Board for approval

Consideration of the nomination of Mr. Chau Tak Hay for appointment as an Advisor of the Company, with 
recommendation to the Board for approval

Consideration of the nomination of Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham for appointment as the Honorary Chairman of 
Cotai Project Committee of the Company and Cotai Project Monitoring Committee of SJM with effect from 
28 May 2022, with recommendation to the Board for approval

Consideration of the nomination of Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman for election as an Independent Non-executive 
Director in place of Mr. Chau Tak Hay with effect from the conclusion of the 2022 AGM and appointment as a 
member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee upon his election as 
Independent Non-executive Director at the 2022 AGM, with recommendations to the Board

Consideration of the nomination of Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy as a member of the Nomination Committee in 
place of Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela with effect from the conclusion of the 2022 AGM, with 
recommendation to the Board for approval

Review the proposed work plan for the Nomination Committee in 2022/2023
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Chairman of the Board acting as the Nomination Committee Chairman can facilitate the nomination process 
of Directors, the review of the Board and Board committee’s structures, size and composition, Board diversity, 
and succession planning for Directors and senior management more effectively.

Details of attendance of each Nomination Committee member, on a named basis, at the Nomination Committee 
meeting held during the year are set out in the table on pages 72 and 73.

The reasons why the Board believes Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy, Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy and Deputada Leong 
On Kei, Angela, the retiring Directors who offered themselves for re-election, should be re-elected at the 2023 
AGM will be set out in the circular of the Company to be dated on or around 28 April 2023 accompanying the 
notice of the 2023 AGM.

Nomination Policy

In October 2018, the Board adopted a Nomination Policy for the Board members of the Company. The 
Nomination Committee can identify candidates for nomination as Directors and is responsible for selection of 
suitable candidates based on the selection criteria set out in the Nomination Policy (e.g., reputation for integrity, 
character and qualifications, accomplishment and experience, time commitment, and diversity) for nomination to 
the Board for consideration. For Directors stand for re-election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee 
should also consider their suitability based on the aforesaid criteria. In addition, the Nomination Committee 
should consider the independence of an Independent Non-executive Director if he has served for a period of 
more than nine years, and if he would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board if he holds seven or 
more listed company directorships.

According to the Nomination Policy, the identified candidates shall provide their curriculum vitae to the 
Nomination Committee for consideration. If appropriate, the Nomination Committee may conduct an interview 
with the candidates for obtaining further information to determine their suitability for nomination. Once 
sufficient information is available, a Nomination Committee meeting will be held to consider the nomination, 
and if appropriate, make recommendations to the Board.

If the number of candidates is more than the vacancies available, the Nomination Committee shall try its best to 
nominate the same number of suitable candidates for filling the vacancies and recommend them to the Board 
for consideration. If more candidates are nominated than the vacancies available, the Board shall be responsible 
for deciding which nominated persons shall be appointed as Directors to fill causal vacancies or recommend to 
the Shareholders for election as Directors. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its 
recommendation of candidates to stand for election at any general meeting or to be appointed as Directors to fill 
causal vacancies. If more candidates than the vacancies available for election at a general meeting, the “gross 
vote” method will be used to determine who shall be elected as Directors.

The Nomination Committee should review the Board composition annually and, when appropriate, make 
recommendation to the Board to search for suitable candidates for succeeding the positions of Directors or 
senior management. The Board is responsible for monitoring the implementation of the Nomination Policy. The 
Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy annually, which will include an assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy, and recommend any proposed amendment to the Board for approval.
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ExECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The composition of the Executive Committee is as follows:

Executive Committee
(established in June 2009)

Committee members

Executive Directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy (Committee Chairman)
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David
Dr. So Shu Fai  

(will cease to act on 15 June 2023)

Committee secretary

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong 
(the Company Secretary who is 
responsible for keeping the minutes of 
the Executive Committee)

Existing number of members: 5
% of total Executive Directors: 100%

Minimum number of meetings per year: meet as often as it determines is necessary

In attendance: Company Secretary and, when invited, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Legal Counsel and the 
relevant department heads

The Executive Committee is established with the following main duties and powers:

(i) to oversee the implementation of the Company’s strategic objectives and risk management policies;

(ii) to oversee the business and operations of all of the business units of the Group;

(iii) to put in place programs for management development and succession of management personnel;

(iv) to oversee the realisation by the Company of the strategic objectives set by the Board; and

(v) to monitor and oversee the financial and operational performance of the Group.

The Executive Committee has established specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority 
and duties. The said terms of reference require the Executive Committee to report back to the Board on its 
decisions or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its ability to do so.

In 2022, the Executive Committee held four meetings and its principal work performed is set out in the table below:

Principal work performed by the Executive Committee during 2022

Review of the unaudited financial information of the Group for the fourth quarter of 2021, full year 2021 and 
the first, second and third quarter of 2022

Review of 2022 financial performance projection and 2022 cash flow forecast

Review of the draft ESG Report of the Company, with recommendation to the Board for approval

Consideration of the issuance of Rights Issue by the Company

Consideration of the amendments to the Articles

Details of attendance of each Executive Committee member, on a named basis, at each Executive Committee 
meeting held during the year are set out in the table on pages 72 and 73.
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COTAI PROJECT COMMITTEE

The composition of the Cotai Project Committee is as follows:

Cotai Project Committee
(established in January 2015)

Committee members

Advisor/Non-director:
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham (Honorary Chairman) 

(appointed as the Honorary Chairman on  
28 May 2022)

Independent Non-executive Director:
Mr. Tse Hau Yin
Executive Directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung Daisy
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David
Dr. So Shu Fai 

(will cease to act on 15 June 2023)

Existing number of members: 7
% of total Independent Non-executive Directors: 14%

Committee secretary

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong 
(the Company Secretary who is 
responsible for keeping the minutes of 
the Cotai Project Committee)

Minimum number of meetings per year: approximately once every month 

In attendance: Chairman and other Directors, Project Director, Chief Operating Officer – Gaming and 
Hospitality, President of Grand Lisboa Palace, Chief Financial Officer, Vice President – Finance 
and Accounts, Administrative Manager – Internal Audit, Company Secretary, executive 
architect, quantity surveyor, independent project monitoring consultant, when invited, the 
relevant department heads for the Cotai Project, designers, contractors and consultants

The primary purpose and responsibility of the Cotai Project Committee is to supervise and monitor the 
development of the Grand Lisboa Palace (the Cotai Project) to ensure the progress are in line with the plan and 
the terms of the contracts and the costs are in line with the budget, and to report to the Board the status and 
make any recommendation, if appropriate.

The Cotai Project Committee has established specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its 
authority and duties. The said terms of reference require the Cotai Project Committee to report back to the 
Board on its decisions or recommendations, unless there are legal or regulatory restrictions on its ability to do so.
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COTAI PROJECT COMMITTEE (Continued)

In 2022, the Cotai Project Committee held five regular meetings and five informal Cotai Project Committee 
discussion meetings, and its principal work performed is set out in the table below:

Principal work performed by the Cotai Project Committee during 2022

Review of the progress of the construction and non-construction parts of the Cotai Project, including any 
deviation from the budget estimate and the timeline for completion

Review of the financial commitments and payment progress for the Cotai Project

Review of the variation orders, prolongation claims and final accounts for the Cotai Project

Review of the potential claims from the consultants, designers and contractors of the Cotai Project

Consideration of the issues raised from Project Director, Cotai Operations Team, the executive architect, the 
quantity surveyor and the independent project monitoring consultant in relation to the Cotai Project

Consideration of the selection and awarding of the tenders and contracts for construction and non-construction 
parts of the Cotai Project, and make recommendation to the senior management

Consideration of design issues on the Cotai Project which may affect the timeline and cost for the Cotai Project

Dealt with other ad hoc issues relating to the Cotai Project

Details of attendance of the Cotai Project Committee Honorary Chairman and each member, on a named basis, 
at each Cotai Project Committee meeting held during the year are set out in the table on pages 72 and 73.

In view that the Cotai Project is substantially completed, no regular Cotai Project Committee meeting has been 
held since June 2022 whilst Cotai Project Committee discussion meetings continue to be held to consider the 
final accounts, claims and other ad hoc items for the Cotai Project when necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the 
CG Code. The principal role and function of the Board in relation to corporate governance is set out below:

Principal role and 
function of the Board 

on corporate 
governance

Develop and review the 
Company’s policies and 
practices on corporate 

governance

Review and monitor the 
training and continuous 

professional 
development of Directors 
and senior management

Review and monitor the 
Company’s policies and 
practices on compliance 
with legal and regulatory 

requirements

Develop, review and 
monitor the code of 

conduct applicable to 
employees and Directors

Review the Company’s 
compliance with the CG 
Code and disclosure in 

the Corporate 
Governance Report

In 2012, the Board adopted a code of conduct applicable to Directors and employees of the Company. The said 
code of conduct covers the areas of, amongst other things, ethical commitment, prevention of bribery, offer and 
acceptance of advantage, entertainment, conflict of interest, relationship with Directors and employees, 
suppliers, contractors and customers, keeping of records, accounts and other documents. The said code of 
conduct has been annexed to the Company’s Employee Handbook to ensure that the employees have 
knowledge of and to comply with the relevant requirements.

In addition to the latest terms of reference of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and 
the Nomination Committee, the Articles and the updated list of the Company’s Directors identifying their role 
and functions have been posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website, whilst procedures 
for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director has been posted on the Company’s website.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS (Continued)

In 2022, the principal work performed by the Board in relation to corporate governance functions is set out in 
the table below:

Principal work performed by the Board in relation to corporate governance functions during 2022

Establishment of the Company’s purpose, values, strategy and culture

Setting of mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board

Establishment of the Company’s Whistleblowing Policy

Setting of the Company’s Anti-Fraud and Counter-Corruption Policy

Review of existing policies and issues relating to corporate governance, including but not limited to the 
Corporate Governance Policy, Legal and Regulatory Compliance Policy and Code of Conduct applicable to 
Directors and employees of the Company, and approval of the necessary amendments

Review and monitoring of the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 
management and the number and nature of offices held by the Directors in other public companies or 
organisations and other significant commitments

Review and approval of the amendments to terms of reference of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
Nomination Committee, Executive Committee and Cotai Project Committee of the Company, if appropriate

Review of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Receiving  
Director’s Induction

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored 
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment. The Director’s induction is to 
ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of 
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations 
under the Listing Rules and relevant legal and other regulatory requirements and the 
business and governance policies of the Company.

Attending Briefing 
and Professional 

Development 
Training

Arrangements are in place for providing continuing briefing and professional 
development training to Directors whenever necessary.

Continuous 
Professional/

Business 
Development Plan 

for Directors

The Board has adopted a Continuous Professional/Business Development Plan for 
Directors. The purpose of this plan is to provide flexibility for the Directors to choose 
training methods which are most suitable to them and to encourage the Directors 
to enhance their knowledge and skills by joining professional bodies and attending 
the courses/seminars/programs/functions offered by such bodies.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

The Directors informed the Company that they had received the following training and continuous professional 
development during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022:

Type of training

Name of Directors
Reading

regulatory updates
Attend

seminars/briefings

Executive Directors:
Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy  

Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy  

Leong On Kei, Angela  

So Shu Fai  

Chan Un Chan  —

Shum Hong Kuen, David  

Non-executive Director:
Tsang On Yip, Patrick  

Ng Chi Sing (retired on 15 June 2022)  —

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Tse Hau Yin  

Wong Yu Pok, Marina  

Yeung Ping Leung, Howard  

Ho Hau Chong, Norman (elected on 15 June 2022)  

Chau Tak Hay (retired on 15 June 2022)  —

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is committed to presenting comprehensive and timely 
information to the Shareholders on an assessment of the Company’s performance, financial position and 
prospects. A separate statement containing a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance is included on 
pages 6 to 10 in this Annual Report.

Starting from 2010, the Company has been announcing quarterly unaudited key performance indicators of the 
Group for the three months ended 31 March and 30 September respectively to enable its Shareholders, investors 
and the public to better appraise the position and business performance of the Group. Such financial information 
is prepared using the accounting policies applied to the Company’s interim and annual financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the presentation of financial statements which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and the results and cash flow for each financial 
period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have to ensure that appropriate accounting policies 
are adopted. The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The Board’s responsibility to present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment extends to annual and 
interim reports and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules. It should also do so for reports to 
regulators and information disclosed under statutory requirements.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

The Auditor of the Company is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A statement by the Auditor about their reporting 
responsibilities is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on the Company’s Financial Statements on pages 
95 to 99.

In arriving at its opinion, the Auditor conducted a full scope audit without any restrictions and had access to 
individual Directors (including Audit Committee members) and management of the Company.

The Auditor will be available at the annual general meeting of the Company to answer questions which 
Shareholders may have.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remunerations paid and payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the Auditor of the Company and their 
respective associates in respect of statutory audit and non-audit services (with each significant non-audit service 
assignment listed out separately) provided to the Group in 2022 and 2021 is set out below:

2022 2021
Audit and Non-audit Services HK$ million HK$ million

Annual audit 10.2 9.8
Interim review 3.8 3.3
Quarterly results review 0.6 0.6
Test counts of chips 0.1 0.1
Tax consultancy and advisory 0.7 0.7
Issuance of senior notes — 1.4
Rights issues exercise 1.0 —
Moveable gaming assets count 0.9 —
Forensic investigation services — 0.3

Total: 17.3 16.2
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective system of risk management and internal controls 
and for evaluating their effectiveness, on which a review is conducted at least quarterly. The system is designed 
in the framework as set out below:

Risk management 
and internal 

controls system

Establish policies and 
procedures to reduce 
operational risks and 

losses

To be aware of 
marketplace risks to 

keep up a strong 
strategic position

Promote consultation,  
accountability and 

communication

Maintain proper records for 
the provision of reliable 

business information

Ensure compliance 
with relevant 

legislation 
and regulations 

Such system of risk management and internal controls is aimed at limiting the risks of the Company to an 
acceptable level but cannot, of itself, eliminate all risks.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Continued)

The key procedures established by the Board to provide effective risk management and internal controls include:

Key procedures for providing effective risk management and internal controls

A defined management structure and a risk management framework with clear strategy, lines of responsibility 
and limits of authority

An appropriate organisational structure, and well defined policy and procedures, which adequately provides the 
necessary information flow for risk analysis and management decisions

Proper budgetary and management accounting control to ensure efficient allocation of resources and to provide 
timely financial and operational performance indicators for managing business activities and risks

Effective financial control to ensure the recording and reporting of complete, accurate and timely accounting 
information for management decision making

Review work conducted by Risk Management Committee and Audit Committee

The Board continues to oversee on an on-going basis, through the Audit Committee, the effectiveness of the 
systems of risk management and internal control that includes finance, operation, compliance and internal audit. 
The review process consists of:

Review process of effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal control

Assessment of internal controls by the Internal Audit Department

Compliance review of gaming regulations by both the Compliance Department and Internal Audit Department

Operational management’s assurance of the maintenance of controls

Control issues identified by external auditors during statutory audit

Assessment of risks (including ESG risks) by Risk Management Committee

External consultant’s review conducted on a periodic basis, or if required, of the effectiveness of the Group’s 
system of internal controls in specific areas including compliance, procurement, information technology and anti-
money laundering

The findings of the above reviews are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Internal Audit Department of SJM performs operational and compliance audits on a regular basis. The 
department head has many years of working experience in audit and financial management, and is assisted by a 
team of internal auditors, who are university graduates with accounting degrees. Most of them are certified 
accounting professionals and on average have relevant internal audit experience of five years or more. The 
Internal Audit Department carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control system, and provides assurance to the Board and executive 
management on an on-going basis. Internal Audit Department adopts a risk and control-based audit 
methodology in designing the audit plan which is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Internal Audit Department performed reviews of the effectiveness of 
the internal control system of the Group’s businesses in respect to business operations, practices and procedures, 
which covered all material controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk management (including 
ESG risks) functions. In addition, Internal Audit Department conducted AML reviews and investigations on whistle-
blowing where required, and submitted its reports to the Audit Committee quarterly with findings and 
recommendations for improvements. All in all, Internal Audit Department was not aware of any significant defect, 
weakness of the internal control system or frauds that would have an adverse impact on the financial position or 
operations of the Group. The Audit Committee is satisfied with the internal audit work performed, continuing 
development and training of the Internal Audit staff, and the adequacy of resources and qualifications of the staff 
within Internal Audit Department.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Continued)

The DICJ Authority also conducts compliance audits on AML and gaming related procedures on a regular basis 
whilst inspectors from the DICJ are involved inspecting and monitoring key processes in the Group’s casinos on a 
daily basis.

The Group has established the Risk Management Committee to implement a framework for assessing and 
monitoring risks faced by the Group. A consulting firm was retained to assist in designing a risk management 
process for the Group, to map out the Group’s current risk universe and assist on compiling a risk register. The 
terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee requires the Committee to meet at least quarterly to 
update the risk register based on inputs from risk owners and classifies and prioritises risks. During each quarter 
the Risk Management Committee reviews specific areas of risk that are of concerns to the Audit Committee or 
management, and discuss their findings with the relevant risk owners. On a semi-annual basis the Risk 
Management Committee reports to the Audit Committee on the status of risk management controls including 
an evaluation of the major risks identified by the Group.

For the year under review, the Board considers that the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group are adequate and effective and the Company has complied with the relevant code provisions in the 
CG Code.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group is committed to lawful and ethical behavior in all its businesses and requires all members of the 
Group to act according to all applicable laws, regulations and policies with the highest standard of openness, 
probity and accountability. To this end, the Board has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy to provide reporting 
channels and guidance for a whistleblower to report serious concerns about any suspected fraud, malpractice, 
misconduct on irregularity in the Group directly addressed to the designated investigation officer. The Group will 
make every effort to keep whistleblower’s identity and the reported concern strictly confidential.

The investigation officers shall report the whistleblowing cases to the Head of Internal Audit of SJM for recording 
in the whistleblowing register and shall inform the Head of Internal Audit of SJM the result of the investigation 
for his/her reporting to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. The Head of Internal Audit of SJM will undertake 
any investigations required by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Audit Committee,  
and will provide an investigation report to the respective Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee accordingly.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Whistleblowing Policy 
and the actions resulting from the investigation. It has delegated the day-to-day responsibility for overseeing and 
implementing the Whistleblowing Policy to the Head of Internal Audit of SJM.

Anti-Fraud and Counter-Corruption Policy

The Group is committed to protecting its reputation, revenues, assets and information from any attempt of 
fraud, corruption and bribery, deceit or related improper conduct by employees or third parties. To this end, the 
Board has adopted an Anti-Fraud and Counter-Corruption Policy. It outlines the Company’s expectations and 
requirements relating to the prevention, detection, reporting and investigation of any suspected fraud, corruption 
and bribery, and any other similar irregularities. All of our employees, business partners including joint venture 
partners, associated companies, contractors and suppliers are encouraged to abide by the requirements of the 
Anti-Fraud and Counter-Corruption Policy.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Continued)

Anti-Fraud and Counter-Corruption Policy (Continued)

The Anti-Fraud and Counter-Corruption Policy is communicated to all levels of employees and stakeholders. 
Suitable and relevant anti-fraud and counter-corruption training will be provided to all employees. All employees 
should fully comply with the principles in this policy, other relevant corporate policies and procedures, and 
internal controls requirements. Control activities are designed and adapted to mitigate fraud risks. If necessary, 
independent risk based audits are conducted to monitor the effectiveness of these controls.

The Group maintains effective reporting channels for the employees and stakeholders to report any suspicions 
of fraud, all employees and stakeholders are expected and encouraged to report immediately any suspected 
cases of fraud and related misconduct via various reporting channels. Suspected cases should be reported 
to one’s direct supervisor, team leader or unit manager or directly to the investigation officers via the 
whistleblowing channel confidentially if one feels appropriate. Summary of investigated fraud cases by Internal 
Audit of SJM will be reported to the Audit Committee on regular basis. All reported fraud cases to investigation 
officers will be treated seriously and investigations will be performed with the approach as stipulated in the 
Whistleblowing Policy.

The Audit Committee has overall responsibility for implementation, monitoring and periodic review of this policy. 
It has delegated the day-to-day responsibility for administration of the policy to Internal Audit Department. The 
review of this policy will be conducted every year or more frequently as needed.

Information Disclosure Policy

The Board has adopted the Information Disclosure Policy with the intention of ensuring compliance by the 
Company of its obligations in respect of protection and timely disclosure of inside information concerning the 
Group. All disclosures must be timely, accurate and full.

If any employee becomes aware of any new developments or information which could potentially be inside 
information, he/she shall report such information to his/her department head as soon as possible. The 
department head must ensure he/she has appropriate procedures in place within his/her area of responsibility to 
identify and report information as potentially being inside information and ensure that all such information is 
reported to him/her immediately so as to allow him/her to report the matter to the Company’s Chairman of the 
Board or Chief Executive Officer as soon as possible for forwarding, if appropriate, to the Executive Committee 
for a determination as to whether the information is indeed inside information.

The Company’s policy is for all potential inside information to be reported to the Executive Committee. The 
Executive Committee is responsible for:

(i) deciding whether information is inside information;

(ii) deciding whether the Company is entitled to delay announcement of inside information;

(iii) approving announcements if required; and

(iv) deciding to take other action, if appropriate (for example, to seek a trading halt or trading suspension from 
listing, pending clarification of uncertainties).
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Continued)

Information Disclosure Policy (Continued)

Where any potential inside information is reported, the Executive Committee will:

(i) seek advice from the Company’s Group Legal Counsel, Company Secretary and/or external legal or financial 
advisers, as necessary;

(ii) determine whether the Board should be involved; and

(iii) co-ordinate the actual form of disclosure.

In emergency situations where it is not possible to refer the information internally in accordance with the 
reporting procedures, Chairman of the Board together with Chief Executive Officer are authorised to make 
decisions on behalf of the Company in such circumstances.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Kwok Shuk Chong is a full-time employee of the Company with professional qualifications and extensive 
experience to discharge the functions of Company Secretary of the Company. She is a Chartered Secretary and a 
Chartered Governance Professional and a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and 
The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. She has more than 20 years of experience in 
company secretarial practices in professional firms, private and listed groups of companies. Ms. Kwok has taken 
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in 2022.

The Board is responsible for the approval of the selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary. 
The Company Secretary should have day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. She reports to the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, and is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters and to 
facilitate induction and professional development for Directors. In addition, the Company Secretary shall ensure 
good information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and procedures are followed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a general meeting

Pursuant to Article 49 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a general meeting. General 
meetings shall also be convened by the Directors on the requisition of Shareholders pursuant to section 566 of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

According to section 566 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the Shareholders may request the Directors 
to call a general meeting of the Company. The Directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company 
has received requests to do so from Shareholders representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the 
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings. A request must state the general nature of the business 
to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is 
intended to be moved at the meeting. Requests may consist of several documents in like form. A request may be 
sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and must be authenticated by the person or 
persons making it.

Enquiries and suggestions from Shareholders or investors to the Board are welcomed by mail to the Company’s 
registered office at 18th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, Nos. 168 – 200 Connaught Road 
Central, Hong Kong or via email to ir@sjmholdings.com for the attention of the Investor Relations Department. 
For putting forward proposals at any Shareholders’ meeting of the Company, Shareholders are invited to send 
their proposals by mail to the Company’s registered office as aforesaid or via email to comsec@sjmholdings.com.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at an annual general meeting

The rights of Shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on resolutions at a Shareholders’ meeting 
are contained in the Articles. The Listing Rules require that voting is by way of poll at all general meetings of the 
Company except where the chairman of the general meeting, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which 
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. Any questions from 
Shareholders regarding voting by way of poll will be answered after explanation of the procedures.

Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and 
the Board. It is the Company’s general practice that the Chairman of the Board as well as Chairmen of the Audit 
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, or in their absence, their duly appointed 
delegates, who are members of the relevant committees, are available to answer questions at the annual general 
meeting of the Company. At general meeting, individual resolutions are proposed on each substantially separate 
issue, including the election of individual Directors.

Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to Shareholders in accordance with the Articles. Besides, the 
Company will ensure that Shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures for conducting a poll, and will 
arrange to address questions from Shareholders in general meetings of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

According to the dividend policy set out in the Company’s initial public offering (the “IPO Offering”) prospectus 
dated 26 June 2008, the Board intends to distribute 50% of the Company’s net profit as dividends for periods 
subsequent to the IPO Offering. The payment and the amount of any dividends will depend on the Company’s 
financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment of 
dividends by the Company, future prospects and other factors that the Board may consider relevant. Holders of 
the Company’s Shares will be entitled to receive such dividends pro rata according to the amounts paid up or 
credited as paid up on the Shares.

Dividends may be paid only out of the Company’s distributable profits as permitted under Hong Kong law, which 
does not restrict the payment of dividends to non-resident holders of our securities.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining on-going and timely communications with Shareholders 
and the investment community. The Board has adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy to ensure that 
the Shareholders are provided with timely, updated, accurate and adequate information of the Company, in 
order to enable them to form their own judgment and to provide constructive feedback. Such policy will be 
reviewed annually and updated to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has established the following channels to communicate with Shareholders and to solicit and 
understand the views of Shareholders and stakeholders:

(i) Enquiries and suggestions from Shareholders or investors to the Board are welcomed by mail to the 
Company’s registered office or via email to ir@sjmholdings.com for the attention of the Investor Relations 
Department. For putting forward proposals at any general meeting of the Company, Shareholders are 
invited to send their proposals by mail to the Company’s registered office or via email to 
comsec@sjmholdings.com.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (Continued)

(ii) Corporate Communications as required under the Listing Rules are provided to Shareholders, and where 
appropriate, other holders of the Company’s securities, in hard copy or through electronic means.

(iii) Corporate Communications and other Company’s information as required for posting on the Company’s 
website pursuant to the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations to the Company are posted on 
the Company’s website as soon as practicable.

(iv) Shareholders are welcomed to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at 
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. They are encouraged to use 
their attendance at meetings to ask questions on any relevant matter, with time being specifically set aside 
for Shareholder questions.

(v) The Company holds press conferences, analysts’ briefings and investor meetings/calls after the 
announcement of its financial results, and regularly participates in investment forums and briefings hosted 
by investment banks. Designated senior management maintains regular dialogue with institutional 
investors, financial media and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company’s development.

Taking into account the above variety of communication channels and engagement with Shareholders, the Board 
considers that the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy conducted 
during the year is satisfactory.

CHANGES IN THE COMPANY’S CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The amendments of the Articles were duly passed as special resolutions at the extraordinary general meeting of 
the Company held on 26 August 2022. The purposes of the amendments to the Articles are to reflect the recent 
amendments to Macau Gaming Law on the requirements of Type B shares of SJM, the adoption of the core 
standards for shareholder protections for issuers set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules and the change of 
name of SJM from Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A. to SJM Resorts, S.A. (in Portuguese) SJM Resorts, Limited (in 
English) effective from 9 June 2021. Please refer to the circular of the Company dated 10 August 2022 and the 
announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2022 for further details. The latest version of the Articles is 
available on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

LOOKING FORWARD

We will continue to review and enhance our corporate governance practices taking into account the internal 
environment of the Group as well as the external regulatory requirements, practices and developments.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
SJM Holdings Limited

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF 
SJM HOLDINGS LIMITED
澳門博彩控股有限公司
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SJM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 100 to 202, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been 
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. This matter is addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of property and equipment and right-of-use assets related to Grand Lisboa 
Palace Project (“GLP Project”)

We identified the impairment assessment of property 
and equipment and right-of-use assets related to GLP 
Project as a key audit matter because the estimation of 
the recoverable amount of these assets involved 
significant management judgement and estimation.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of 
property and equipment and right-of-use assets related 
to GLP Project were HK$34,730.5 million and 
HK$1,876.9 million, respectively, as set out in note 4 to 
the consolidated financial statements. The management 
of the Group considered there was indication for 
impairment for these property and equipment and 
right-of-use assets and prepared discounted cash flow 
projections for GLP Project based on the financial 
budget approved by the management of the Group 
and engaged an independent professional valuer (the 
“Valuer”) to conduct impairment assessment on their 
recoverable amount of property and equipment and 
right-of-use assets as at 31 December 2022. The key 
assumptions adopted by the management of the Group 
are the pre-tax discount rate, terminal growth rate and 
expected changes in revenues and costs in the 
discounted cash flow projections.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of the 
property and equipment and right-of-use assets related 
to GLP Project based on higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use and concluded that the 
carrying amount of these assets does not exceed their 
recoverable amount based on value in use. Accordingly, 
no impairment loss has been recognised as at 
31 December 2022 or for the year then ended.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment 
of property and equipment and right-of-use assets related 
to GLP Project included:

•	 Understanding	the	impairment	assessment	process	of	
the Group, including the involvement of the Valuer 
engaged by the management of the Group to 
estimate the recoverable amount based on the value 
in use of the property and equipment and  
right-of-use assets related to GLP Project; 

•	 Evaluating	 the	 competence,	 capabilities	 and	
objectivity of the Valuer and obtaining an 
understanding of the Valuer’s scope of work and 
their terms of engagement;

•	 Assessing	the	reasonableness	of	the	key	assumptions	
adopted by the management of the Group, namely 
the terminal growth rate and expected changes in 
revenues and costs, in determining the recoverable 
amount based on the value in use of property and 
equipment and right-of-use assets related to GLP 
Project by comparing the management’s expectations 
for the market development to relevant industry 
growth forecasts;

•	 Assessing	the	reasonableness	of	pre-tax	discount	rate	
applied by the management of the Group in the 
discounted cash flow projections by comparing it to 
our independent estimation for the discount rate 
based on market data and certain entity specific input 
data with the assistance of our valuation specialists; 
and

•	 Performing	sensitivity	analysis	to	determine	the	extent	
of change in pre-tax discount rate and terminal 
growth rate, either individually or collectively, to 
assess the potential impact on the value in use.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	content	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information	of	the	entities	or	business	
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.



99SJM Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
8 March 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2022 2021
Notes HK$ million HK$ million

Gaming, hotel, catering, retail, leasing and related services revenues 5(a) 6,678.6 10,076.0

Gaming revenue 6 6,092.0 9,607.9
Special gaming tax, special levy and gaming premium (2,680.6) (4,185.8)

3,411.4 5,422.1
Hotel, catering, retail, leasing and related services income 586.6 468.1
Cost of sales and services on hotel, catering, retail, leasing  

and related services (401.9) (336.6)
Other income, gains and losses 36.2 124.0
Impairment loss on financial assets (143.7) —
Impairment loss on property and equipment 13 (1,214.9) —
Marketing and promotional expenses (462.5) (1,147.3)
Operating and administrative expenses (8,476.5) (8,376.8)
Finance costs 7 (1,122.6) (343.3)
Share of (losses) profits of an associate 17 (3.2) 8.1
Share of profits of a joint venture 18 3.6 5.0

Loss before taxation 8 (7,787.5) (4,176.7)
Taxation 10 (61.1) (21.4)

Loss for the year (7,848.6) (4,198.1)
Other comprehensive expense:

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments in equity instruments 

designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (57.0) (73.3)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (7,905.6) (4,271.4)

Loss for the year attributable to:
— owners of the Company (7,798.4) (4,143.7)
— non-controlling interests (50.2) (54.4)

(7,848.6) (4,198.1)

Total comprehensive expense for the year attributable to:
— owners of the Company (7,855.4) (4,217.0)
— non-controlling interests (50.2) (54.4)

(7,905.6) (4,271.4)

(Restated)
Loss per share:

— Basic 12 HK(122.6) cents HK(68.2) cents

— Diluted 12 HK(122.6) cents HK(68.2) cents
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At 31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2022 2021
Notes HK$ million HK$ million

Non-current assets
Property and equipment 13 40,049.7 40,954.1
Right-of-use assets 14 2,599.0 2,994.9
Intangible asset 15 — 43.9
Art works and diamonds 16 281.3 281.3
Interest in an associate 17 41.8 353.5
Interest in a joint venture 18 43.8 144.8
Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 19 424.1 481.1
Pledged bank deposit 21 970.9 —
Other assets 20 357.1 426.8

44,767.7 45,680.4

Current assets
Inventories 146.7 151.3
Trade and other receivables 22 694.7 726.1
Pledged bank deposits 21 183.1 147.0
Short-term bank deposits 23 572.6 177.2
Bank balances and cash 23 6,282.9 3,024.2

7,880.0 4,225.8

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 24 3,735.1 5,517.8
Taxation payable 50.5 21.8
Bank loans — due within one year 25 707.0 13,185.9
Lease liabilities 27 46.4 344.0

4,539.0 19,069.5

Net current assets (liabilities) 3,341.0 (14,843.7)

Total assets less current liabilities 48,108.7 30,836.7
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At 31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2022 2021
Notes HK$ million HK$ million

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 24 71.4 87.6
Bank loans — due after one year 25 18,268.3 —
Unsecured notes 26 9,400.6 9,388.0
Lease liabilities 27 603.9 639.9
Amount due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary 28 339.5 305.6
Loan from ultimate holding company 29 2,006.8 —
Deferred taxation 30 10.5 10.5
Convertible bond 31 1,394.3 —

32,095.3 10,431.6

Net assets 16,013.4 20,405.1

Capital and reserves
Share capital 32 14,415.1 11,479.3
Reserves 1,583.5 8,864.2

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 15,998.6 20,343.5
Non-controlling interests 14.8 61.6

Total equity 16,013.4 20,405.1

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 202 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board 
of Directors on 8 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy So Shu Fai
Director Director
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
capital

Share 
options 
reserve

Convertible 
bond 

reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Retained 

profits

Attributable 
to owners 

of the 
Company

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

At 1 January 2021 11,435.5 721.8 — (36.0) 12,406.8 24,528.1 111.8 24,639.9

Loss for the year — — — — (4,143.7) (4,143.7) (54.4) (4,198.1)
Other comprehensive 

expense for the year — — — (73.3) — (73.3) — (73.3)

Total comprehensive 
expense for the year — — — (73.3) (4,143.7) (4,217.0) (54.4) (4,271.4)

Exercise of share options 43.8 (11.4) — — — 32.4 — 32.4
Release of lapsed  

share-based payments — (13.0) — — 13.0 — — —
Deemed capital contribution 

from non-controlling 
interests of a subsidiary  
(note 28) — — — — — — 4.2 4.2

43.8 (24.4) — — 13.0 32.4 4.2 36.6

At 31 December 2021 11,479.3 697.4 — (109.3) 8,276.1 20,343.5 61.6 20,405.1

Loss for the year — — — — (7,798.4) (7,798.4) (50.2) (7,848.6)
Other comprehensive 

expense for the year — — — (57.0) — (57.0) — (57.0)

Total comprehensive 
expense for the year — — — (57.0) (7,798.4) (7,855.4) (50.2) (7,905.6)

Rights Issue of shares  
(note 32) 2,954.4 — — — — 2,954.4 — 2,954.4

Transaction costs 
attributable to Rights 
Issue of shares (note 32) (18.6) — — — — (18.6) — (18.6)

Release of lapsed  
share-based payments — (22.8) — — 22.8 — — —

Deemed capital contribution 
from non-controlling  
interests of a subsidiary  
(note 28) — — — — — — 3.4 3.4

Recognition of equity 
component of convertible 
bond (note 31) — — 575.2 — — 575.2 — 575.2

Transaction costs 
attributable to the issue 
of convertible bond  
(note 31) — — (0.5) — — (0.5) — (0.5)

2,935.8 (22.8) 574.7 — 22.8 3,510.5 3.4 3,513.9

At 31 December 2022 14,415.1 674.6 574.7 (166.3) 500.5 15,998.6 14.8 16,013.4
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Operating activities
Loss before taxation (7,787.5) (4,176.7)
Adjustments for:

Interest income (45.9) (9.4)
Interest expenses 1,114.7 336.0
Imputed interest on an amount due to non-controlling 

interests of a subsidiary 7.9 7.3
Dividend income (0.2) (3.0)
Share of losses (profits) of an associate 3.2 (8.1)
Share of profits of a joint venture (3.6) (5.0)
Loss on modification of a bank loan 19.6 —
Depreciation of property and equipment 1,457.4 770.9
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 348.3 397.5
Amortisation of intangible asset 89.6 87.8
Loss on disposals/write-off of property and equipment 2.1 0.1
COVID-19-related rent concessions (76.1) (47.6)
Impairment loss on financial assets 143.7 —
Impairment loss on property and equipment 1,214.9 —
Gain on early termination of lease contracts (1.7) —
Gain on early repayment of a bank loan — (67.5)
Loss on derecognintion of a bank loan — 0.5

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (3,513.6) (2,717.2)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 4.6 (29.6)
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (107.4) 82.7
Decrease in trade and other payables (568.4) (1,839.3)

Cash used in operations (4,184.8) (4,503.4)
Income tax paid (32.4) (36.8)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,217.2) (4,540.2)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Investing activities
Interest received 22.8 11.9
Dividend received 104.8 3.4
Distribution from an associate 311.8 —
Acquisitions of property and equipment (1,015.9) (1,366.0)
Acquisitions of intangible asset (45.7) —
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 2.8 2.4
Deposits paid for acquisitions of property and equipment (15.8) (79.9)
Proceeds of rental deposits refunded 20.9 4.5
Placement of short-term bank deposits (632.5) (608.4)
Withdrawal of short-term bank deposits 237.1 1,249.4
Placement of pledged bank deposits (1,007.0) —
Advance to ultimate holding company 0.2 —
Repayment from ultimate holding company (0.2) —
Payments for rental deposits — (4.9)
Advance to a joint venture — (0.1)

Net cash used in investing activities (2,016.7) (787.7)

Financing activities
Interest paid (950.7) (499.6)
Transaction costs attributable to Rights Issue of shares (18.6) —
Transaction costs incurred in connection with  

the issuance of convertible bond (1.7) —
Loan from ultimate holding company 2,000.0 —
Proceeds from Rights Issue of shares 2,954.4 —
New bank loans raised 19,994.5 9,975.0
Repayment of bank loans (13,939.9) (15,484.7)
Payment of bank loans arrangement fee (362.0) (3.3)
Repayments of lease liabilities (212.8) (228.7)
Advance from non-controlling interests of a subsidiary 29.4 39.2
Proceeds on issue of shares — 32.4
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured notes — 9,292.4
Transaction costs incurred in connection with  

the issuance of unsecured notes — (78.2)

Net cash from financing activities 9,492.6 3,044.5

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,258.7 (2,283.4)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 3,024.2 5,307.6

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 6,282.9 3,024.2

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents, 
representing bank balances and cash 6,282.9 3,024.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SECTION A

THE COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

2022 2021
Notes HK$ million HK$ million

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 44 8,630.9 4,067.8 
Amount due from a subsidiary 45 19,173.4 19,173.4

27,804.3 23,241.2

Current assets
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 2.0 1.4
Amounts due from subsidiaries 45 5,571.8 5,619.3
Short-term bank deposits 241.2 77.1
Bank balances and cash 192.0 81.2

6,007.0 5,779.0

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals 7.9 5.8
Amounts due to subsidiaries 45 9,399.6 9,388.0

9,407.5 9,393.8

Net current liabilities (3,400.5) (3,614.8)

Total assets less current liabilities 24,403.8 19,626.4

Non-current liability
Loan from ultimate holding company 29 2,006.8 —

Net assets 22,397.0 19,626.4

Capital and reserves
Share capital 32 14,415.1 11,479.3
Reserves 34 7,981.9 8,147.1

Total equity 22,397.0 19,626.4

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 8 March 2023 and is signed on its behalf by:

Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy So Shu Fai
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SECTION B

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

SJM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and acts as 
an investment holding company. The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the 
development and operations of casinos and related facilities, and hotel, catering, retail, leasing and related 
services in Macau Special Administrative Region, the People’s Republic of China (“Macau SAR”). Its 
immediate and ultimate holding company is Sociedade de Turismo e Diversões de Macau, S.A. (“STDM”), a 
company established in Macau SAR. The address of registered office and principal place of business of the 
Company is disclosed in Corporate Information of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the 
functional currency of the Company.

Significant events during the year 

The gaming concession agreement was executed on 28 March 2002 between the Macau SAR Government 
and a subsidiary of the Company, SJM Resorts, S.A. (“SJM”), by which the Macau SAR Government granted 
to SJM one of the three concessions for the exploitation of games of fortune and chance or other games in 
casino in Macau SAR (the “Gaming Concession Contract”). On 23 June 2022, the Macau SAR Government 
and SJM have entered into the amendment on the Gaming Concession Contract pursuant to which the 
gaming concession of SJM, which originally expired on 26 June 2022, was extended for a further period up 
to 31 December 2022 (the “Concession Amendment Contract”). 

During the year ended 31 December 2022, SJM entered into a transfer agreement with STDM in acquisition 
of the Oceanus Building with the settlement by the issuance of convertible bond.

On 16 December 2022, the Macau SAR Government confirmed to SJM, that it had awarded SJM a new 
gaming concession to operate casino games of fortune and other games of chance in casinos (the “New 
Gaming Concession Contract”) as approved and authorised by the Macau Government for a 10-year period 
commencing on 1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2032.

Upon expiration of the Gaming Concession Contract, all of SJM’s casinos, gaming assets and equipment 
and ownership rights to the casino properties in Macau SAR were reverted to the Macau Government 
without compensation to SJM.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective  
for the annual periods beginning on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated  
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use 
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the 
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set 
out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but 
are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 
and February 2022 Amendments to 
HKFRS 17) 

Insurance Contracts1

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28 

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
and its Associate or Joint Venture2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants3

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities  
arising from a Single Transaction1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.



SJM Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022

109109

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the 
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the “2020 
Amendments”) and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer 
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

•	 specify	that	the	classification	of	liabilities	as	current	or	non-current	should	be	based	on	rights	that	are	
in existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the 
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right exists if the conditions are 
met at the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later 
date; and

•	 clarify	that	if	a	liability	has	terms	that	could,	at	the	option	of	the	counterparty,	result	in	its	settlement	
by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification as 
current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument 
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments to align 
the corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2022, including convertible bond in which 
the conversion options are classified as equity instruments, the application of the amendments will not 
result in reclassification of the Group’s other liabilities as at 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information is 
considered material if such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary 
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as 
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in 
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of 
Assets (“HKAS 36”).

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique 
that unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation 
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique equals the 
transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level	1	 inputs	are	quoted	prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	active	markets	 for	 identical	 assets	or	 liabilities	
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs,	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1,	that	are	observable	
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies

3.2.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has	power	over	the	investee;

•	 is	exposed,	or	has	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and

•	 has	the	ability	to	use	its	power	to	affect	its	returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the 
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, 
which represent present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of 
net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

3.2.2 Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of financial position at 
deemed cost plus additional capital contribution, less any identified impairment loss. The deemed 
cost represents the carrying amounts of consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on 
which they were transferred to the Company at the time of a group reorganisation in prior 
accounting periods.

3.2.3 Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are incorporated in the consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used 
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the 
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an 
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes 
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses 
of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate, the Group discontinues recognising 
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 
the investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess 
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the 
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.3 Interest in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate may 
be impaired. When an objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment is 
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable 
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any 
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset that forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with  
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from 
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

3.2.4 Interest in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions 
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture are incorporated in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of a joint 
venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as 
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity 
method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the joint 
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for unless 
such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s 
share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture, the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 
of that joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on 
which the investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, 
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included 
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.4 Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in a joint venture 
may be impaired. When an objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the 
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single 
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of 
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset 
that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting 
from the transactions with the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not related to the Group.

3.2.5 Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is 
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following 
criteria is met:

•	 the	customer	simultaneously	receives	and	consumes	the	benefits	provided	by	the	Group’s	
performance as the Group performs;

•	 the	Group’s	performance	creates	or	enhances	an	asset	 that	 the	customer	controls	as	 the	
Group performs; or

•	 the	Group’s	performance	does	not	create	an	asset	with	an	alternative	use	to	the	Group	and	
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the 
distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer 
for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from 
the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.5 Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction 
price)
For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations including obligation to 
provide goods or services to patrons on complementary basis and patron’s options to acquire 
additional goods or services for free or at a discount in future granted under customer 
relationship programs, the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation 
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance 
obligation is determined at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would 
sell a promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not 
directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that the transaction 
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or 
services to the customer.

Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the Group 
determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified 
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to 
be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified goods or service before that goods or service is 
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision of the specified 
goods or service by another party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified goods or 
service provided by another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer. 
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission 
to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to 
be provided by the other party.

The directors of the Company considered that the Group acts as a principal for gaming 
operations in casinos with services provided by gaming promoters and service providers as the 
Group controls the specified service to be provided by the Group before services transferred to 
a customer.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.5 Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Revenue recognition
The Group’s revenue contracts with customers consist of casino, hotel rooms, food and 
beverage, retail and other transactions.

Gaming revenue is the aggregate net difference between gaming wins and losses. Commissions 
paid to gaming promoters and rebates paid to patrons are recorded as a reduction to gaming 
revenue. The Group accounts for gaming revenue on a portfolio basis given the similar 
characteristics of wagers by recognising net win per gaming day.

For gaming operations that the Group provides complimentary goods and services to gaming 
customers to incentivise gaming, the Group allocates a portion of the gaming revenue to the 
respective type of revenue from complimentary goods or services based on its relative stand-
alone selling price. Discretionary complimentaries supplied by third parties are recorded as 
payables to third parties. The Group accounts for complimentaries on a portfolio basis given the 
similar characteristics of the incentives.

For gaming operations that the Group provides award points to customers under loyalty 
programs, the Group allocates a portion of the gaming revenue to the loyalty programs liabilities 
based on its relative stand-alone selling price of such award points (less estimated breakage). 
Such allocated amount is deferred revenue and recognised as loyalty programs liabilities until 
customers redeem the award points for free goods and services. Upon redemption, the deferred 
consideration of each good and service is allocated to the respective type of revenue. 
Redemption of award points at third party outlets are recorded as payables to third parties.

The transaction price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, and retail transactions is the net 
amount collected from the customer for such goods and services. The transaction price for such 
transactions is recorded as revenue when the good or service is transferred or rendered to the 
customer during their stay at the hotel or when the delivery is made for the food and beverage, 
retail and other services.

The Group has other contracts that include multiple goods and services, such as packages that 
bundle food and beverage and other services with hotel stays. For such arrangements, the Group 
allocates revenue to each good or service based on its relative stand-alone selling price. The 
Group primarily determines the stand-alone selling price of hotel rooms, food and beverage, and 
retail transactions based on the amount that the Group charges when each is sold separately in 
similar circumstances to similar customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.6 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purposes (other than properties under construction as described 
below), are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment loss, if any.

When the buildings are in the course of development for production or for administrative 
purposes, the leasehold land component is classified as right-of-use assets and amortised over a 
straight line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. During the 
construction period, the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is included as part 
of costs of construction in progress. Construction in progress is carried at cost, less any identified 
impairment losses. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the 
Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are ready for their 
intended use.

The cost of leasehold improvements is depreciated on a straight line basis over their respective 
estimated useful lives.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of other property and equipment, less their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, at the following 
rates per annum:

Chips 10% – 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 2.4% – 50%
Gaming equipment 20% – 25%
Motor vehicles 14.3% – 20%
Vessels 3.3% – 16.7%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 
prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.7 Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties which includes both 
leasehold land and building elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold 
land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold 
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the leasehold land and buildings in Macau SAR and Hong Kong, where the cost of right-of-
use assets cannot be reliably separated from the cost of land and buildings, the entire cost of 
land and buildings is treated as property and equipment and depreciated on a straight line basis 
over the estimated useful life of the buildings.

The cost of other buildings in Macau SAR is depreciated over 25 years to 50 years using the 
straight line method, which represents the shorter of respective lease term or estimated useful 
life of buildings.

3.2.8 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended 
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on 
general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.9 Intangible asset

Intangible asset with finite useful life that is acquired separately is carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible 
asset with finite useful life is recognised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life. The 
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.2.10 Art works and diamonds

Art works and diamonds are stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Art works and diamonds are derecognised upon disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item 
is derecognised.

3.2.11 Inventories

Inventories, which mainly represent food and beverage held for sale, are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the 
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which 
the Group must incur to make the sale.

3.2.12 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s statements of financial 
position when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All 
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade 
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
market place.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade 
receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with 
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other 
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added 
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or 
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the	financial	asset	is	held	within	a	business	model	whose	objective	is	to	collect	contractual	
cash flows; and

•	 the	contractual	terms	give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

•	 the	 financial	 asset	 is	 held	 within	 a	 business	model	 whose	 objective	 is	 achieved	 by	 both	
selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

•	 the	contractual	terms	give	rise	on	specified	dates	to	cash	flows	that	are	solely	payments	of	
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of 
a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of 
an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for 
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to 
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

•	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	term;	or

•	 on	 initial	 recognition	 it	 is	a	part	of	a	portfolio	of	 identified	 financial	 instruments	 that	 the	
Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be 
measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that 
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting 
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the 
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer 
credit-impaired.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are subsequently measured at fair 
value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not 
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments and will be transferred to 
retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss 
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other 
income, gains and losses” line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on 
financial assets (including advances to gaming promoters and patrons, other receivables from 
gaming promoters and service providers, other sundry receivables, rental deposits, pledged bank 
deposits, short-term bank deposits, bank balances, amounts due from an associate/a joint 
venture/an investee company), lease receivables and financial guarantees contracts which are 
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and 
an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of 
future conditions.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)

The Group applies simplified approach to recognise lifetime ECL for advances to gaming 
promoters and patrons and lease receivables. For all other instruments, the Group measures the 
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL under general approach, unless there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. 
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in 
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In 
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that 
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information 
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk 
has increased significantly:

•	 an	 actual	 or	 expected	 significant	 deterioration	 in	 the	 financial	 instrument’s	 external	 (if	
available) or internal credit rating;

•	 existing	or	forecast	adverse	changes	in	business,	financial	or	economic	conditions	that	are	
expected to cause a significant decrease in the ability of gaming promoter or service 
provider to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an	 actual	 or	 expected	 significant	 deterioration	 in	 the	 operating	 results	 of	 the	 gaming	
promoter or service provider;

•	 an	 actual	 or	 expected	 significant	 adverse	 change	 in	 the	 regulatory,	 economic,	 or	
technological environment of the gaming promoter or service provider that results in a 
significant decrease in the ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are 30 days past due, 
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it 
has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow 
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions 
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to 
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low 
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of ’investment grade’ as per globally 
understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable 
commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing 
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since 
initial recognition, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will 
default on the contract.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when 
information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any 
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is 
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to 
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a 
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the 
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the 
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of 
financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty 
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when 
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. 
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s 
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes 
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the 
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking 
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is 
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted 
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of 
a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. 
Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a 
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the 
debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, 
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value 
of money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the 
risks are taken into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls 
being discounted.

The ECL on advances to gaming promoters and patrons, other receivables from gaming 
promoters and services providers and lease receivables are assessed individually.

12m ECL for other sundry receivables, rental deposits, pledged bank deposits, short-term bank 
deposits, bank balances and amounts due from an associate/a joint venture/an investee company 
are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration past due information and relevant 
credit information such as forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following characteristics when 
formulating the grouping:

•	 Past-due	status;

•	 Nature,	size	and	industry	of	debtors;	and

•	 External	credit	ratings	where	available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group 
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised 
cost of the financial asset.

Except for the financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in 
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivables is recognised 
in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated 
in the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to 
retained profits.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and 
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at 
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, loan from ultimate holding company, 
amount due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary, unsecured notes, liability component of 
convertible bond and bank loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment 
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.



128 SJM Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31 December 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are initially measured at their fair values. It is subsequently 
measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised 
over the guarantee period.

Convertible bond

The component parts of the convertible bond are classified separately as financial liability and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that will be settled by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the 
Company’s own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component (including any embedded  
non-equity derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that 
does not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting the amount of the liability 
component from the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and 
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, 
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity until the conversion option is 
exercised, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share capital. 
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible bond, 
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible bond are allocated to the liability and 
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs 
relating to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the 
liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised 
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.12 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified, the Group assess whether the 
revised terms result in a substantial modification from original terms taking into account all 
relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not 
conclusive, the Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the discounted 
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees 
received, and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different 
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. 
The above said fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, 
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other‘s behalf. 
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees 
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange or 
modification is considered as non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 
10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the 
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the 
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest 
rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified 
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.13 Impairment losses on property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
asset

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property and 
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible asset with finite useful lives to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible asset are 
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated to the relevant 
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which a 
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to which the 
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant  
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a  
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or the cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be 
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares 
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the 
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, 
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment 
loss, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of assets on a pro-rata basis 
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating units. 
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of 
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the 
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to 
the other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.2.13 Impairment losses on property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible 
asset (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding bank balances that 
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the 
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three 
months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and restricted 
deposits arising from requirement under the New Gaming Concession Contract that are 
held for meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose 
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist 
of bank balances and cash.

3.2.15 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss 
before taxation because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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3.2.15 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not 
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and interests in a joint venture and an associate, except where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the Group 
recognises the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines 
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.15 Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the 
Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. 
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
are not recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences 
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not 
subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of remeasurement 
or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the 
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and 
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable 
that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use 
by individual group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred 
taxes are determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not 
probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of 
each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

3.2.16 Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each of the reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in 
a foreign currency are not re-translated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of 
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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3.2.17 Leases

Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or 
arising from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease 
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as 
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract 
are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone 
price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease 
component, and instead account for the lease component and any associated non-lease 
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of leasehold land and 
buildings and motor vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term 
leases are recognised as expense on a straight line basis or another systematic basis over the 
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.17 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

•	 the	amount	of	the	initial	measurement	of	the	lease	liability;

•	 any	 lease	payments	made	at	or	before	the	commencement	date,	 less	any	 lease	 incentives	
received;

•	 any	initial	direct	costs	incurred	by	the	Group;	and

•	 an	 estimate	 of	 costs	 to	 be	 incurred	 by	 the	 Group	 in	 dismantling	 and	 removing	 the	
underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset 
to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease 
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the 
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful 
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.17 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair 
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments 
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at 
the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value 
of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

•	 fixed	payments	(including	in-substance	fixed	payments)	less	any	lease	incentives	receivable;

•	 variable	 lease	 payments	 that	 depend	 on	 an	 index	 or	 a	 rate,	 initially	measured	 using	 the	
index or rate as at the commencement date; and

•	 payments	of	penalties	for	terminating	a	lease,	if	the	lease	term	reflects	the	Group	exercising	
an option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and 
lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.17 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use assets) whenever the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates 
following a market rent review, in which case the related lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for COVID-19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical 
expedient, the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

•	 the	modification	 increases	the	scope	of	the	 lease	by	adding	the	right	to	use	one	or	more	
underlying assets; and

•	 the	 consideration	 for	 the	 leases	 increases	 by	 an	 amount	 commensurate	with	 the	 stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone 
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the 
lease liability, less any lease incentive receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease 
by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of 
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding 
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

When the modified contract contains one or more additional lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the 
relative stand-alone price of the lease component. The associated non-lease components are 
included in the respective lease components.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.17 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a 
lease modification if all of the following conditions are met:

•	 the	 change	 in	 lease	 payments	 results	 in	 revised	 consideration	 for	 the	 lease	 that	 is	
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately 
preceding the change;

•	 any	reduction	in	lease	payments	affects	only	payments	originally	due	on	or	before	30	June	
2022; and

•	 there	is	no	substantive	change	to	other	terms	and	conditions	of	the	lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease payments resulting from 
rent concessions the same way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the 
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for 
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts 
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period 
in which the event occurs.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the 
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments for 
operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are estimated and included in the total lease 
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments 
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented 
as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.17 Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 
to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease 
components are separated from lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone 
selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at 
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease 
payments from lessees.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess whether sale and leaseback 
transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a sale, the Group as a seller-lessee 
continues to recognise the assets and accounts for the transfer proceeds (if any) as borrowings 
within the scope of HKFRS 9.

3.2.18 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(a) Share options granted to directors, employees and other participants of the Group
Equity-settled share based payments to directors, employees and other participants 
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
grant date.

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments determined at the grant date without 
taking into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight line 
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will 
eventually vest with a corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve). At the end 
of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The 
impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is 
recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, 
with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share options 
reserve will be transferred to share capital. When the share options are forfeited after the 
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised 
in share options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2.18 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (Continued)

(b) Share options granted to other participants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties other than directors and 
employees are measured at the fair values of the goods or services received, except where 
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the goods or the 
counterparty renders service. The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised 
as expenses, unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

3.2.19 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits plans are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits 
expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee 
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of 
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries and 
annual leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

3.2.20 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events but is not recognised 
because it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the part of the obligation that is 
expected to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits has become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future 
economic benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a 
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in which 
the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable 
estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the directors of the 
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Judgement in determining whether reversion of gaming assets and equipment and ownership 
rights to the casino properties in Macau to Macau Government upon expiration of the 
Gaming Concession Contract would result in derecognition

Upon expiration of the Gaming Concession Contract, all of SJM’s casinos, gaming assets and equipment 
and ownership rights to the casino properties in Macau were reverted to the Macau Government without 
compensation to SJM (the “Assets Reverted to the Macau Government”).

On 16 December 2022, Macau government had awarded SJM the New Gaming Concession Contract for a 
10-year period. On 30 December 2022, SJM signed a deed with the Macau Government where SJM agreed 
with the Assets Reverted to the Macau Government. Macau Government temporarily transferred the Assets 
Reverted to the Macau Government to SJM for its operation of games of chance or other games in the 
casinos during the concession period under the New Gaming Concession Contract.

The management of the Company assessed whether the reversion of gaming assets and equipment and 
ownership rights to the casino properties in Macau to Macau Government upon expiration of the Gaming 
Concession Contract would result in derecognition of the Asset Reverted to the Macau Government. The 
management of the Company believe that SJM will be in a good position for the renewal, extension or 
application process for gaming concession retendering or extension upon the expiration of the New 
Gaming Concession Contract. The management of the Company have established that the Group can 
continue to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the Assets Reverted 
to the Macau Government and therefore the Group can retain control of the Assets Reverted to the Macau 
Government. As a result, the management of the Company concluded that the reversion of Assets Reverted 
to the Macau Government will not result in derecognition and the Group shall continue to recognise the 
Assets Reverted to the Macau Government in the respective categories of property and equipment.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Determination on lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that 
include renewal option, specifically, the leases relating to leasehold lands.

The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise renewal options impacts the lease 
term, which significantly affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-
assessment is performed upon the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances that is within the control of lessee and that affects the assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances including 
economic incentives/penalties for exercising or not exercising the options. Factors considered include:

•	 contractual	terms	and	conditions	for	the	optional	periods	compared	with	market	rates	(e.g.	whether	
the amount of payments in the optional periods is below the market rates);

•	 the	extent	of	leasehold	improvements	undertaken	by	Group;

•	 costs	relating	to	termination	of	the	lease	(e.g.	relocation	costs,	costs	of	identifying	another	underlying	
asset suitable for the Group’s needs).

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for the lease 
contracts which the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the renewal option are HK$2,358.6 million and 
HK$470.0 million (2021: HK$2,423.2 million and HK$469.5 million) respectively.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of the property and equipment and right-of-use assets related to 
Grand Lisboa Palace Project (“GLP Project”)

In determining whether property and equipment and right-of-use assets related to GLP Project are impaired, 
the management of the Group has to exercise significant judgement and make estimation on the 
recoverable amounts of the property and equipment and right-of-use assets related to GLP Project. 
Changes in the key assumptions, including the pre-tax discount rate, terminal growth rate and expected 
changes in revenues and costs in the discounted cash flow projections, could materially affect the 
recoverable amounts. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment assessment of the property and equipment and right-of-use assets related to 
Grand Lisboa Palace Project (“GLP Project”) (Continued)

The management of the Group considered there was indication for impairment for these property and 
equipment and right-of-use assets and prepared discounted cash flow projections for GLP Project based on 
the financial budget approved by the management of the Group and engaged an independent professional 
valuer to conduct impairment assessment on their recoverable amount of property and equipment and 
right-of-use assets.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of the property and equipment and right-of-use assets related 
to GLP Project were HK$34,730.5 million and HK$1,876.9 million (2021: HK$36,025.3 million and 
HK$1,923.6 million), respectively.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of the property and equipment and right-of-use assets 
related to GLP Project based on higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use and concluded 
that the carrying amount of these assets does not exceed their recoverable amount based on value in use. 
Accordingly, no impairment has been recognised as at 31 December 2022 or for the year then ended.

Estimates of timing and amount of repayment of amount due to non-controlling interests of 
a subsidiary

As disclosed in note 28, the amount due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary as at 31 December 
2022 of HK$339.5 million (2021: HK$305.6 million) is repayable only when the subsidiary has surplus funds 
which require significant estimates. Surplus fund represents cash available in the subsidiary after estimated 
payments of all operating expenses and payables including but not limited to bank loans and third party 
loans which are due for repayment together with the accrued interest. As such, the carrying amount of 
such amount due to non-controlling interests of a subsidiary may be adjusted to reflect the revised 
estimated cash flows when the Group revises its estimates of the surplus funds and consequently the timing 
and amount of repayment to the non-controlling interests, and will affect the amount of imputed interest 
to be recognised in profit or loss over the expected life of such amount due to non-controlling interests of 
a subsidiary.

Useful lives of property and equipment

The Group depreciates property and equipment over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method, commencing from the date the property and equipment are ready for the intended use. The useful 
lives that the Group estimated for property and equipment reflects the Group management’s estimate of 
the period that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the assets. Future 
events could result in a change in the manner in which the Group uses certain assets and could have an 
impact on the estimated useful lives of such assets. Should there be any changes in such estimates, the 
depreciation of property and equipment may vary with changes affecting profit or loss in the period of 
the change.

The management of the Group believe SJM will be successful in extending the term of concession and/or 
obtaining a new gaming concession when the New Gaming Concession Contract expires. Therefore, the 
useful lives of property and equipment has taken into consideration of such factor.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group is currently organised into two reportable segments — gaming operations, and hotel, catering, 
retail and leasing operations. Principal activities of these two reportable segments are as follows:

(i) Gaming operations — operation of casinos and related facilities
(ii) Hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations — operation of hotel, catering, retail, leasing and 

related services

Reportable segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker (the “CODM”). CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the reportable segments, has been identified as a group of senior management that makes 
strategic decisions.

The CODM regularly analyses gaming operations in terms of VIP gaming operations, mass market table 
gaming operations, slot machine and other gaming operations, and the relevant revenues and operating 
results are reviewed as a whole for resources allocation and performance assessment. For hotel, catering, 
retail and leasing operations, the CODM regularly reviews the performance on the basis of the individual 
hotel. For segment reporting under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, financial information of the Group’s 
hotels with similar economic characteristics has been aggregated into a single reportable segment named 
“hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations”.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment information about these businesses is presented below:

(a) An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments is as follows:
Segment revenue Segment results

2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Gaming operations:
recognised at a point in time 6,092.0 9,607.9 (6,298.8) (3,305.8)

Hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations:
External sales:
Catering and retail operations: 

recognised at a point in time 298.3 268.0
Hotel operations:

recognised over time 141.6 124.5
Leasing operations:

revenue from operating leases 146.7 75.6

586.6 468.1

Inter-segment sales:
Catering and retail operations:

recognised at a point in time 45.7 36.4
Hotel operations:

recognised over time 9.0 18.8

54.7 55.2

641.3 523.3 (1,355.0) (729.5)

Eliminations (54.7) (55.2)

586.6 468.1

Total:
Revenue from contracts with customers:

recognised at a point in time 6,390.3 9,875.9
recognised over time 141.6 124.5

6,531.9 10,000.4

Revenue from operating leases:
lease payments that are fixed 146.7 75.6

6,678.6 10,076.0

Reconciliation from segment 
results to loss before taxation: (7,653.8) (4,035.3)

Unallocated corporate income 16.5 8.2
Unallocated corporate expenses (150.6) (162.7)
Share of (losses) profits of an associate (3.2) 8.1
Share of profits of a joint venture 3.6 5.0

Loss before taxation (7,787.5) (4,176.7)
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(a) An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segments is as follows: 
(Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
policies described in note 3. Segment results represent the loss before taxation from each segment 
without allocation of corporate income and expenses and share of (losses) profits of an associate and 
a joint venture. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation 
and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at a price mutually agreed by both parties.

(b) An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segments is as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

ASSETS
Segment assets:

— gaming operations 35,903.6 30,145.0
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 9,501.0 9,105.4

45,404.6 39,250.4
Interest in an associate 41.8 353.5
Interest in a joint venture 43.8 144.8
Unallocated bank deposits, bank balances and cash 443.9 221.5
Other unallocated assets 6,713.6 9,936.0

Group’s total 52,647.7 49,906.2

LIABILITIES
Bank loans:

— gaming operations 18,745.7 12,958.0
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 229.6 227.9

18,975.3 13,185.9

Unsecured notes:
— gaming operations 9,400.6 9,388.0

Convertible bond:
— gaming operations 1,016.8 —
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 377.5 —

1,394.3 —

Other segment liabilities:
— gaming operations 4,050.8 3,261.1
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 591.4 651.8

4,642.2 3,912.9

Total segment liabilities 34,412.4 26,486.8
Unallocated liabilities 2,221.9 3,014.3

Group’s total 36,634.3 29,501.1
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(b) An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segments is as follows: 
(Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources between segments:

(i) other unallocated assets include mainly certain property and equipment, certain right-of-use 
assets, certain deposits made on acquisitions of property and equipment, art works and 
diamonds, amounts due from an associate/a joint venture/an investee company and investments 
in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI.

(ii) unallocated liabilities include mainly certain construction payables and amount due to  
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary.

(iii) all assets are allocated to reportable segments, other than interest in an associate/a joint venture, 
unallocated bank deposits, bank balances and cash and those mentioned in above (i).

(iv) all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments, other than liabilities not attributable to 
respective segments as mentioned in above (ii).

(c) Other segment information of the Group

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Additions to non-current assets (other than financial instruments):
— gaming operations 1,558.5 48.4
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 8.1 4.4
— corporate level* 649.6 1,478.5

2,216.2 1,531.3

* Amount includes certain property and equipment, certain right-of-use assets and certain deposits made on 

acquisitions of property and equipment where the directors of the Company consider it impracticable to divide into 

individual segments.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(c) Other segment information of the Group (Continued)

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Depreciation and amortisation:
— gaming operations 884.8 796.5 
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 943.9 395.4
— corporate level 66.6 64.3

1,895.3 1,256.2

Loss (gain) on disposals/write-off of property and equipment:
— gaming operations 2.1 (0.1)
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations — 0.1
— corporate level — 0.1

2.1 0.1

Gain on early termination of lease contracts:
— gaming operations (1.7) —

Finance costs:
— gaming operations 1,087.3 321.4
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 16.6 9.0
— corporate level 18.7 12.9

1,122.6 343.3

Interest income:
— gaming operations 28.2 5.6
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 3.4 —
— corporate level 14.3 3.8

45.9 9.4

Impairment loss on financial assets:
— gaming operations 143.7 —

Impairment loss on property and equipment:
— gaming operations 476.7 —
— hotel, catering, retail and leasing operations 738.2 —

1,214.9 —

All revenues during each of the reporting periods are derived from customers in Macau SAR and 
almost all of the non-current assets, other than financial instruments, of the Group are located in 
Macau SAR. None of the customers of the Group contributed more than 10% of the total revenues 
during the reporting period.
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6. GAMING REVENUE

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Gaming revenue from:
— VIP gaming operations 486.3 1,359.2 
— mass market table gaming operations 5,552.5 8,472.1
— slot machine and other gaming operations 416.3 537.1

6,455.1 10,368.4
Less: commissions and incentives (363.1) (760.5)

6,092.0 9,607.9

7. FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Interests on:
— bank loans 588.2 244.1
— unsecured notes 435.1 385.4 
— convertible bond 64.7 —
— lease liabilities 19.9 28.1
— loan from ultimate holding company 6.8 —

Imputed interest on an amount due to non-controlling 
interests of a subsidiary 7.9 7.3

1,122.6 664.9
Less: Amount capitalised — (321.6)

1,122.6 343.3
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAxATION

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remuneration (note 9) 57.5 72.7 
Less: Amount capitalised (3.8) (9.7)

53.7 63.0

Retirement benefits scheme contributions for other staff 213.7 213.3
Less: Forfeited contributions (12.6) (17.0)

201.1 196.3

Other staff costs 5,319.1 5,883.1

Total employee benefit expenses 5,573.9 6,142.4

Auditor’s remuneration 16.6 15.2
Amortisation of intangible asset (including in operating and  

administrative expenses) 89.6 87.8
Depreciation of property and equipment 1,457.4 770.9
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 348.3 397.5
Loss on derecognition of a bank loan — 0.5
Loss on modification on a bank loan 19.6 —
Loss on disposals/write-off of property and equipment 2.1 0.1

and after crediting:

Bank interest income 45.9 9.4
COVID-19-related rent concessions (note 14) 76.1 47.6
Dividend income 0.2 3.0
Gain on early termination of lease contracts 1.7 —
Gain on early repayment of a bank loan — 67.5
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of directors during the year are analysed as follows:

2022 2021

Base fees Special fees Other fees Total Base fees Special fees Other fees Total
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))

THE COMPANY
Executive directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 1.5 0.1 — 1.6 1.6 0.1 0.1 1.8
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 1.4 0.1 — 1.5 1.8 0.1 0.1 2.0
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 1.4 0.1 — 1.5 1.9 0.2 0.1 2.2
Dr. So Shu Fai (Chief Executive Officer) 1.5 0.1 — 1.6 1.9 0.2 0.1 2.2
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David 0.8 — — 0.8 1.2 0.1 0.1 1.4
Dr. Chan Un Chan 0.6 — — 0.6 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.7

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ng Chi Sing (Note (d)) 0.3 — — 0.3 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.7
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick 0.6 — — 0.6 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.7

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Chau Tak Hay (Note (e)) 0.4 — — 0.4 0.8 0.1 0.1 1.0
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham (Note (f)) — — — — 0.7 — — 0.7
Mr. Tse Hau Yin 1.2 0.1 — 1.3 1.6 0.1 0.1 1.8
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina 0.8 0.1 — 0.9 0.7 0.1 0.1 0.9
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard (Note (g)) 0.8 0.1 — 0.9 0.5 — 0.1 0.6
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman (Note (h)) 0.4 — — 0.4 — — — —

11.7 0.7 — 12.4 14.2 1.3 1.2 16.7

SUBSIDIARIES
Executive directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 12.3 1.0 0.6 13.9 12.5 1.1 1.6 15.2
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 0.7 0.1 — 0.8 1.2 0.1 1.2 2.5
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 9.4 0.8 1.6 11.8 9.8 0.8 2.7 13.3
Dr. So Shu Fai (Chief Executive Officer) 12.2 1.0 0.6 13.8 12.7 1.0 1.6 15.3
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David 0.8 0.1 — 0.9 1.2 0.1 0.4 1.7
Dr. Chan Un Chan 0.3 0.1 — 0.4 0.4 — 0.4 0.8

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ng Chi Sing (Note (d)) — — 1.8 1.8 — — 4.3 4.3
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick — — 0.5 0.5 — — 0.8 0.8

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Chau Tak Hay (Note (e)) — — — — — — — —
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham (Note (f)) — — — — 0.3 — — 0.3
Mr. Tse Hau Yin 0.3 — 0.9 1.2 0.8 0.1 0.9 1.8
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina — — — — — — — —
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard (Note (g)) — — — — — — — —
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman (Note (h)) — — — — — — — —

36.0 3.1 6.0 45.1 38.9 3.2 13.9 56.0
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2022 2021

Base fees Special fees Other fees Total Base fees Special fees Other fees Total
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))

THE GROUP
Executive directors:
Ms. Ho Chiu Fung, Daisy 13.8 1.1 0.6 15.5 14.1 1.2 1.7 17.0
Mr. Fok Tsun Ting, Timothy 2.1 0.2 — 2.3 3.0 0.2 1.3 4.5
Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela 10.8 0.9 1.6 13.3 11.7 1.0 2.8 15.5
Dr. So Shu Fai (Chief Executive Officer) 13.7 1.1 0.6 15.4 14.6 1.2 1.7 17.5
Mr. Shum Hong Kuen, David 1.6 0.1 — 1.7 2.4 0.2 0.5 3.1
Dr. Chan Un Chan 0.9 0.1 — 1.0 0.9 0.1 0.5 1.5

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ng Chi Sing (Note (d)) 0.3 — 1.8 2.1 0.5 0.1 4.4 5.0
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick 0.6 — 0.5 1.1 0.5 0.1 0.9 1.5

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Chau Tak Hay (Note (e)) 0.4 — — 0.4 0.8 0.1 0.1 1.0
Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham (Note (f)) — — — — 1.0 — — 1.0
Mr. Tse Hau Yin 1.5 0.1 0.9 2.5 2.4 0.2 1.0 3.6
Ms. Wong Yu Pok, Marina 0.8 0.1 — 0.9 0.7 0.1 0.1 0.9
Mr. Yeung Ping Leung, Howard (Note (g)) 0.8 0.1 — 0.9 0.5 — 0.1 0.6
Mr. Ho Hau Chong, Norman (Note (h)) 0.4 — — 0.4 — — — —

47.7 3.8 6.0 57.5 53.1 4.5 15.1 72.7

Notes:

(a) Base fee represents a fixed fee paid for the holding of an office as a director and, where appropriate, a board committee 

member.

(b) Special fee represents a performance-based discretionary payment.

(c) Other fees paid to Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela include the fee (including performance-based discretionary payment) acting 

as the chairman of the Staff Welfare Consultative Committee of SJM, a subsidiary of the Company. Other fees paid to Mr. Tse 

Hau Yin represent the fee (including performance-based discretionary payment) acting as supervisory committee chairman of 

SJM and its certain subsidiaries. Other fees paid to Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick represent the fee acting as supervisory committee 

member of SJM and its certain subsidiaries. Other fees paid to all directors also include various allowances.

(d) Retired as non-executive director on 15 June 2022.

(e) Retired as independent non-executive director on 15 June 2022.

(f) Retired as independent non-executive director on 28 May 2021.

(g) Elected as independent non-executive director on 28 May 2021.

(h) Elected as independent non-executive director on 15 June 2022.

9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Executive directors are also senior management of the Group.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’s and independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for 
their services as directors of the Company.

The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 included three (2021: 
three) directors of the Company, whose emoluments are disclosed above, and the remaining two (2021: 
two) are employees of the Group, details of whose emolument are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Employee:
Salaries and allowances 31.3 34.8

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

Number of employees
2022 2021

HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 1 —
HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000 — 1
HK$18,500,001 to HK$19,000,000 1 —
HK$21,500,001 to HK$22,000,000 — 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors and the five highest paid individuals (including 
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss 
of office in both years. None of the directors and the five highest paid individuals has waived any 
emoluments during both years.
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10. TAxATION

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Macau SAR Complementary Tax (“CT”):
— current tax 61.1 21.9 
— overprovision in prior year — (0.5)

61.1 21.4
Deferred taxation credit (note 30) — —

61.1 21.4

No provision for CT on gaming related income is made for a subsidiary of the Company, SJM. Pursuant to 
the approval notices issued by the Macau SAR Government dated 17 April 2020, SJM has been exempted 
from CT for income generated from gaming operations for the periods from 1 April 2020 to 26 June 2022. 
Pursuant to the approval notice issued by the Macau SAR Government dated 1 September 2022, the 
Company has been exempted from CT for income generated from gaming operations for the period from 
27 June 2022 to 31 December 2022.

In addition, pursuant to the approval letter dated 30 March 2021 issued by the Financial Services Bureau of 
the Macau SAR Government, a Special Complementary Tax was levied on the extended concession period 
from 1 April 2020 to 26 June 2022, and SJM’s shareholders were obligated to pay the Special 
Complementary Tax of MOP16.9 million (equivalent to HK$16.4 million) for the period 1 April 2020 to 
31 December 2020, MOP22.5 million (equivalent to HK$21.9 million) for the year ended 31 December 2021 
and MOP11.0 million (equivalent to HK$10.7 million) for the period from 1 January 2022 to 26 June 2022, 
regardless of any dividend distributed by SJM during the relevant year. SJM is in the progress of obtaining 
the extension of approval from Financial Services Bureau of the Macau SAR Government for the period 
from 27 June 2022 to 31 December 2022.
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10. TAxATION (Continued)

Regarding the other Macau SAR subsidiaries, CT is calculated at the CT rate of 12% on the estimated 
assessable profit for both years.

No provision for taxation in other jurisdictions (including Hong Kong SAR) is made as the Group’s 
operations outside Macau SAR have no assessable taxable profit arising from the respective jurisdictions.

Tax charge for the year is reconciled to loss before taxation as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Loss before taxation (7,787.5) (4,176.7)

Tax credit at the applicable income tax rate of 12% (934.5) (501.2)
Effect of tax exemption granted to the Group 652.9 365.8
Effect of share of results of an associate and a joint venture (0.1) (1.6)
Effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (7.5) (1.0)
Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 34.9 36.7
Effect of tax losses not recognised 296.5 116.9
Deductible temporary difference not recognised 12.9 —
Overprovision in respect of prior years — (0.5)
Utilisation of deductible temporary difference previously not recognised (11.4) (15.6)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (4.5) —
Special Complementary Tax 21.9 21.9

Tax charge for the year 61.1 21.4

11. DIVIDENDS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Final dividend per ordinary share paid:
— nil (2021: nil) — —

On 8 March 2023, the board of directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of a final 
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on 
the following data:

Loss

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share  
(loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company) (7,798.4) (4,143.7)

Number of shares

2022 2021
(Restated)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  
the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 6,362,128,016 6,078,562,181

Loss per share

2022 2021
(Restated)

— Basic HK(122.6) cents HK(68.2) cents
— Diluted HK(122.6) cents HK(68.2) cents

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per share has been adjusted for Rights Issue on 

22 September 2022.

 For the year ended 31 December 2022, the diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options 

and the conversion of the Company’s convertible bond (2021: the exercise of the Company’s share options) because the 

assumed exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share (2021: would result in a decrease in loss per share).
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13. PROPERTY AND EqUIPMENT

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings Chips

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Gaming 

equipment
Leasehold 

improvements
Motor 

vehicles Vessels
Construction 

in progress Total
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

COST
At 1 January 2021 5,683.8 460.6 7,034.0 660.5 4,269.9 55.4 286.1 34,023.0 52,473.3
Additions — 58.4 89.6 93.3 23.2 44.7 — 1,872.6 2,181.8
Disposals/write-off — — (59.6) (44.0) (5.3) (1.4) — — (110.3)
Transfers 16,192.7 — 11,607.5 — 7.2 — — (27,807.4) —

At 31 December 2021 21,876.5 519.0 18,671.5 709.8 4,295.0 98.7 286.1 8,088.2 54,544.8
Adjustment upon finalisation of costs — — — — — — — (524.7) (524.7)
Additions 1,906.1 10.2 172.2 0.2 4.8 — — 204.2 2,297.7
Disposals/write-off — — (102.4) — (10.1) — — — (112.5)
Transfers 1,880.7 — 903.6 — 5.4 — — (2,789.7) —

At 31 December 2022 25,663.3 529.2 19,644.9 710.0 4,295.1 98.7 286.1 4,978.0 56,205.3

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 2,595.3 460.2 6,012.2 440.5 3,255.1 46.1 104.9 — 12,914.3 
Provided for the year 216.1 2.7 380.5 50.4 115.6 6.4 12.5 — 784.2
Eliminated on disposals/write-off — — (57.4) (43.7) (5.3) (1.4) — — (107.8)

At 31 December 2021 2,811.4 462.9 6,335.3 447.2 3,365.4 51.1 117.4 — 13,590.7
Provided for the year 519.5 6.4 744.5 70.0 97.7 9.6 9.9 — 1,457.6
Eliminated on disposals/write-off — — (97.5) — (10.1) — — — (107.6)
Impairment loss recognised — — 410.2 0.9 803.8 — — — 1,214.9

At 31 December 2022 3,330.9 469.3 7,392.5 518.1 4,256.8 60.7 127.3 — 16,155.6

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2022 22,332.4 59.9 12,252.4 191.9 38.3 38.0 158.8 4,978.0 40,049.7

At 31 December 2021 19,065.1 56.1 12,336.2 262.6 929.6 47.6 168.7 8,088.2 40,954.1

During the year ended 31 December 2022, SJM entered into a transfer agreement with STDM in acquisition 
of the Oceanus Building with the settlement by the issuance of convertible bond as disclosed in note 31. 
The cost of acquisition of the Oceanus Building of HK$1,906 million is recognised as addition of leasehold 
land and buildings as the Group has the ability to direct the use of the Oceanus Building and the future 
economic benefits associated with the Oceanus Building will flow to the Group. Details of the transaction 
was disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 6 June 2022. The transaction was completed on 
22 June 2022.

At 31 December 2022, pursuant to the gaming concession held by the Group, certain of the Group’s 
property and equipment in respect of the Group’s gaming business have to be returned to the Macau SAR 
Government upon completion of the term of the concession. 

During the year ended 31 December 2022, SJM reached an agreement with the principal contractors in 
relation to the settlement amount of the finalised construction costs of the GLP Project.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying values of the property and equipment of HK$34,730.5 million (2021: 
HK$36,025.3 million) represented the property and equipment of GLP Project.
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13. PROPERTY AND EqUIPMENT (Continued)

Other staff costs of HK$27.9 million (2021: HK$128.5 million), short-term lease rentals in respect of rented 
premises of HK$2.1 million (2021: HK$3.6 million), depreciation expenses of right-of-use assets of 
HK$2.1 million (2021: HK$30.7 million), depreciation expenses of property and equipment of 
HK$0.2 million (2021: HK$13.3 million) and interest expenses of nil (2021: HK$321.6 million) have been 
capitalised in construction in progress for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the sublease contract of Jai-Alai Building was expired. Subsequent to the end of 
the reporting period, the Group has executed a sublease contract with the sublessor of Jai-Alai Building for 
the period from 1 January 2023 until 31 December 2023. The management of the Group has identified an 
indication of impairment on the assets relating to the Group’s operations in Jai-Alai Building arising from 
the probable non-renewal of lease upon expiry of the sublease contract. During the year ended 
31 December 2022, the management of the Group has performed impairment assessment on the assets 
relating to the Group’s operations in Jai-Alai Building and that the future net cash inflow from 
the operations in Jai-Alai Building is expected to be insignificant. Therefore, the management of  
the Group recognised an impairment loss on property and equipment relating to Jai-Alai Building of 
HK$1,210.3 million.

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leasehold 
lands

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

COST
At 1 January 2021 2,685.7 1,083.1 6.7 3,775.5
Additions — 71.1 — 71.1
Early termination/end of lease contracts — (79.7) (6.7) (86.4)

At 31 December 2021 2,685.7 1,074.5 — 3,760.2
Additions — 10.6 — 10.6
Early termination/end of lease contracts — (802.8) — (802.8)

At 31 December 2022 2,685.7 282.3 — 2,968.0

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2021 127.3 290.3 4.5 422.1
Charge for the year 66.1 359.9 2.2 428.2
Early termination/end of lease contracts — (78.3) (6.7) (85.0)

At 31 December 2021 193.4 571.9 — 765.3
Charge for the year 67.1 281.2 — 348.3
Early termination/end of lease contracts — (744.6) — (744.6)

At 31 December 2022 260.5 108.5 — 369.0

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2022 2,425.2 173.8 — 2,599.0

At 31 December 2021 2,492.3 502.6 — 2,994.9
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Expense relating to short-term leases 8.7 30.7

Total cash outflow for leases 236.8 283.0

At 31 December 2022, the carrying values of the right-of-use assets of HK$1,876.9 million (2021: 
HK$1,923.6 million) represented the right-of-use assets related to GLP Project.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, SJM entered into a transfer agreement with STDM in acquisition 
of the Oceanus Building and the lease of the Oceanus Building has been early terminated.

For both years, the Group leases certain leasehold lands, commercial properties and carparks (2021: 
leasehold lands, commercial properties, carparks and motor vehicles) for its operations. Lease contract are 
entered into for fixed term from 1 to 25 years. Certain leases of leasehold lands in Macau SAR are 
negotiated for an initial term of 25 years with extension options exercisable by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group 
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns casino and commercial properties. The Group is the registered owner of these 
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront to 
acquire these property interests and fixed payments are paid annually. The leasehold land components of 
these owned properties are not presented separately as the payments made cannot be allocated reliably.

Rent concessions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, lessors of various casino properties, commercial properties and 
motor vehicles provided rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic 
to the Group through rent reductions ranging from 15% to 30% (2021: ranging from 15% to 76%) over 
6 to 12 months (2021: 6 to 12 months).

These were rent concessions occurred as a direct consequence of COVID-19 pandemic, which met of all of 
the conditions in HKFRS 16.46B, and the Group applied the practical expedient not to assess whether the 
changes constitute lease modifications. The effects on changes in lease payments due to forgiveness or 
waiver by the lessors for the relevant leases of HK$76.1 million (2021: HK$47.6 million) were recognised as 
negative variable lease payments.
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSET

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group accepted a gaming concession extension contract 
with Macau SAR Government in respect of the gaming concession of SJM, which was originally due to 
expire on 31 March 2020, for a further period up to 26 June 2022. The cost of extension premium for the 
Gaming Concession Contract of MOP200.0 million (equivalent to HK$194.2 million) and related costs have 
been amortised on a straight line basis over the extended term of the gaming concession starting from 
1 April 2020.

A Concession Amendment Contract extension with Macau SAR Government in respect of the gaming 
concession of SJM, which originally expired on 26 June 2022, is extended for a further period up to 
31 December 2022. The cost of extension premium for the Gaming Concession Contract of MOP47.0 million 
(equivalent to HK$45.7 million) and related costs have been amortised on a straight line basis over the 
extended term of the gaming concession starting from 27 June 2022.

16. ART WORKS AND DIAMONDS

The amounts represent the aggregate cost of art works and diamonds held by the Group. In the opinion of 
the directors of the Company, the recoverable amounts of the art works and diamonds are at least their 
carrying amounts at the end of both reporting periods.

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Cost of unlisted investment 25.0 25.0
Discount on acquisition 6.8 6.8
Share of post-acquisition profits, net of distributions 10.0 321.7

41.8 353.5

The cost of investment in an associate represents the Group’s 49% quota capital in an entity, Zhen Hwa 
Harbour Construction Company Limited, which is established in Macau SAR and engaged in the provision 
of construction services in Macau SAR and investment holding business.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements prepared in 
accordance with HKFRSs.

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Current assets 543.0 1,249.9

Non-current assets 83.3 83.8

Current liabilities (546.3) (1,253.4)

Non-current liability — (1.2)

Revenue 98.1 524.0

Profit (loss) for the year 0.1 (1.1)

The unrecognised share of results of an associate*:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

At 1 January 636.4 623.5
Unrecognised share of results for the year 0.1 12.9
Settlement of unrecognised share of result from holding company of  

the associate (Note) (636.4) —

At 31 December 0.1 636.4

* The Group’s share of accumulated losses on a construction project is limited to a fixed amount of MOP100.0 million (equivalent 

to HK$97.1 million) as agreed with the holding company of the associate.

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has entered into an arrangement with the associate and the holding 

company of the associate on distribution of interest in an associate and settlement of unrecognised share of result by 

assignment of shareholder’s loan from the holding company of the associate to the Group.  Accordingly, the Group has 

received distribution amounting to HK$311.8 million from the associate and the previously unrecognised share of result has 

been absorbed by the holding company of the associate.
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in the 
associate and share of profits recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Reconciliation of interest in an associate

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Net assets of an associate 80.0 79.1
Unrecognised share of loss of an associate 0.1 636.4

Adjusted net assets of an associate 80.1 715.5
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in an associate 49% 49%

39.2 350.6
Effect of fair value adjustments at acquisition 2.6 2.9

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in an associate 41.8 353.5

Reconciliation of share of (losses) profits of an associate

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Results for the year of an associate 0.1 (1.1)
Unrecognised share of results for the year 0.1 12.9
Unrealised (profits) losses for the year (6.7) 4.7

Adjusted (losses) profits for the year of an associate (6.5) 16.5
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in an associate 49% 49%

Share of (losses) profits of an associate (3.2) 8.1
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18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Cost of unlisted investment 39.7 39.7
Share of post-acquisition profits, net of dividends received 4.1 105.1

43.8 144.8

The cost of investment in a joint venture represents the Group’s 49% quota capital in an entity, Chong 
Fung Real Estate Investment Limited, which is established in Macau SAR and engaged in property 
investment business in Macau SAR.

According to the legal form and terms of the contractual arrangements, each of the two joint venturers 
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement, hence it is 
regarded as a joint venture.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the cost of investment is goodwill of HK$34.3 million (2021: 
HK$34.3 million) arising on acquisition of the joint venture.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements.
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18. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint venture is set out below. The summarised 
financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s financial statements prepared 
in accordance with HKFRSs.

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Current assets 136.9 233.3

Non-current assets 23.5 24.4

Current liabilities (141.0) (32.1)

Revenue 8.3 11.2

Profit for the year 7.4 10.3

Dividend received from the joint venture during the year 104.6 —

The above profit for the year includes the following:
Depreciation 0.9 0.9

Interest income 2.1 1.2

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in a 
joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Net assets of a joint venture 19.4 225.6
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in a joint venture 49% 49%

9.5 110.5
Goodwill 34.3 34.3

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in a joint venture 43.8 144.8
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19. INVESTMENTS IN EqUITY INSTRUMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

At 31 December 2022, the amounts comprise equity shares listed in Hong Kong SAR of HK$109.9 million 
(2021: HK$166.9 million) and unlisted equity shares in a private entity established in the British Virgin 
Islands of HK$314.2 million (2021: HK$314.2 million) that are carried at fair value. These investments are 
not held for trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. The management has elected 
to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-
term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s 
strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising their performance potential in 
the long run.

20. OTHER ASSETS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Deposits made on acquisitions of property and equipment 209.4 276.4
Rental deposits 5.8 8.5
Amount due from an associate 88.4 88.4
Amount due from a joint venture 14.5 14.5
Amount due from an investee company 39.0 39.0

357.1 426.8

The amounts due from an associate/a joint venture/an investee company are unsecured, interest-free and 
have no fixed repayment terms. The management of the Group expects that these amounts will not be 
realised within 12 months from the end of the reporting period, hence, these amounts are classified as 
non-current assets.
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21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Non-current portion
Bank deposit pledged:

— to secure a bank facility (Note (a)) 970.9 —

Current portion
Bank deposits pledged:

— to secure a bank facility (Note (b)) 145.6 145.6
— to secure bank facilities 36.1 —
— in favour of the Macau SAR court against any future  

legal proceedings of labour disputes 1.0 1.0
— others 0.4 0.4

183.1 147.0

Notes:

(a) The amount represents a deposit pledged to secure the bank facility granted to a subsidiary of the Company. The bank facility 

represents a guarantee amounting to HK$970.9 million which is in favour of the Macau SAR Government against the legal and 

contractual financial obligations of SJM under the New Gaming Concession Contract.

(b) The amount represents a deposit pledged to secure the bank facility granted to a subsidiary of the Company. The bank facility 

represents a guarantee amounting to HK$291.3 million from 1 April 2007 to 180 days after expiry date of Gaming Concession 

Contract, which is in favour of the Macau SAR Government against the legal and contractual financial obligations of SJM under 

the Gaming Concession Contract.

At 31 December 2022, the pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rate ranging from 2.40% to 5.00% 
(2021: 1.15%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set 
out in note 40.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Advances to gaming promoters and patrons, net 2.3 0.2
Lease receivables 118.1 63.0
Other receivables from gaming promoters and service providers, net 225.4 301.6
Prepayments 175.5 173.4
Other sundry receivables 173.4 187.9

694.7 726.1

As at 1 January 2021, the carrying amount of advances to gaming promoters and patrons was 
HK$112.5 million.

Advances to gaming promoters and patrons mainly include pre-approved interest-free revolving credit lines 
and short-term temporary interest-free advances. All advances to gaming promoters and patrons are 
unsecured, repayable on demand at discretion of the Group and generally require cheques and guarantees. 
At 31 December 2022, all of advances to gaming promoters and patrons (net of allowances) are neither 
past due nor impaired.

Advances are only granted to gaming promoters and patrons with good credit histories and financial track 
records. The Group has enforceable right and intends to offset the advances against commission payables 
to or deposits from relevant gaming promoters and patrons. In addition, in the event that a gaming 
promoter or patron fails to repay, the Group has the right, pursuant to the relevant gaming promoters and 
patrons agreement, to offset or withhold the other payables to those gaming promoters and patrons, 
realise cheques and execute guarantees.

Other receivables from gaming promoters and service providers represent certain costs to be reimbursed 
from gaming promoters and service providers. With the consent of gaming promoters and service providers, 
the Group can offset the outstanding balances against commission and service fee payables to or deposits 
from relevant gaming promoters and service providers. In the event that a gaming promoter or service 
provider fails to repay, the Group has the right, pursuant to the relevant gaming promoter agreement or 
service provider agreement, to offset or withhold the payables to that gaming promoter or service provider, 
realise cheques and execute guarantees, if any.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is the aged analysis of advances to gaming promoters and patrons at the end of the reporting 
period based on the date of credit granted:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Age
0 to 30 days 2.3 0.2

The lease receivables are mainly arising from rent-free periods provided to the tenants.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the year ended 31 December 2022 are 
set out in note 40.

Other sundry receivables mainly include deposits paid for rentals and operating supplies, interest receivables 
and credit card receivables.

Prepayments and other sundry receivables of the Group which included certain balances between the 
Group and related companies are detailed as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

STDM and its associates (as defined under Chapter 14A of  
the Listing Rules), excluding the Group 70.0 54.7

An associate of the Group 10.8 10.8
Entities in which STDM, certain directors of the Company and of its 

subsidiaries and/or their close family members have control/significant 
influence/beneficial interests 156.1 64.4

236.9 129.9
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23. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 December 2022, the short-term bank deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 3.00% to 5.00% 
(2021: 0.13% to 1.15%) per annum with original maturity of 6 months (2021: 4 months to 6 months) and 
are classified as current assets since their remaining maturity is within 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period.

At 31 December 2022, bank balances carry effective interest rates ranging from 2.75% to 4.95% (2021: 
0.30% to 1.10%) per annum. Under the Law No. 7/2022, the Group is required to maintain at least  
MOP5 billion balances and cash which is restricted for use before the commencement of the concession 
period under the New Gaming Concession Contract.

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Trade payables 86.6 263.4 
Special gaming tax payable 174.0 365.4
Chips in circulation 279.7 655.6
Chips in custody and deposits received from gaming patrons and  

gaming promoters 216.9 328.1
Payables for acquisition of property and equipment 178.8 64.4
Construction payables 1,692.6 2,510.8
Accrued staff costs 582.1 826.4
Accrued operating expenses 70.4 32.6
Withholding tax payable 15.8 19.8
Other sundry payables and accruals 509.6 538.9

3,806.5 5,605.4
Less: Non-current portion of other payables (Note) (71.4) (87.6)

3,735.1 5,517.8

Note: Non-current portion of other payables comprise of construction payables of nil (2021: HK$13.3 million) and deposits received 

for rentals of HK$71.4 million (2021: HK$74.3 million) at 31 December 2022. The management of the Group consider there is 

an unconditional right of defer the settlement of these liabilities for at least 12 months from the end of the reporting period.
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The following is the aged analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period based on the  
invoice date:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Age
0 to 30 days 68.2 244.4
31 to 60 days 9.8 11.7
61 to 90 days 3.7 3.1
Over 90 days 4.9 4.2

86.6 263.4

The average credit period on trade payables is 90 days. No interest is charged on trade payables. The Group 
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit 
time frame.

Trade and other payables of the Group included certain balances between the Group and related 
companies are detailed as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

STDM and its associates (as defined under Chapter 14A of  
the Listing Rules), excluding the Group 87.1 81.2

An associate of the Group 73.6 81.0
Entities in which STDM, certain directors of the Company and of its 

subsidiaries and/or their close family members have control/significant 
influence/beneficial interests 179.1 120.9

339.8 283.1
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25. BANK LOANS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

The syndicated secured bank loans are repayable:
Within one year 707.0 13,185.9
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 932.5 —
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years 4,677.7 —
Within a period of more than five years 12,658.1 —

18,975.3 13,185.9
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under current liabilities (707.0) (13,185.9)

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 18,268.3 —

Variable-rate bank loans comprise:

Carrying amounts
2022 2021

HK$ million HK$ million

Secured bank loans for GLP Project (“GLP Bank Loans”)

HK$ bank loan at 3-months Hong Kong Interbank  
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) + 2.25% per annum — 10,752.9

HK$ bank loan at 1-month HIBOR + 1.25% to 2.25% per annum 17,759.1 —
United States dollars (“US$”) bank loan at 3-months  

London Interbank Offered Rate + 2.25% per annum — 1,045.1
MOP bank loan at 3-months Macau Interbank Offered Rate  

(“MAIBOR”) + 2.25% per annum — 1,160.0
MOP bank loan at 1-month MAIBOR + 1.25% to 2.25% per annum 986.6 —

18,745.7 12,958.0
Secured bank loans for Ponte 16 (“P16 Bank Loans”)

HK$ bank loan at 3-months HIBOR + 2.50% per annum  
(2021: HIBOR + 2.50% per annum) 229.6 227.9

Total bank loans 18,975.3 13,185.9
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25. BANK LOANS (Continued)

GLP Bank Loans

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into a renewal of facility agreement with 
banks to refinance the Group’s syndicated loan facilities. The Group is not subject to the financial covenant 
tests on consolidated interest coverage ratio and consolidated leverage ratio during the year ended 
31 December 2022. 

At 31 December 2022, the range of effective interest rates of the secured bank loans is 2.53% to 6.66% 
(2021: 2.35% to 2.46%) per annum. The purpose of the secured syndicated loan facilities is for financing 
the GLP Project.

At 31 December 2022, the GLP Bank Loans are secured by certain non-gaming property and equipment 
and right-of-use assets of the Group with carrying values of HK$35,154.8 million and HK$1,701.0 million 
respectively (2021: secured by certain property and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group with 
carrying values of HK$37,566.6 million and HK$1,744.4 million, respectively).

In addition, the other key terms and securities for such bank loans pledged are set out as follows:

(i) an assignment of all receivables of SJM and its certain subsidiaries, if default;

(ii) floating charges over all assets (except immovable property and gaming equipment (2021: except 
immovable property)), legal charges over certain bank accounts and charges of all intellectual 
properties and rights of SJM and its certain subsidiaries;

(iii) assignments of all the rights and benefits of the SJM and certain subsidiaries under all insurance 
policies relating to certain properties held by the Group, if default;

(iv) share pledges over the shares of the Company and certain subsidiaries; and

(v) a legal promissory note (i.e. notarised livranca) for HK$20,900 million (31 December 2021: 
HK$27,500 million) issued by SJM and endorsed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of SJM.
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25. BANK LOANS (Continued)

P16 Bank Loans

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into a supplementary agreement with banks 
to revise the terms of previous facility agreement. 

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group obtained consent from the banks for waiver of the financial 
covenant tests on consolidated interest coverage ratio and consolidated leverage ratio during the year 
ended 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the effective interest rate of the secured bank loans is 6.94% (2021: 2.60%) per 
annum. The main purpose of the loans is to finance the payment of the land premium and the related cost 
for any land concession modification in respect of the phase 3 development project at Ponte 16 and settle 
certain loans from non-controlling shareholders.

At 31 December 2022, the P16 Bank Loans are secured by certain property and equipment and right-of-use 
assets of the Group with carrying values of HK$404.7 million (2021: HK$422.0 million) and  
HK$54.7 million (2021: HK$56.4 million), respectively. In addition, the other key terms and securities for 
such bank loans pledged are set out as follows:

(i) financial guarantees with promissory notes given by certain subsidiaries and the non-controlling 
shareholders amounting to HK$1,000 million (2021: HK$1,000 million) and HK$490 million (2021: 
HK$490 million), respectively;

(ii) an assignment of all receivables and income from gaming and hotel operation of Pier 16 – Property 
Development Limited (“Pier 16 – Property”) and its subsidiaries, if default;

(iii) floating charges over all assets (except immovable property) and legal charges over certain bank 
accounts of certain subsidiaries;

(iv) assignments of all the rights and benefits of insurance policies relating to certain properties held by 
the Group, if default; and

(v) share pledges over the shares of certain subsidiaries.
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26. UNSECURED NOTES

2022 2021
Notes HK$ million HK$ million

US$500,000,000 unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of 
4.50% per annum, payable semi-annually with maturity in 
2026 at carrying amounts i 3,928.5 3,922.3

US$500,000,000 unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of 
4.85% per annum, payable semi-annually with maturity in 
2028 at carrying amounts ii 3,930.4 3,926.2

HK$1,250,000,000 unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of 
3.90% per annum, payable semi-annually with maturity in 
2026 at carrying amounts iii 1,250.0 1,248.1

MOP300,000,000 unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of 
3.90% per annum, payable semi-annually with maturity in 
2026 at carrying amounts iv 291.7 291.4

9,400.6 9,388.0

The proceeds from the issuance of unsecured notes are intended to use for refinancing the syndicated 
secured bank loans and for general corporate purposes of the Group.

The unsecured notes contain special put options, which will be exercisable only after 20 days of triggering 
events relating to the loss of gaming concession in Macau SAR and such event has a material adverse effect 
on the financial condition, business, properties, or results of operations of the Group, which the Group 
would be required to make an offer to purchase all outstanding unsecured notes at a purchase price equal 
to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest within 50 days after the date of 
the offer.

Notes:

i. In January 2021, Champion Path Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, issued unsecured notes of US$500,000,000. 

The unsecured notes (Stock code: 40559) are listed on the Stock Exchange and carry fixed coupon rate of 4.50% per annum, 

payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured notes carry effective rate of 4.65% per annum. The principal amount of the 

unsecured notes is repayable in 2026.

ii. In January 2021, Champion Path Holding Limited issued unsecured notes of US$500,000,000. The unsecured notes (Stock code: 

40560) are listed on the Stock Exchange and carry fixed coupon rate of 4.85% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. 

The unsecured notes carry effective interest rate of 4.94% per annum. The principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable 

in 2028.

iii. In May 2021, Champion Moments Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, issued unsecured notes of HK$1,250,000,000. The 

unsecured notes are listed on the Chongwa (Macao) Financial Asset Exchange Co., Ltd (the “MOX”) and carry fixed coupon rate 

of 3.90% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured notes carry effective interest rate of 4.03% per annum. 

The principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in 2026.

iv. In May 2021, Champion Moments Limited issued unsecured notes of MOP300,000,000. The unsecured notes are listed on the 

MOX and carry fixed coupon rate of 3.90% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured notes carry effective 

interest rate of 3.98% per annum. The principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in 2026.
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Lease liabilities payable:

Within one year 46.4 344.0 
Within a period of more than one year but not exceeding two years 26.6 41.1
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years 81.0 80.3
Within a period of more than five years 496.3 518.5

650.3 983.9
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months shown  

under current liabilities (46.4) (344.0)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown  
under non-current liabilities 603.9 639.9

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 2.44% (2021: 2.44%).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HK$650.3 million are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$2,599.0 million as 
at 31 December 2022 (2021: lease liabilities of HK$983.9 million and related right-of-use assets of 
HK$2,994.9 million). The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in 
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. The related leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

As at 31 December 2022, the amounts are secured by rental deposits with carrying values of 
HK$33.7 million (2021: HK$51.2 million).

28. AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS OF A SUBSIDIARY

At the end of the reporting period, the amount is unsecured and interest-free. The Group agreed with the 
non-controlling shareholders of that subsidiary that the Group will only repay the amount based on the 
sufficiency of its surplus funds. The surplus funds represent the cash available in the relevant subsidiary of 
the Group after estimated payments of all operating expenses and payables including but not limited to 
bank loans and third party loans which are due for repayments together with the accrued interests. 
Therefore, the Group revises its estimates on the timing and amounts of repayments to the non-controlling 
shareholders of that subsidiary and adjusts the carrying amounts in accordance with the revised estimated 
cash flows on regular basis.
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28. AMOUNT DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, imputed interest of HK$7.9 million (2021: HK$7.3 million) 
on the amount due to the non-controlling interests of the subsidiary of HK$339.5 million (2021: 
HK$305.6 million) has been recognised at an effective interest rate of approximately 2.55% (2021: 2.45%) 
per annum. At 31 December 2022, the principal amount was HK$366.4 million (2021: HK$337.0 million). 
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the carrying amount has been adjusted by HK$3.4 million (2021: 
HK$4.2 million) as the deemed capital contribution arising from amount due to non-controlling interests of 
a subsidiary on initial recognition.

At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the total carrying amounts were classified as 
non-current liabilities.

29. LOAN FROM ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The principal amount of HK$2,000 million was non-trade in nature, unsecured, carried at a fixed interest 
rate of 4% per annum. The interest of 4% will be paid semi-annually up until the settlement date. The loan 
amount would be repayable in full on 1 December 2028. At 31 December 2022, the loan amount was 
classified as non-current liabilities.

30. DEFERRED TAxATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred tax 
assets and liabilities need to be offset for both years.

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets recognised and movements thereon during 
the year:

Accelerated  
tax depreciation

Tax  
losses Total

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

At 1 January 2021 (49.6) 39.1 (10.5)
(Charge) credit to profit or loss (note 10) (43.5) 43.5 —

At 31 December 2021 (93.1) 82.6 (10.5)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss (note 10) 68.5 (68.5) —

At 31 December 2022 (24.6) 14.1 (10.5)

At 31 December 2022, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$3,987.7 million (2021:  
HK$3,418.9 million) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 
respect of these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These unrecognised tax 
losses will expire in three years from the year of assessment.
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31. CONVERTIBLE BOND

During the year ended 31 December 2022, SJM entered into a transfer agreement with STDM in 
acquisition of the Oceanus Building with the settlement by the issuance of convertible bond by Champion 
Power Global Limited (“Champion Power”) a subsidiary of the Company. Champion Power issued 
HK$1,906 million, 2% convertible bond at a par value of HK$100,000 each to STDM on 22 June 2022. 
The convertible bond is denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The convertible bond entitles STDM to convert 
them into ordinary shares of SJM at any time between the date of issue of the notes and 7 days prior to 
their settlement date on 22 June 2027 at a conversion price of HK$4.07 per conversion share, being 
adjusted to HK$3.78 as a result of the Rights Issue completed on 21 September 2022. If the notes have not 
been converted or redeemed, they will be redeemed on 22 June 2027 at par with accrued and unpaid 
interest. Interest of 2% will be paid annually up until the settlement date.

At initial recognition, the equity component of the convertible bond was separated from the liability 
component. The equity element is presented in equity heading “Convertible bond reserve”. The effective 
interest rate of the liability component is 9.97%.

The movement of the liability and equity component of the convertible bond since the issuance of the 
convertible bond to 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Liability
Component

Equity
Component

HK$ million HK$ million

Issuance on 22 June 2022 1,330.8 575.2
Issuance cost (1.2) (0.5)
Interest expense 64.7 —

At 31 December 2022 1,394.3 574.7

32. SHARE CAPITAL

Issued and fully paid
Number  

of shares Amount
HK$ million

Ordinary shares with no par value
At 1 January 2021 5,678,144,293 11,435.5
Exercise of share options 3,300,000 43.8

At 31 December 2021 5,681,444,293 11,479.3
Rights Issue of shares 1,420,361,073 2,954.4
Transaction costs attributable to issue of new shares — (18.6)

At 31 December 2022 7,101,805,366 14,415.1
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 3,300,000 share options were exercised, resulting in the issue 
of 3,300,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a price of HK$9.826 per share (2022: nil). During the year 
ended 31 December 2022, the Company issued 1,420,361,073 ordinary shares, for consideration of 
HK$2.08 per share. The ordinary shares were issued on 22 September 2022 to the existing shareholders, on 
the basis of one right share for every four ordinary shares currently held. The new shares rank pari passu 
with the existing shares in all respects.

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

According to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting held on 13 May 2009, the 
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”), which lapsed automatically on 13 May 2019 
upon the expiry of 10-year period, for the purpose of providing incentives to participants to contribute to 
the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and/or attract human resources 
that are valuable to the Group. Under the Scheme, the directors might grant options to any employees, 
officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the Company or any subsidiary, including directors of the 
Company and any subsidiary (the “Participants”) who, as the directors might determine in their absolute 
discretion, are regarded as valuable human resources of the Group. Following the expiry of the Scheme, no 
further share options can be granted thereunder but the outstanding share options granted under the 
Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable.

One-third of the options granted are exercisable for a period of nine years commencing on the date each 
falling six months, 1.5 years and 2.5 years after the date of grant. All options granted are expiring on the 
last day of the said nine years period; where the acceptance date should not be later than 28 days after the 
date of grant. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of options. The 
subscription price of the option shares is not less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares on the 
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares on the five trading days immediately preceding the 
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares. The maximum number of shares in respect of which 
options may be granted under the Scheme may not exceed in nominal amount of 10% of the issued share 
capital of the Company at the date of adoption of the Scheme. However, the total maximum number of 
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the 
issued share capital from time to time.

The maximum entitlement of each Participant, excluding substantial shareholders and independent  
non-executive directors, in any 12-month period (including the date of grant) is 1% of the number of 
shares in issue as at the date of grant. No grant may be made to substantial shareholders and independent 
non-executive directors of the Company or their respective associates if such grant would result in the 
shares issued and falling to be issued upon the exercise of such options proposed to be granted and all 
other options already granted and to be granted (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number of 
shares then in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares on each 
relevant date on which the grant of such options is made, is in excess of HK$5 million, unless such grant 
has first been approved by the independent shareholders in general meeting.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

A summary of the movements of the outstanding options during the year ended 31 December 2022 under 
the Scheme is as follows:

Number of share options

Type of 
participants

Date 
of grant

Vesting 
period

Exercise 
period

Exercise 
price 

per share 
at 

31.12.2021

Exercise 
price 

per share 
at 

31.12.2022
Outstanding 
at 1.1.2021

Reclassified 
in 2021

Exercised 
in 2021

Lapsed 
in 2021

Outstanding 
at 31.12.2021

Reclassified 
in 2022

Adjusted 
in 2022

Lapsed 
in 2022

Outstanding 
at 31.12.2022

HK$ HK$

Directors 15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2015 to 9.826 9.183 27,835,000 (167,000) (3,000,000) — 24,668,000 (834,000) 1,668,380 — 25,502,380
14.12.2015 14.12.2024

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2016 to 9.826 9.183 34,835,000 (167,000) — — 34,668,000 (10,834,000) 1,668,380 — 25,502,380
14.12.2016 14.12.2024

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2017 to 9.826 9.183 34,830,000 (166,000) — — 34,664,000 (10,832,000) 1,668,240 — 25,500,240
14.12.2017 14.12.2024

22.6.2017 22.6.2017 to 22.12.2018 to 8.33 7.785 500,000 — — — 500,000 — 35,000 — 535,000
21.12.2018 21.12.2026

22.6.2017 22.6.2017 to 22.12.2019 to 8.33 7.785 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 — 70,000 — 1,070,000
21.12.2019 21.12.2026

21.6.2018 21.6.2018 to 21.12.2018 to 10.26 9.588 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 — 70,000 — 1,070,000
20.12.2018 20.12.2027

21.6.2018 21.6.2018 to 21.12.2019 to 10.26 9.588 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 — 70,000 — 1.070,000
20.12.2019 20.12.2027

21.6.2018 21.6.2018 to 21.12.2020 to 10.26 9.588 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 — 70,000 — 1,070,000
20.12.2020 20.12.2027

Employees 8.10.2013 8.10.2013 to 8.4.2014 to 22 20.561 12,225,000 — — (451,000) 11,774,000 — 799,120 (826,660) 11,746,460
7.4.2014 7.4.2023

8.10.2013 8.10.2013 to 8.4.2015 to 22 20.561 12,183,000 — — (450,000) 11,733,000 — 796,390 (818,240) 11,711,150
7.4.2015 7.4.2023

8.10.2013 8.10.2013 to 8.4.2016 to 22 20.561 12,170,000 — — (449,000) 11,721,000 — 795,550 (816,100) 11,700,450
7.4.2016 7.4.2023

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2015 to 9.826 9.183 5,194,000 — (102,000) (139,000) 4,953,000 — 341,740 (240,060) 5,054,680
14.12.2015 14.12.2024

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2016 to 9.826 9.183 5,198,000 — (102,000) (139,000) 4,957,000 — 342,020 (240,060) 5,058,960
14.12.2016 14.12.2024

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2017 to 9.826 9.183 5,103,000 — (96,000) (132,000) 4,875,000 — 336,490 (238,130) 4,973,360
14.12.2017 14.12.2024

Other 
participants

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2015 to 9.826 9.183 — 167,000 — — 167,000 834,000 70,070 — 1,071,070
14.12.2015 14.12.2024

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2016 to 9.826 9.183 — 167,000 — — 167,000 10,834,000 770,070 — 11,771,070
14.12.2016 14.12.2024

15.6.2015 15.6.2015 to 15.12.2017 to 9.826 9.183 — 166,000 — — 166,000 10,832,000 769,860 — 11,767,860
14.12.2017 14.12.2024

154,073,000 — (3,300,000) (1,760,000) 149,013,000 — 10,341,310 (3,179,250) 156,175,060

Weighted average exercise price per share HK$12.71 — HK$9.83 HK$19.16 HK$12.70 — HK$11.81 HK$18.52 HK$11.74
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

On 15 June 2022, two directors of the Company retired. The classification of outstanding number of such 
retired directors’ share options are reclassified to other participants’ section.

Upon completion of the Rights Issue on 21 September 2022, the exercise price of the share options and the 
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share options were adjusted with effect 
from 22 September 2022 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, details of which were set out in the 
announcement of the Company dated 21 September 2022.

In respect of the above options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2021, the weighted average 
closing price per share at the dates of exercise was HK$10.98. At the end of the reporting period, 
156,175,060 (2021: 149,013,000) share options are exercisable.

These fair values of options at grant date were calculated using either the Black-Scholes pricing model 
(“Black-Scholes”) or the Binomial option pricing model (“Binomial”). The inputs into the models were 
as follows:

Date of grant 8 October 2013 15 June 2015 22 June 2017 21 June 2018
Model Binomial Binomial Binomial Binomial
Number of share options 50,460,000 126,725,000 3,000,000 3,000,000
Number of share options (Adjusted) 85,782,000 135,595,750 3,210,000 3,210,000
Vesting period 6 to 60 months 

from the  
date of grant

6 to 30 months  
from the  

date of grant

6 to 30 months  
from the  

date of grant

6 to 30 months  
from the  

date of grant
Closing share price at date of grant HK$22 HK$9.83 HK$8.33 HK$10.26
Expected/contractual life 9.5 years 9.5 years 9.5 years 9.5 years
Exercise price per share at 31 December 2021 HK$22 HK$9.826 HK$8.33 HK$10.26
Exercise price per share at 31 December 2022 HK$20.561 HK$9.183 HK$7.785 HK$9.588
Exercise multiple (Directors) 2 times 2.8 times N/A 2.8 times
Exercise multiple (Employees and other 

participants)
2 times 2.2 times N/A N/A

Expected volatility 47.55% 47.00% 42.02% 38.17%
Risk-free interest rate 2.03% 1.74% 1.25% 2.27%
Expected dividend yield 3.182% 5.5% 2.88% 1.95%

As the Black-Scholes and Binomial require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility 
of share prices, changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate.

Expected volatility used in the valuation of options was determined by using the historical volatility of the 
Company’s share price since the Company’s shares were listed on the Stock Exchange in July 2008. The 
expected life used in Black-Scholes has been estimated, based on the management’s best estimates of the 
vesting period, exercise period and employee’s behavioural considerations.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The contractual life used in the Binomial is the full life of share options from date of grant to expiry date 
provided by the Company.

The Company’s share options granted to other participants are by reference to the fair values of the share 
options granted to employees for providing similar management services.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has not recognised expenses (2021: nil) in relation to 
share options granted by the Company.

34. RESERVES

Share 
options 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

THE COMPANY
At 1 January 2021 721.8 7,526.3 8,248.1
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year — (89.6) (89.6)
Exercise of share options (11.4) — (11.4)
Release of lapsed share-based payments (13.0) 13.0 —

At 31 December 2021 697.4 7,449.7 8,147.1
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year — (165.2) (165.2)
Release of lapsed share-based payments (22.8) 22.8 —

At 31 December 2022 674.6 7,307.3 7,981.9

35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, property and equipment totalling HK$82.8 million (2021: 
HK$801.6 million) were settled by utilising deposits made on acquisitions of property and equipment.
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Capital expenditure in respect of acquisitions of property and equipment:
Authorised but not contracted for:

— GLP Project 140.6 96.0
— Others 53.4 47.2

194.0 143.2

Contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements:
— GLP Project 69.8 214.9
— Others 47.0 120.5

116.8 335.4

At 31 December 2022, capital expenditure in respect of acquisitions of property and equipment committed 
to acquire from related parties amounted to HK$0.1 million (2021: HK$0.1 million).

At 31 December 2022, the estimated total project costs for the GLP Project by the Group’s management is 
approximately HK$39,000 million (2021: HK$39,000 million).
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37. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS

The Group as lessor

Certain premises in the Group’s properties and equipment have committed lessees ranging from 1 to 
12 years respectively (2021: 1 to 12 years), and the rentals are pre-determined at fixed amounts except for 
certain leases of which contingent rentals are charged based on the percentage of sales. The lease 
commitments presented below is based on the existing committed monthly minimum lease payments.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Within one year 60.5 117.1
In the second year 126.6 139.5
In the third year 145.2 128.5
In the fourth year 134.9 137.5
In the fifth year 46.9 125.9
After five years 323.2 369.4

837.3 1,017.9
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38. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Employees employed by the Group’s operations in Macau SAR are members of government-managed social 
benefits schemes operated by the Macau SAR Government. The Macau SAR operations are required to pay 
a monthly fixed contribution to the social benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the 
Group with respect to the social benefits schemes operated by the Macau SAR Government is to make the 
required contributions under the schemes.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees 
in Hong Kong SAR. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds 
under the control of a trustee. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, 
which is matched with mandatory contribution of all employees. For certain employees, the maximum 
monthly contribution was limited to HK$1,500 per employee.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement scheme for all qualifying employees since 2003. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of independent 
trustees. The retirement scheme cost recognised in profit or loss represents contributions payable to the 
funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

The Group operates a Non-mandatory Central Provident Fund (the “CPF”) for all qualifying employees since 
2020. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of 
independent trustees. The Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs to the CPF, which is matched 
with contribution of all relevant employees.

Where there are employees of the Group who leave the schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions, 
the contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group entities will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank loans, unsecured notes, lease liabilities, amount due to 
non-controlling interests of a subsidiary, loan from ultimate holding company, convertible bond and equity 
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves as disclosed in these 
consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly. The Group considers the cost of 
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure 
through the payment of dividends and new share issues, as well as raising bank borrowings and issuing 
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Financial risk management objectives

Financial instruments are fundamental to the Group’s daily operations. The risks associated with 
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The 
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are 
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Financial assets
Investments in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI 424.1 481.1
Amortised cost 8,571.7 4,001.9

8,995.8 4,483.0

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 34,674.6 26,726.3

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, 
in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in note 3.

(c) Credit risk management and impairment assessment

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a 
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial 
guarantees issued by the Group is arising from:

•	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 respective	 recognised	 financial	 assets	 as	 stated	 in	 the	 Group’s	
statement of financial position; and

•	 the	amount	of	financial	guarantee	obligations	disclosed	in	note	43.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 100% (2021: 100%) of the advances and receivables 
are due from the Group’s two largest patrons (2021: one patron). Other than concentration of credit 
risk on advances to gaming promoters and patrons, the Group does not have any other significant 
concentration of credit risk.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk management and impairment assessment (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit rating for the gaming 
promoters, patrons and service providers. The Group may at its discretion extend credit periods for 
certain gaming promoters, patrons and service providers with long-term relationship and good 
repayment patterns. The Group assessed the ECL for advances to gaming promoters and patrons, 
other receivables from gaming promoters and service providers and lease receivables individually as at 
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Movement in the loss allowance 
2022 2021

HK$ million HK$ million

At 1 January 379.5 379.5
Impairment loss recognised 143.7 —

At 31 December 523.2 379.5

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group provided impairment allowance for advance to 
a gaming patron of HK$13.6 million (2021: nil) and other receivable from a service provider of 
HK$130.1 million (2021: nil) with its corresponding gross carrying amount of HK$13.6 million (2021: 
nil) and HK$172.7 million (2021: nil), respectively, as the management considered certain gaming 
patron and service provider are credit-impaired. As at 31 December 2022, loss allowance with an 
aggregate balance of HK$523.2 million (2021: HK$379.5 million) represents individually  
credit-impaired advances to gaming promoters and patrons and other receivables from gaming 
promoters and service providers which are impaired as the management considered the outstanding 
balances from these gaming promoters, gaming patrons and service providers were uncollectible given 
that one or more events of default occurred.

No impairment allowance is recognised for the non-credit-impaired advances to gaming promoters 
and patrons, other receivables from gaming promoters and service providers and lease receivables 
since the loss given default and exposure at default are significantly reduced as those advances to 
gaming promoters are subject to certain offsetting and enforceable netting agreements, certain 
service providers provided bank guarantees and rental deposits received to the Group as well as due 
to the low probability of default of the gaming promoters, patrons and service providers based on 
historical credit loss experience. The management has also assessed all available forward looking 
information, including but not limited to expected growth rate and future development of gaming 
industry, and concluded that there is no significant credit risk.

For the interest receivables and credit card receivables included in other sundry receivables, pledged 
bank deposits, short-term bank deposits and bank balances, no allowance for impairment was made 
since the management considers the probability of default is negligible as such amounts are receivable 
from or placed in banks in Macau SAR and Hong Kong having good reputation and are considered to 
have low credit risk.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Credit risk management and impairment assessment (Continued)

For rental deposits, the management considered the historical experience and forward-looking 
information and assessed the risk of default as low, no impairment allowance is made during the year.

For the amounts due from an associate/a joint venture/an investee company and other amounts in 
other sundry receivables, no allowance for impairment was made since the management considers the 
probability of default is minimal after assessing the counterparties’ financial background and 
creditability and/or exposure at default is minimal.

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the Group has guaranteed under the 
respective contracts was HK$67.3 million (2021: HK$87.3 million) as at 31 December 2022. Details of 
the financial guarantee contracts are set out in note 43. At the end of the reporting period, the 
management assessed that no credit facilities were utilised under guarantee and financial positions of 
that associate (2021: associate and investee company) and concluded that there has been no 
significant credit risk arising from the financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, there was no loss 
allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group.

(d) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its bank balances and bank loans. 
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed-rate bank deposits, 
pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits, unsecured notes, liability component of convertible 
bond, loan from ultimate holding company and lease liabilities. The Group currently does not have a 
policy on hedging of interest rate risks. However, the management monitors interest rate exposures 
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity risk 
management section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on 
the fluctuation of HIBOR/MAIBOR arising from bank loans.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for bank 
balances and bank loans. The analyses were prepared assuming these balances outstanding at the end 
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. 5 basis points and 50 basis points (2021: 
5 basis points and 50 basis points) increase, respectively, represent management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

Except for bank balances using 5 basis points (2021: 5 basis points), if interest rates on bank loans had 
been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the 
potential effect on loss for the year without adjusting for any amount to be capitalised:

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Increase in loss for the year (92.1) (65.2)
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Interest rate risk management (Continued)

If interest rates had been lower in an opposite magnitude and all other variables held constant, the 
potential effect on the results would be equal and opposite.

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the 
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(e) Price risk management

The Group is exposed to equity price risk on the investments in listed equity securities measured at 
FVTOCI, operating in gaming, entertainment and hotel industry sector. The Group currently does not 
have a policy to hedge such risk. In addition, the Group also invested in certain unquoted equity 
securities for investees operating in gaming, entertainment and hotel industry sector for long-term 
strategic purposes which were designated at FVTOCI. The Group has designated a special team to 
monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk on the 
equity securities in investments in equity securities designated at FVTOCI at the end of the reporting 
period. If the fair value on such equity securities had been 10% (2021: 10%) higher/lower, the 
potential effect on the investment revaluation reserve is as follows:

The Group’s investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by HK$42.4 million (2021: 
HK$48.1 million) arising from the listed equity securities and unlisted equity shares in investments in 
equity instruments designated at FVTOCI.

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the price risk as the year 
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(f) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings 
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The management of the Group are taking active steps to improve the future liquidity position of the 
Group by generating sufficient operating funds internally and utilising undrawn banking facilities.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities that are 
exposed to liquidity risk based on the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and financial guarantee contracts based on the 
earliest date on which the Group could be required to pay. The maturity dates for other financial 
liabilities are based on agreed payment terms. The table includes both interest and principal cash 
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount of interest 
payment is estimated based on the interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

Not more 
than 

3 months 
or on 

demand

Over 
3 months 

but not 
more than 

1 year
1 year to 

5 years
Over 

5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying 
amount

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

At 31 December 2022
Trade payables — 81.9 4.7 — — 86.6 86.6
Chips in circulation — 279.7 — — — 279.7 279.7
Other payables — 447.9 1,672.5 71.4 — 2,191.8 2,191.8
Amount due to  

non-controlling 
interests of a subsidiary

2.55% — — 366.4 — 366.4 339.5

Loan from ultimate 
holding company

4.00% — 80.6 322.7 2,080.7 2,484.0 2,006.8

Bank loans (Note (i)) 6.66% 310.5 1,646.3 9,857.1 13,030.5 24,844.4 18,975.3
Unsecured notes 4.68% 181.2 241.3 6,754.8 3,969.5 11,146.8 9,400.6
Convertible bond 9.97% — 38.1 2,058.5 — 2,096.6 1,394.3
Financial guarantee 

obligations (Note (ii))
— 67.3 — — — 67.3 —

Lease liabilities 2.44% 17.1 44.7 163.2 747.0 972.0 650.3

1,385.6 3,728.2 19,594.1 19,827.7 44,535.6 35,324.9

At 31 December 2021
Trade payables — 260.5 2.9 — — 263.4 263.4
Chips in circulation — 655.6 — — — 655.6 655.6
Other payables — 709.9 2,130.3 52.9 34.7 2,927.8 2,927.8 
Amount due to  

non-controlling 
interests of a subsidiary

2.45% — — 337.0 — 337.0 305.6

Bank loans (Note (i)) 1.96% 13,228.5 — — — 13,228.5 13,185.9
Unsecured notes 4.67% 181.2 241.3 6,989.3 4,157.4 11,569.2 9,388.0
Financial guarantee 

obligations (Note (ii))
— 87.3 — — — 87.3 —

Lease liabilities 2.44% 91.5 272.8 179.1 782.3 1,325.7 983.9

15,214.5 2,647.3 7,558.3 4,974.4 30,394.5 27,710.2

Notes:

(i) The amounts included above for variable-rate bank loans are subject to change if variable interest rates differ from those 
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.

(ii) The amounts included in the undiscounted cash flow above for financial guarantee contracts are the maximum amounts 
the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed 
by the counterparty to the guarantee. However, based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group 
considers that it is likely that no amount will be payable under the arrangement. This estimate is subject to change 
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that 
the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Interest rate benchmark reform

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the 
replacement of some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free rates. For the variable 
rate bank borrowings that are linked to HIBOR as set out in note 25, the Group had confirmed with 
the relevant counterparty that HIBOR will continue to be used up to maturity. The management 
anticipates that the interest rate benchmark reform will have no material impact on the Group’s 
risk exposure.

(h) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The Group’s investments in equity instruments designated at FVTOCI are measured at fair value at the 
end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these 
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as 
the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

•	 Level	 1	 fair	 value	measurements	 are	 quoted	 prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	 active	market	 for	 identical	
assets or liabilities;

•	 Level	2	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

•	 Level	3	fair	value	measurements	are	those	derived	from	valuation	techniques	that	include	inputs	
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(h) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value as at

31 December 31 December Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)  
and key input(s)Financial assets 2022 2021

HK$ million HK$ million

Investments in equity 
instruments designated  
at FVTOCI

Listed equity securities 109.9 166.9 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market

Unlisted equity securities 314.2 314.2 Level 2 Market approach:
Net asset value with main multiple 
being Price-to-Book multiples of 
comparable companies

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the current year.

In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity securities, the Group uses market-observable data to the 
extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages qualified third party 
valuers to perform the valuation. The management of the Group works closely with the qualified third 
party valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The 
management of the Group reports the findings to the board of directors of the Company to explain 
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the unlisted equity securities.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of unlisted 
equity securities are disclosed above.

The estimated fair value of the Group’s unsecured notes as at 31 December 2022 listed on the Stock 
Exchange and MOX were HK$6,589.6 million and HK$1,070.2 million respectively. The estimated fair 
value of unsecured notes listed on the Stock Exchange were derived from the quoted prices that were 
observable from an inactive market which is classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The 
estimated fair value of unsecured notes listed on MOX were derived from discounted cash flows which 
is classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The most significant input is the discount rates of 
the instruments.

Except for unsecured notes, the management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets 
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate 
their fair values.
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41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, 
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows 
from financing activities.

Bank loans
Unsecured 

notes

Amount 
due to non- 
controlling 
interests of 

a subsidiary

Amount  
due to  

ultimate  
holding 

company
Convertible 

bond
Interest 

payables
Lease 

liabilities Total
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

(note 25) (note 26) (note 28) (note 29) (note 31) (Note) (note 27)

At 1 January 2021 18,787.1 — 263.3 — — 1.2 1,186.0 20,237.6
Net financing cash flows (5,513.0) 9,002.6 39.2 — — (264.4) (252.3) 3,012.1
Gain on early repayment of a bank loan (67.5) — — — — — — (67.5)
Derecognised from early termination of 

lease contracts (note 14) — — — — — — (1.4) (1.4)
Loss on derecognition of a bank loan 0.5 — — — — — — 0.5
New leases entered — — — — — — 71.1 71.1
COVID-19-related rent concessions — — — — — — (47.6) (47.6)
Interest expenses (21.2) 385.4 7.3 — — 265.3 28.1 664.9
Deemed capital contribution — — (4.2) — — — — (4.2)

At 31 December 2021 13,185.9 9,388.0 305.6 — — 2.1 983.9 23,865.5
Net financing cash flows 5,692.6 (422.5) 29.4 2,000 (1.2) (512.9) (228.1) 6,557.3
Loss on modification of a bank loan 19.6 — — — — — — 19.6
Derecognised from early termination of 

lease contracts (note 14) — — — — — — (59.9) (59.9)
Acquisitions of property and equipment — — — — 1,330.8 — — 1,330.8
New leases entered — — — — — — 10.6 10.6
COVID-19-related rent concessions — — — — — — (76.1) (76.1)
Interest expenses 77.2 435.1 7.9 6.8 64.7 511.0 19.9 1,122.6
Deemed capital contribution — — (3.4) — — — — (3.4)

At 31 December 2022 18,975.3 9,400.6 339.5 2,006.8 1,394.3 0.2 650.3 32,767.0

Note: The amount is included in trade and other payables as set out in note 24.
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Other than the transactions and balances with related parties disclosed in respective notes in the 
consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group had the following significant 
transactions with related parties and/or connected parties (as defined under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules):

2022 2021
Relationship Nature of transactions HK$ million HK$ million

STDM and its associates, 
excluding the Group  
(“STDM Group”) (as defined 
under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions  
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

Rental income (note 42(c)) 72.1 21.0 
Property rentals (note 42(d)) 2.2 0.3
Transportation (note 42(e)) 1.6 2.2

Exempt continuing connected transactions  
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

Share of administrative expenses (note 42(f) and (g)) — 1.7
Hotel accommodation (note 42(e)) 3.0 2.8
Entertainment (note 42(e)) 5.6 10.1
Cleaning services (note 42(g)) 15.4 18.6
Hotel management and operation (note 42(e) and (g)) 6.8 12.8
Promotional and advertising services (note 42(e) and (g)) 5.6 6.2
Maintenance services (note 42(e) and (g)) 10.3 13.0
Staff messing (note 42(e)) — 5.4
Others (note 42(g)) 6.7 7.8

Non-exempt connected transactions under  
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

Right-of-use assets — HKFRS 16 (note 42(d)) — 28.1

Certain directors of the Company 
and of its subsidiaries and  
their associates (as defined 
under Chapter 14A of  
the Listing Rules)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions  
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

Service fees reimbursed from a service provider in relation  
to the promotion of a casino (note 42(m))

124.1 (114.7)

Property rentals (note 42(h)) 6.0 7.8

Exempt continuing connected transactions  
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

Others (note 42(g)) 51.1 64.1

Entities other than above in 
which STDM, certain directors 
of the Company and of its 
subsidiaries and/or their close 
family members have control/
significant influence/ 
beneficial interests

Service fees reimbursed from a service provider in relation to the 
promotion of a casino (note 42(m)) — (85.7)

Insurance expenses 105.8 149.8
Sub-concession fee income 4.3 8.6
Construction costs 18.2 0.6
Others 13.0 9.2

An associate Construction costs and management fee paid 8.1 96.6
Distribution from an associate 311.8 —

A joint venture Property rentals (note 42(l)) 8.3 11.2
Dividend income 104.6 —
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) In 2002, SJM was granted a concession to operate casinos in Macau SAR. For this purpose, SJM has 
been borrowing casino chips from STDM for the purpose of its business operation since SJM, as a new 
concessionaire from 2002, did not have sufficient casino chips to meet its business needs. According 
to the gaming concession contract, SJM is permitted to use STDM’s casino chips, both in treasury and 
those put in circulation by STDM prior to 1 April 2002 and should honour such casino chips. In order 
to regulate the borrowing and use of STDM chips, the Group entered into an agreement with STDM 
dated 18 June 2008 (the “Chips Agreement”) regarding the honouring and borrowing of STDM chips. 
Under the Chips Agreement, the Group has agreed to honour the STDM chips in circulation upon 
their redemption by patrons or clients. In addition, STDM has agreed to reimburse the STDM chips 
presented by the Group to STDM, by paying to the Group in cheque the aggregate face value of chips 
so presented within the same quarter when such presentation takes place. During the year ended 
31 December 2022, the net amount received or receivable on reimbursement of STDM chips in 
circulation amounted to HK$0.1 million (2021: HK$0.1 million).

(c) SJM entered into an agreement dated 21 January 2020 with NYH Gestão de Vendas a Retalho 
Limitada (“NYH”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STDM, for which SJM grant the rights to use 
the shop to NYH for the purpose of operating a department store at the premises located in GLP. The 
term of the lease will be 12 years and 6 months commencing on 27 July 2021. The amounts of 
transactions during the period were disclosed in note 42(a) above.

(d) The Company entered into an agreement dated 18 June 2008 with STDM for the leasing of properties 
by STDM or the members of the STDM Group to the Group (the “Premises Leasing Master Agreement 
with STDM”). The term of each implementing lease will be for a term commencing on a date specified 
in the relevant implementing lease and ending on a date not later than 31 March 2020. The Premises 
Leasing Master Agreement with STDM and was renewed on 23 December 2019 for a term of period 
from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2022 with similar terms as the previous agreement. The amounts 
of transactions during the period were disclosed in note 42(a) above. The Premises Leasing Master 
Agreement with STDM was further renewed on 2 March 2023 for a term of period from  
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 with similar terms as the previous agreement.

The amount disclosed in note 42(a) represents the property rentals with related parties and/or 
connected parties for the addition of right-of-use assets and expenses relating to the relevant short-
term leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the lease transactions with related parties represent 
addition of right-of-use assets of nil (2021: HK$28.1 million), incurred expenses relating to the 
relevant short-term leases of HK$2.2 million (2021: HK$0.3 million) and interest expenses of  
HK$2.5 million (2021: HK$8.3 million) on the relevant lease liabilities with carrying amount of 
HK$135.7 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$220.3 million).
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e) The Company entered into an agreement dated 18 June 2008 with STDM for the provision of products 
and services by STDM and its associates (the “Products and Services Master Agreement”). The types of 
products and services include hotel accommodation, hotel management and operation, entertainment 
and staff messing, dredging services, transportation, promotional and advertising services, travel agency 
services and maintenance services. On 19 June 2011, the Company entered into a renewed products 
and services master agreement with STDM (the “Renewed Master Agreement”) for the provision of 
products and services as described in the Products and Services Master Agreement, except for hotel 
management and operation, promotional and advertising services, and travel agency services, which are 
regarded as de minimis transactions as described in note 42(g). The Renewed Master Agreement expired 
on 31 December 2013, and was renewed on 6 January 2014, 26 January 2017 and 23 December 2019, 
each for a term of three years starting from 1 January 2014, 1 January 2017 and 1 January 2020, 
respectively, with similar terms for the provision of products and services for five categories: hotel 
accommodation, entertainment, transportation, hotel management and operation and maintenance 
services. The transaction amounts for the hotel management and operation and maintenance services 
during the year were de minimis as described in note 42(g). The Products and Services Master 
Agreement was further renewed on 2 March 2023 for a term of period from 1 January 2023 to 
31 December 2025 with similar terms as the previous agreement.

(f) The Company entered into an agreement with STDM dated 18 June 2008 (the “Administrative Cost 
Sharing Agreement”) whereby STDM and its associates have agreed to continue to share certain 
administrative services.

Starting from 2014, these transactions were exempted as continuing connected transactions under Rule 
14A.98 of the Listing Rules. The amount of transactions during the year was disclosed in note 42(a) above.

(g) These are individually de minimis transactions as defined under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, 
which are continuing connected transactions on normal commercial terms, exempt from reporting, 
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements as defined under 
Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

(h) The Company entered into an agreement dated 22 November 2013 with a director of the Company 
for the leasing of properties by the director and/or her associates to the Group (the “Premises Leasing 
Master Agreement”) effective from 1 January 2014. The term of each implementing lease was for a 
term commencing on a date specified in the relevant implementing lease and ended on a date not 
later than 31 December 2016. On 14 December 2016, the Company entered into a renewed premises 
leasing master agreement with the director and/or her associates to the Group (the “Renewed 
Premises Leasing Master Agreement”). The Renewed Premises Leasing Master Agreement expired on 
31 December 2019, and was further renewed on 23 December 2019 for a term of three years from 
1 January 2020 with similar terms as the previous agreement. The amounts of transactions during the 
period were disclosed in note 42(a) above. The Premises Leasing Master Agreement was further 
renewed on 3 March 2023 for a term of period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 with 
similar terms as the previous agreement.

The amount disclosed in note 42(a) represents the property rentals with related parties and/or connected 
parties for the additions of right-of-use assets and expenses relating to the relevant short-term leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, incurred expenses relating to the relevant short-term 
leases of HK$6.0 million (2021: HK$7.8 million) and interest expenses of HK$1.1 million (2021: 
HK$3.1 million) on the relevant lease liabilities with carrying amount of nil as at 31 December 2022 
(2021: HK$78.3 million).
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(i) Service fees in relation to the promotion of a casino were paid to/reimbursed from an entity in which 
certain directors of the Group are the directors and/or key management personnel of the entity.

(j) Save as disclosed in note 25, in addition to the securities provided by the Group to the relevant banks, 
the non-controlling interests of a subsidiary also provided securities to secure the syndicate secured 
bank loans of the Group. At the end of the reporting period, the key terms and securities pledged are 
set out as follows:

(i) financial guarantee with promissory note of HK$490 million (2021: HK$490 million); and

(ii) share pledges over all shares in Pier 16 – Property and its subsidiaries.

(k) In November 2007, the immediate holding company, STDM – Investments Limited (“STDM-I”), 
provided a surety (the “STDM-I Surety”) in favour of the Company for the due and punctual payment 
of obligations the Company may incur in relation to:

(i) penalties incurred by the Company for any non-criminal violations of relevant laws or regulations 
pertaining to anti-money laundering, where such violations occurred prior to the listing of the 
ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange; and

(ii) losses or contingency provisions incurred by the Company in connection with any judgement of 
any lawsuit, as set out in the paragraph headed “Litigation” in Appendix VII to the Company’s 
prospectus dated 26 June 2008, to which the Company is a party and which is pending at the 
time of listing of the ordinary shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

STDM has informed the Company in August 2011 that the board of directors of STDM was satisfied 
that upon liquidation of STDM-I, which occurred during the year ended 31 December 2011, the 
Company (as beneficiary of the STDM-I Surety) would remain entitled to claim directly against STDM 
under the same terms and conditions as originally established in the STDM-I Surety.

(l) The amount disclosed in note 42(a) represents the property rentals with related parties and/or 
connected parties for the expenses relating to the relevant short-term leases.

(m) SJM entered into an agreement with L’Arc Entertainment Group Company Limited (“L’Arc 
Entertainment”) dated 21 September 2009 and supplemented by addendums dated 27 January 2010, 
22 October 2010, 4 February 2016, 4 January 2017, 18 December 2017 and 6 May 2020 regarding the 
provision of the services and licensing for occupation and use of the designated area in the L’Arc Hotel 
to SJM for the operation of a casino until 26 June 2022 (the “L’Arc Services Agreement”). From the 
effective date of the completion of the acquisition of the shares of L’Arc Entertainment by an executive 
director of the Company on 17 May 2021, L’Arc Entertainment has become a company indirectly wholly 
controlled by the executive director and a connected person of the Group under the Listing Rules by 
virtue of it being an associate of the executive director. In this regard, the continuing transactions for the 
service fees in relation to the promotion of a casino paid to/reimbursed from L’Arc Entertainment under 
the L’Arc Services Agreement have become continuing connected transactions of the Company under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and related party transaction since 17 May 2021. The agreement with 
L’Arc Entertainment was further renewed on 30 December 2022.
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43. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE OBLIGATIONS

2022 2021
Maximum 

guarantees 
given

Credit 
facilities 
utilised

Maximum 
guarantees 

given

Credit 
facilities 
utilised

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Guarantees given to banks in respect of 
credit facilities granted to:
— an associate 67.3 — 67.3 —
— an investee company — — 20.0 —

67.3 — 87.3 —

The fair value of financial guarantee obligations in respect of an investee company and an associate at 
initial recognition is insignificant. No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been made at 
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 as the default risk is low.

44. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Unlisted shares, at cost 8,535.4 3,972.3
Deemed capital contribution in relation to issue of convertible bond  

by a subsidiary 95.5 95.5

8,630.9 4,067.8

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are set out in note 46.
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45. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES/AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured. Included in the balances is an amount of 
HK$19,173.4 million (2021: HK$19,173.4 million) which is expected to be realised after 12 months from the end  
of the reporting period, hence, the amount is classified as non-current asset, out of which HK$9,388.0 million  
(2021: HK$9,388.0 million) carries interest ranging from 3.90% to 4.85% and out of which HK$9,785.4 million 
(2021: HK$9,785.4 million) is interest-free. The remaining balances are interest-free and expected to be 
realised within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, carry interest ranging from 3.90% to 4.85% and repayable 
on demand.

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(a) General information of subsidiaries

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
establishment/ 
operations

Nominal value of 
issued and fully 
paid share capital/ 
quota capital

Attributable 
proportion of 

nominal value of 
issued share capital/ 

quota capital 
held by the Group Principal activity(ies)

2022 2021

Bondwell Limited Hong Kong SAR Ordinary share: 
HK$1

100% 100% Property holding

Brilliant Sky International Limited Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP25,000

100% 100% Provision of marketing 
and promotion 
services

Brilliant Sky Investments Limited British Virgin 
Islands/ 
Macau SAR

Share: US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Brilliant Talent Hospitality 
Services Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP25,000

100% 100% Provision of hospitality 
services

Champion Moments Limited British Virgin  
Islands/ 
Hong Kong SAR

Share: US$1 100% 100%  
(Note (e))

Provision of treasury 
services

Champion Path Holdings Limited British Virgin  
Islands/ 
Hong Kong SAR

Share: US$1 100% 100% Provision of treasury 
services

Champion Power Global Limited British Virgin 
Islands/ 
Hong Kong SAR

Share: US$1 100%
(Note (f))

N/A Provision of treasury 
services

Cotai Magnific View – Property 
Development Company 
Limited

Macau SAR Ordinary shares: 
MOP1,000,000

100% 100% Preparation for property 
development
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
establishment/ 
operations

Nominal value of 
issued and fully 
paid share capital/ 
quota capital

Attributable 
proportion of 

nominal value of 
issued share capital/ 

quota capital 
held by the Group Principal activity(ies)

2022 2021

GLP Hospitality Services Limited Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP500,000

100% 100% Provision of management 
services for hotel 
operations

GLP Shopping Mall Management 
Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP500,000

100% 100% Provision of management  
services for shopping 
mall

Grand Lisboa – Hotel 
Administration Company 
Limited

Macau SAR Ordinary shares: 
MOP1,000,000

100% 100% Hotel operations

Grand Lisboa – Property 
Investment Company Limited

Macau SAR Ordinary shares: 
MOP1,000,000

100% 100% Property holding

Harbour Tide Limited British Virgin  
Islands/ 
Macau SAR

Share: US$1 100%
(Note (g))

N/A Property holding

Honour State International 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands/ 
Hong Kong SAR

Share: US$1 100% 100% Securities holding

Macau Dredging Services 
Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP1,000,000

100% 100% Provision of dredging 
services

Nam Van Lake View Investment 
Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP1,000,000

100% 100% Property holding

New Hop Wo Catering 
Company Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP100,000

100% 100% Provision of food and 
beverage services

Pier 16 – Entertainment Group 
Corporation Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP25,000

51% 51% Provision of promotion 
of entertainment 
products and activities

Pier 16 – Management Limited Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP25,000

51% 51% Hotel operations

Pier 16 – Property Development 
Limited

Macau SAR Ordinary shares: 
MOP10,000,000

51% 51% Investment holding, 
property development 
and construction

SJM – Customer Services (HK) 
Limited

Hong Kong SAR Ordinary share: 
HK$1

100% 100% Provision of customer 
services

SJM – F&B Services Limited Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP25,000

100% 100% Provision of food and 
beverage services

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation or 
establishment/ 
operations

Nominal value of 
issued and fully 
paid share capital/ 
quota capital

Attributable 
proportion of 

nominal value of 
issued share capital/ 

quota capital 
held by the Group Principal activity(ies)

2022 2021

SJM Holdings Management 
Services Limited

Hong Kong SAR Ordinary shares: 
HK$2

100% 100% Provision of management 
services

SJM – Investment Limited Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP1,000,000

100% 100% Investment holding

SJM Retail Services Private 
Limited

Macau SAR Quota capital: 
MOP25,000

100% 100% Provision of retail services

SJM – Project Management 
Services (HK) Limited

Hong Kong SAR Ordinary share: 
HK$1

100% 100% Provision of human 
resources and project 
management services

SJM Macau SAR Ordinary shares:  
Type A shares 
MOP4,250,000,000 
Type B shares: 
MOP750,000,000

100%  
(Note (a))

100%  
(Note (a))

Casino operations and 
investment holding

Vast Field Investments Limited British Virgin 
Islands/ 
Hong Kong SAR

Ordinary shares: 
US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to the relevant requirements under Macau SAR law, SJM’s ordinary shares are divided into two categories, 
namely, Type A shares and Type B shares representing 85% and 15% equity interests in SJM respectively. Holders of Type 
A shares have voting control of SJM in its shareholders’ meeting. Except for one Type A share directly held by a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company holds all the remaining Type A shares, whilst Type B shares are held by 
the managing director of SJM, pursuant to the relevant requirements under Macau SAR law. As Type B shares have 
restricted rights and only entitle the holder of Type B shares to an aggregate amount of MOP1 of dividend payable, the 
Company is effectively entitled to a 100% economic interest in SJM.

(b) Except for Champion Path Holdings Limited, Champion Moments Limited, Champion Power Global Limited, SJM Holdings 
Management Services Limited and SJM, all other principal subsidiaries listed above are indirectly held by the Company.

(c) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results 
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of 
excessive length.

(d) Except for Champion Path Holdings Limited and Champion Moments Limited, none of the subsidiaries had any debt 
securities outstanding at the end of both reporting periods.

(e) Champion Moments Limited was incorporated on 21 January 2021.

(f) Champion Power Global Limited was incorporated on 6 May 2022.

(g) Harbour Tide Limited was incorporated on 8 March 2022.

46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

At the end of both reporting periods, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the 
Group. A majority of these subsidiaries are operated in Macau SAR. The principal activities of these 
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities
Place of incorporation or 
establishment/operations Number of subsidiaries

2022 2021

Gaming related operations Macau SAR 1 1
Hong Kong SAR 3 3

4 4

Hotel, catering, retail and  
leasing related operations

Macau SAR 1 1
Hong Kong SAR 1 1

2 2

Investment holdings/Inactive British Virgin Islands/Macau SAR 14 14
British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong SAR 3 4
Hong Kong SAR 6 6
Macau SAR 3 3
Samoa — 1

26 28

32 34
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46. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling 
interests

The table below shows details of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group that has material non-
controlling interests:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation 
and principal 
place of 
business

Proportion of  
ownership interests  

and voting rights held by  
non-controlling interests

Loss allocated to  
non-controlling interests

Accumulated  
non-controlling interests

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

Pier 16 – Property
Development Limited Macau SAR 49% 49% (50.2) (54.4) 14.8 61.6

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests is set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts 
before intragroup eliminations.

Pier 16 – Property Development Limited

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Current assets 37.4 78.7 
Non-current assets 617.4 633.4
Current liabilities (296.7) (326.4)
Non-current liabilities (704.4) (636.7)
Equity attributable to owners of the company (346.3) (251.0)

2022 2021
HK$ million HK$ million

Revenue 214.2 229.5 
Cost of sales and expenses (319.3) (342.2)
Loss for the year (102.4) (110.9)
Loss attributable to owners of the company (102.4) (110.9)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (36.2) (102.6)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (13.6) (18.2)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 51.0 116.4
Net cash inflow (outflow) 1.2 (4.4)
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For the year ended 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

RESULTS
Gaming, hotel, catering, retail, leasing 

and related services revenues 34,410.1 33,875.0 7,506.7 10,076.0 6,678.6

Gaming revenue 33,677.1 33,158.5 7,304.2 9,607.9 6,092.0

Profit (loss) before taxation 2,939.6 3,369.1 (3,152.4) (4,176.7) (7,787.5)
Taxation (27.4) (51.6) (22.5) (21.4) (61.1)

Profit (loss) for the year 2,912.2 3,317.5 (3,174.9) (4,198.1) (7,848.6)

Profit (loss) attributable to
— owners of the Company 2,850.1 3,207.3 (3,024.9) (4,143.7) (7,798.4)
— non-controlling interests 62.1 110.2 (150.0) (54.4) (50.2)

2,912.2 3,317.5 (3,174.9) (4,198.1) (7,848.6)

As at 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets 56,398.6 57,625.7 52,721.5 49,906.2 52,647.7
Total liabilities (28,712.0) (28,389.6) (28,081.6) (29,501.1) (36,634.3)

Net assets 27,686.6 29,236.1 24,639.9 20,405.1 16,013.4
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In this report, unless the context states otherwise, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Adjusted EBITDA” : earnings or losses after adjustment for non-controlling interests and before 
accounting for interest income and expense, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation, donations, loss on disposal/write-off of property and 
equipment, impairment loss on property and equipment, bank charges for 
bank loans, gain/loss on modification on a bank loan, loss on derecognition 
of a bank loan, gain on early termination of lease contracts, sub-concession 
fee income and pre-opening expenses

“Adjusted EBITDA Margin” : the Adjusted EBITDA divided by total net revenue

“Adjusted Property EBITDA” : earnings or losses after adjustment for non-controlling interests and before 
accounting for interest income and expense, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation, donations, loss on disposal/write-off of property and 
equipment, impairment loss on property and equipment, bank charges for 
bank loans, gain/loss on modification on a bank loan, loss on derecognition 
of a bank loan, gain on early termination of lease contracts, sub-concession 
fee income, pre-opening expenses and corporate costs, and before 
elimination of inter-company consumption

“Administrative Cost Sharing 
Agreement”

: the agreement dated 18 June 2008 entered into between the Company 
and STDM by which STDM and/or its associates (as defined in the Listing 
Rules) and the Group have agreed to share the costs of certain 
administrative services, which was renewed on 19 June 2011 and expired on 
31 December 2013

“Board” : the board of Directors of the Company

“Champion Moments” : Champion Moments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

“Champion Path” : Champion Path Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

“Champion Power” : Champion Power Global Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

“CG Code” : Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

“Chips Agreement” : the agreement dated 18 June 2008 entered into between STDM and SJM to 
regulate the honouring, borrowing and use of the casino chips of STDM for 
the purposes of SJM’s gaming operations

“CODM” : the chief operation decision maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the reportable segments, has been 
identified as a group of senior management that makes strategic decisions

“Company” or “SJM Holdings” : SJM Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited 
liability, ordinary shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange

“Convertible Bond” : the convertible bond issued by Champion Power to STDM on 22 June 2022 
in the principal amount of HK$1,906 million at 2.0% coupon rate with 
5-year maturity

“Concession Amendment 
Contract”

: the addendum to the Gaming Concession Contract between the Macau 
Government and SJM executed on 23 June 2022 for extension of the 
Gaming Concession Contract from 26 June 2022 to 31 December 2022

“connected person(s)” : has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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“COVID-19” : Coronaviruses Disease 2019

“CT” : the Complementary Tax of the Macau SAR

“DICJ” : Direcção de Inspecção e Coordenação de Jogos, the Gaming Inspection and 
Coordination Bureau in Macau

“Director(s)” : the director(s) of the Company

“ECL” : expected credit loss

“FVTOCI” : Fair value through other comprehensive income

“Gaming Concession Contract” : the gaming concession contract for the operation of casino games dated 
28 March 2002 entered into between the Macau Government and SJM (as 
amended and supplemented by supplemental agreements between the 
same parties dated 19 April 2005, 26 September 2013, 23 January 2017, 
15 March 2019 and 23 March 2020) and as extended up to 26 June 2022 
by a concession extension contract dated 15 March 2019

“GLP Bank Loans” : secured bank loans for GLP Project

“GLP Project” : the development and operation of a casino, hotel and entertainment 
complex on a parcel of land in Cotai, Macau SAR leased by Macau SAR 
Government to SJM for 25 years starting from 15 May 2013

“Group” : the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong” or “Hong Kong 
SAR”

: the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic  
of China

“HKAS” : Hong Kong Accounting Standard

“HKFRSs” : Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

“HKICPA” : Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

“HKSE Main Board” : the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“L’Arc Entertainment” : L’Arc Entertainment Group Company Limited, a company indirectly wholly 
controlled by an executive Director

“L’Arc Services Agreement” : the agreement entered into between SJM and L’Arc Entertainment dated  
21 September 2009 and supplemented by addendums dated 27 January 2010, 
22 October 2010, 4 February 2016, 4 January 2017, 18 December 2017,  
6 May 2020 and 17 June 2022 regarding the provision of the services and 
licensing for occupation and use of the designated area in the L’Arc Hotel to 
SJM for the operation of a casino until 31 December 2022, and renewed  
on 30 December 2022 for three-year term from 1 January 2023 to  
31 December 2025

“Listing Rules” : The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

“Macau” or “Macau SAR” : the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China

“Maturity Date” : the maturity date of the Convertible Bond, being the date which falls on the 
fifth anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible Bond

“Model Code” : the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
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“MOX” : Chongwa (Macao) Financial Asset Exchange Co., Ltd.

“New Concession Contract” or  
“New Gaming Concession 
Contract”

: the gaming concession contract for the operation of casino games of 
fortune and other games of chance in casinos dated 16 December 2022 
between the Macau Government and SJM for the new concession period 
which commences from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2032

“NYH” : NYH Gestão de Vendas a Retalho Limitada, an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of STDM

“Oceanus Building” : the building in which Casino Oceanus resides

“Options” : share options which the Directors may grant to any participants of  
the Scheme

“P16 Bank Loans” : secured bank loans for Ponte 16

“Pier 16 – Property” : Ponte 16 – Desenvolvimento Predial, S.A. (in Portuguese) Pier 16 – Property 
Development Limited (in English), a 51% subsidiary of the Company

“Premises Leasing Master 
Agreement”

: the premises leasing master agreement entered into between the Company 
and Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, a Director, dated 22 November 2013 
for the leasing of properties by her and/or her associates to the Group 
effective from 1 January 2014 for a term of not later than 31 December 2016

“Premises Leasing Master 
Agreement with STDM”

: the premises leasing master agreement entered into between the Company 
and STDM dated 18 June 2008 for the leasing of properties by STDM or the 
members of the STDM Group to the Group for a term not later than  
31 March 2020, and renewed on 23 December 2019 for a term of period 
from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2022, and further renewed on 2 March 
2023 for a term of period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 

“Products and Services Master 
Agreement”

: the agreement entered into between the Company and STDM on 18 June 
2008 for the provision of products and services by STDM and/or its 
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to the Group

“Purchaser” : Harbour Tide Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands

“Renewed Master Agreement” : the products and services master agreement dated 19 June 2011 entered 
into between the Company and STDM in relation to the renewal of the 
Products and Services Master Agreement which was renewed on 6 January 
2014 and was further renewed on 26 January 2017 and 23 December 2019 
and thereafter on 2 March 2023 for a term of three years from 1 January 2023

“Renewed Premises Leasing 
Master Agreement”

: the renewed Premises Leasing Master Agreement entered into between  
the Company and Deputada Leong On Kei, Angela, a Director, dated  
14 December 2016 for three-year term from 1 January 2017 to 
31 December 2019, and further renewed on 23 December 2019 for 
three-year term from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022, and further 
renewed on 3 March 2023 for three-year term from 1 January 2023 to 
31 December 2025
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“Rights Issue” : the proposed issue by way of rights of the rights shares to the qualifying 
Shareholders on the basis of one (1) rights share for every four (4) existing 
Shares held on 29 August 2022 (the record date) at the subscription price 
HK$2.08 per rights share

“Scheme” : the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 13 May 2009 which 
has lapsed on 13 May 2019

“Seller” : Centro Comercial Jai-Alai, Limitada (in Portuguese) Jai-Alai Shopping Centre 
Company Limited (in English), a company incorporated under the laws of 
Macau and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of STDM

“SFO” : the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of  
Hong Kong

“Share(s)” : ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company

“Shareholder(s)” : holder(s) of the Share(s)

“SJM” : SJM Resorts, S.A. (in Portuguese) SJM Resorts, Limited (in English) (name 
changed from Sociedade de Jogos de Macau, S.A. on 9 June 2021), a joint 
stock company “sociedade anónima” incorporated under the laws of Macau 
and a subsidiary of the Company

“Special Complementary Tax” : the dividend tax which the shareholders are obligated to pay to Macau SAR 
Government for dividend distribution

“STDM” : Sociedade de Turismo e Diversões de Macau, S.A. (in Portuguese) Macau 
Tourism and Amusement Company Limited (in English), a joint stock 
company “sociedade anónima” incorporated under the laws of Macau, and 
a controlling Shareholder

“STDM-I” : STDM-Investments Limited, a subsidiary of STDM liquidated on  
15 August 2011

“STDM-I Surety” : a surety provided by STDM-I in favour of the Company for the due and 
punctual payment of certain obligations of the Company may incur

“STDM Group” : STDM and its associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), excluding  
the Group

“Stock Exchange” : The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Term Loan” : the unsecured term loan in the amount of HK$2 billion provided by STDM 
to the Company for a fixed period of 6 years from the date of drawdown 
with the interest rate of 4% per annum payable semiannually or such other 
rate as agreed between the Company and STDM from time to time

“the Reporting Period” : the period for the year ended 31 December 2022

“HK$” : Hong Kong dollar(s), the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“MOP” : Macau Pataca(s), the lawful currency of Macau

“US$” : United State dollar(s), the lawful currency of the United States of America

“%” : per cent.
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